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Section 1 

1 Regulatory financial reporting 
1.1 This Annex sets out further information in support of Ofcom’s key proposals for the 

new framework of regulatory financial reporting, which are set out in the Section 8 of 
this consultation document. 

1.2 In particular, the Annex sets out additional information in relation to the following 
matters:  

• The detailed reporting requirements; 

• The scope of the financial reports; 

• Regulatory reporting and disclosure 

• use of transfer pricing to give effect to the regulatory financial reporting 
concerned; 

• improving the accuracy and documentation of the costs used for regulatory 
reporting purposes in the following areas: 

o scope of national FAC product costing; 

o traffic measurement; 

o allocation of overheads; and 

o zonal costing 

 
Proposals 

1.3 The proposed financial reporting requirements are set out below.  For convenience, 
we have grouped the requirements into categories depending on which of the key 
objectives the proposed requirements are addressed by each requirement, although 
some information will inevitably be relevant to more than one of the stated objectives. 

1.4 For the purpose of monitoring financial sustainability, we propose that the following 
information should be provided. 

Table 1 

Entity Requirement Format –see Appendix 1  Frequency New Audit Publish 
Relevant 
Group 

Consolidated income statement A7.16 – Figure 1 Annual Yes Yes Publish 

 Consolidated balance sheet 
statement 

A7.16 – Figure 2 Annual Yes Yes Publish 

 Consolidated cash flow 
statement 

A7.16 – Figure 3 Annual Yes Yes Publish 

 Consolidated quarterly cash 
flow projection statement 

A7.16 – Figure 4 Quarterly & 
Annual 

Yes No No 

 Strategic Business Plan A7.16 – Figures 1-3 Annual No No No 
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1.5 To further inform our understanding of financial sustainability and inform our 
assessment of the efficiency of universal service provision, we propose that the 
following information should be provided. 

Table 2 

Entity Requirement Format – see Appendix 1  Frequency New Audit Publish 
Reported 
Business 

Annual Income statement  (to 
EBIT only) 

A7.16 – Figure 5 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual Income statement for 
USO, non-USO and non-Mails 
(to EBIT only) 

A7.16 – Figure 6 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual reconciliation of 
income statement  (to EBIT 
only) 

A7.16 – Figure 7 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual balance sheet 
statement     

A7.16 – Figure 8 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual reconciliation of 
balance sheet statement     

A7.16 – Figure 9 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual cash flow sheet 
statement     

A7.16 – Figure 10 Annual No Yes Yes 

 Annual reconciliation of cash 
flow sheet statement     

A7.16 – Figure 11 
 

Annual No Yes Yes 

 

1.6 To inform our understanding of the basis of allocation of costs and revenues, we 
propose that the following information should be provided.  

Table 3 

Entity Requirement Format – see Appendix 1  Frequency New Audit Publish 
Reported 
Business - 
Separated 

Annual Income statement - 
separated  (to EBIT only) 

A7.16 – Figure 5  Annual Yes Yes Yes 

 Quarterly Income statement - 
separated  (to EBIT only) 

A7.16 – Figure 5 Quarterly Yes No Yes 

 Quarterly reconciliation of 
income statement - separated 
(to EBIT only) 

A7.16 – Figure 5 Quarterly Yes No Yes 

 Annual balance sheet 
statement -separated    

A7.16 – Figure 8 Annual Yes Yes Yes 

 Annual cash flow sheet 
statement - separated     

A7.16 – Figure 10 Annual Yes Yes Yes 

 

1.7 We consider that the following information will enable us to monitor the relative 
profitability of different product. 

Table 4 

Entity Requirement Format – see Appendix 1  Frequency New Audit Publish 
Reported 
Business - 
Separated 

Annual product profitability 
statements 

A7.16 – Figure 12 Annual No  Yes No 
except 
access 

 Quarterly product profitability 
statements 

A7.16 – Figure 12 Quarterly No  No No 

 Monthly revenue and traffic 
information 

As currently prepared Monthly 

  
 

N
 

 Annual outputs of RM costing 
system 

As currently prepared Annual No No No 
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1.8 We will also expect to require quarterly updates of the costing and accounting 
methodology manuals, as summarised below. 

Table 5 

Entity Requirement Format – see Appendix 1  Frequency New Audit Publish 
Reported 
Business - 
Separated 

Quarterly Updates of Costing 
Manual 

A7.10 Quarterly No  No Yes 
(part) 

 Quarterly Updates of 
Accounting Methodology 
Manual 

A7.10 Quarterly Yes  No Yes 
(part) 

 

Scope of Group accounting information 

The Relevant Group 

1.9 We need to properly understand and monitor the financial sustainability of the 
provision of the universal postal service by taking into account (among other things) 
Royal Mail’s ability to borrow funds or to raise external finance in the market place, 
i.e. we need to be able to monitor the financeability of the business raising finance to 
provide the universal service, including its ability for internal cash generation from 
provision of services using the universal service network.   

1.10 We propose that the regulatory accounting obligations enabling us to carry out the 
assessment of the borrowing company’s ability to raise external finance should apply 
to information relating to RMG and all of its subsidiary and associated undertakings 
excluding POL – which is currently subject to separate funding and financing 
arrangements and is proposed to remain so, as a separate publicly-owned company 
in due course. We refer to this consolidated regulatory financial reporting entity as 
the “Relevant Group”.  
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Figure 1: definition of the Relevant Group 

 

1.11 We consider that RMG excluding POL is the appropriate regulatory financial 
reporting entity for an overall financeability assessment, considering Royal Mail’s 
corporate structure, as well as its operationally integrated business (which we 
discuss in more detail below in dealing with the proposed scope of the Reported 
Business). As discussed in Section 5, Royal Mail Holdings plc is currently the 
ultimate owner of RMG, the universal service provider, but these ownership 
arrangements are subject to change in the future and, for the purposes of putting in 
place a sustainable monitoring framework we have at this stage focused on the legal 
entity expected to retain the enduring obligations in relation to universal service 
provision.    

1.12 We consider that POL should be excluded in this regard in line with the existing 
scope of the Restructuring Plan as set out in Section 5. This is because Royal Mail’s 
Restructuring Plan envisages that, in connection with its financial restructuring 
(including the removal of historic pension liabilities), the funding and financing of POL 
would continue to be separately determined. We also note that the Government 
proposes to separate POL from RMG ownership in the first part of the period covered 
by the Restructuring Plan.  

1.13 We also note that, in its response1

                                                 
1 Royal Mail’s vision for a future regulatory approach, Delivering benefits to all, June 2011, para 287 

, Royal Mail proposed to provide to Ofcom with 
income statements to the pre-financing Earnings before Interest and Tax (“EBIT”) 
level for the universal service activities, as well as UKLPI. 
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1.14 Royal Mail agreed that the financeability assessment could only be undertaken at the 
level at which external finance could actually be raised – i.e. the corporate entity 
RMG. In relation to post-finance profit and cash flows, Royal Mail stated2

1.15 We understand that RMG would procure any services it requires from POL (to meet 
its commercial and regulatory needs, including discharging its obligations as 
universal service provider) by contract on a commercial arms’ length basis. This is 
also the reason we have not considered the financing of POL activities in our 
regulatory framework proposals (other than having regard to the relevant costs of the 
services provided by POL to RMG and vice versa for revenues). 

 that “RM 
therefore commits to provide an aggregated RM Group Ltd P&L, balance sheet and 
cash flow to the regulator. This would cover both actual results and forward-looking 
projections as part of our Strategic Business Plan”.  

Proposed accounting obligations for the Relevant Group 

1.16 In light of our views above, we propose to require Royal Mail to prepare and publish 
consolidated accounts for the Relevant Group. 

1.17 In particular, in monitoring the financial position of the universal service provider, we 
consider that it is necessary to understand both the operational and financial 
performance of the universal service network as discussed below and the cash 
generation, profitability and borrowing capability of the consolidated legal entity with 
the universal service obligation and ability to access external finance (subject at 
present to prevailing ownership arrangements). We therefore propose that Royal Mail 
should publish consolidated income statement, balance sheet, and cash flow 
statements for the Relevant Group (i.e. RMG and all its subsidiary and associated 
undertakings excluding POL).  

1.18 These consolidated accounts should be prepared in accordance with same 
standards and laws (IFRS, and the Companies Act 2006) as the statutory accounts 
of Royal Mail Holdings plc, and should be audited on the basis set out later in this 
Section. We believe that these consolidated accounts would provide us with the 
relevant historical financial information needed for that assessment. 

1.19 We also propose that the consolidated accounts of the Relevant Group should 
include necessary explanatory notes regarding long term debt and financing cost, 
and the reconciliation of the primary consolidated financial statements (income 
statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement) to both the published statutory 
accounts of Royal Mail Holdings plc and to the regulatory financial statements of the 
Reported Business, our proposals for which are set out in the following section. 

1.20 In addition, we propose that Royal Mail should also provide to Ofcom, on a 
confidential basis, the following forward looking information to enable us to more 
effectively to monitor Royal Mail’s current and future ability to finance the activities 
required to provide the universal service: 

• Updates to Royal Mail’s Strategic Business Plan on an annual basis – with 
sufficient detail to enable us, in particular, to assess the potential impact of our 
regulatory decisions on the company’s future results and finances. The specific 
requirements will be set out as part of our proposed wider regulatory reporting 
obligations.  

                                                 
2 Royal Mail’s vision for a future regulatory approach, Delivering benefits to all, June 2011, para 284 
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• Consolidated quarterly cash flow projections for the Relevant Group for the 
following two years on a rolling basis, updated every quarter of the form currently 
being used by the Royal Mail Board to assess shorter term financeability 
prospects, with the detailed regulatory reporting requirements again specified as 
discussed below. We consider that these projections would, in particular, enable 
us to assess the short-term financeability of the universal service in the context of 
the cash requirements of the company in an orderly and effective way.  This 
requirement is particularly relevant to Royal Mail’s short term financial 
challenges, as discussed in Section 5, and we will keep the need for it under 
review in the context of the expected improvement of the financial position of the 
company in the medium term. 

Scope of the Reported Business 

1.21 The activities undertaken by other corporate entities owned by RMG (such as 
General Logistics Systems B.V. (”GLS”), the European parcels and logistics 
business), and the non-Letters activities of RMG itself are not currently used to 
support the provision of universal services, and are not included in the scope of 
Royal Mail’s FAC costing system currently subject to regulatory oversight.  

1.22 Therefore, at this stage, there appears to be a limited need for additional regulatory 
reporting requirements at these levels, other than at the  Relevant Group level 
discussed above, in terms of understanding the basis of RMG’s overall financing and 
its effect on the financial sustainability of the universal service.  

1.23 We therefore propose that in other respects the scope of the regulatory financial 
reporting for the 2012-13 financial year onwards, including regulatory financial 
statements (income statement to EBIT level, and associated operating balance sheet 
and cash flow) should remain the activities undertaken by RMG’s Letters business. 
We have termed this scope of activities for regulatory financial reporting purposes the 
“Reported Business”.  

1.24 Operationally, however, the Letters business activities which provide the universal 
service are managed within a new larger organisational unit within RMG called UK 
Letters & Parcels and International (“UKLPI”). This unit was established following 
Royal Mail’s internal restructuring during 2010-11. Additionally to those universal 
service activities, UKLPI includes activities used to provide a range of unregulated 
services, including those heavy parcels services sold under the ParcelForce 
Worldwide (“PFW”) brand. UKLPI also includes a separate property subsidiary of 
RMG, Royal Mail Estates Limited (“RME”). 

1.25 In its response to the April 2011 consultation, Royal Mail stated3

1.26 In our view, such a scope is aligned with part – but not the whole - of the Letters 
business, which also included activities not related to universal service provision, but 
which are nevertheless undertaken and reported on as part of an integrated 
framework, including the published Costing Manual arising from the existing cost 
transparency arrangements. Accordingly, while we propose to have separated 
financial statements for this part of the business (which proposal is in line with Royal 
Mail’s response, as an important element of our regulatory financial reporting 

 that “the profitability 
of the universal service should be assessed by considering the revenues and costs 
of all services which make use of the USO network, taking into account all of the 
costs associated with those services”.  

                                                 
3Royal Mail’s vision for a future regulatory approach, Delivering benefits to all, June 2011, para 277 
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proposals), we consider that there is a need to define a wider scope for the Reported 
Business.  

1.27 Specifically, we consider that the scope of the Reported Business should be such 
that it enables us to discharge our statutory duties, particularly our duty in Section 29 
of the Act to carry out our functions in relation to postal services in a way we consider 
will secure the provision of a universal postal service, having regard to (among other 
things) the financial sustainability and efficient provision of this service, as well as our 
other considerations, including promoting competition where appropriate. 

1.28 In light of these duties, we propose that the scope of the Reported Business for 
financial reporting purposes for the 2012-13 financial year onwards should be the 
activities and services that have in the past been undertaken by the Letters business 
(including the downstream services sold to external customers via the Royal Mail 
Wholesale unit). The costs of these activities are recorded in a single integrated 
general ledger, and are included in the published Costing Manual which documents 
Royal Mail’s FAC costing system for regulatory purposes. 

1.29 The Initial Conditions carried over from Royal Mail’s licence require Royal Mail to 
prepare its regulatory financial statements for the integrated Letters business for 
2011-12, separately identifying the financial performance of non-Mails services as 
well as the different Mails services (defined in the Initial Conditions as universal 
services, other licensed services, access services and price controlled services). 

1.30 The scope defined above means that the Reported Business would exclude the 
activities undertaken by the following legal entities within the corporate structure 
under RMG (see Section 5): 

• Post Office Limited (‘POL) 

• Royal Mail Estates Limited (‘RME’) 

•  Royal Mail Investments Limited and its subsidiary undertaking, General Logistics 
Systems B.V. 

• other subsidiary and associated undertakings of RMG, including iRED 
Partnership Limited.  

 
1.31 Further, in the context of Royal Mail’s current organisational structure (see figure 

below), our proposed scope of the Reported Business would also exclude the 
activities undertaken by ParcelForce Worldwide (‘PFW’) within the UKLPI operating 
unit. 
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Figure 2 

 

1.32 In the following paragraphs, we expand upon our reasons for excluding RME assets 
from the scope of the Reported Business for regulatory financial reporting purposes, 
even though these assets are included in UKPLI for statutory reporting purposes.  

Properties 

1.33 As explained above, UKLPI now includes the RME subsidiary. The vast majority of 
the operational properties (the buildings operated as mail centres, Regional 
Distribution Centres (“RDCs”), delivery offices, etc.) which are used by the Letters 
business to provide the universal service and other services are owned by RME (with 
some assets being held by RMG). The FAC costing system of the Letters business 
however includes market rate rents for the use of those properties.  

1.34 These market rate rents are reflected in the audited regulatory financial statements of 
the Letters business. This structure will continue for the 2011-12 regulatory financial 
statements (due to be published by the end of July 2012) under the Initial Conditions. 

1.35 An important policy question for 2012-13 regulatory financial reporting is whether the 
scope of the assets of the Reported Business (i.e. its balance sheet) should be 
extended to include the operational RME assets used by the Reported Business.  

1.36 Most property assets required for the efficient delivery of core universal service 
activities can, in principle, be rented from the open market. However these assets are 
also currently used as collateral for wider group (RMG and Royal Mail Holdings plc) 
financing arrangements.  

1.37 These assets are significant in the context of the regulatory financial statements, in 
terms of both their net book values ([]) and market values ([]), with a 
depreciation period of around 50 years. If they were to be included on the balance 
sheet of the Reported Business, it is possible that the regulatory financial statements 
would provide a more meaningful indication of the underlying financing potential for 
the activities required to provide universal service, and allow more ready 
reconciliation between the fixed asset register in the statutory accounts and any 
regulatory asset base that may in future be used to establish an allowed rate of 
return for the Reported Business. 
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1.38 For example, following further business restructuring in future, additional material 
property assets may become available for disposal by RME and (as in 2010-11) 
make a material contribution to RMG’s wider cash financing requirements (taking 
account of its unregulated UK and non-UK operations). Such assumptions have been 
made in Royal Mail’s Restructuring Plan. 

1.39 However, as we explained above, some key elements of Ofcom’s assessment of the 
financeability of the universal service are reliant on the Relevant Group’s 
consolidated accounts to be provided by Royal Mail, which will already include RME 
as a subsidiary of RMG, and thereby all the property assets within it.  

1.40 In addition, we consider that any inclusion of RME’s property asset values in the 
scope of the Reported Business would represent a significant change in relation to 
regulatory financial reporting arrangements for 2012-13. It would, for example, have 
implications for the FAC product costing system, since the property costs currently 
represented as market rental rates in the system at present would need to be 
replaced by depreciation charges, which we estimate to be significantly lower than 
the rent costs. This would potentially raise a more immediate and wider question of 
the need for CCA depreciation policies in the regulatory financial reporting 
framework.  

1.41 In light of the above, our view is that the inclusion of RME properties within the scope 
of the Reported Business balance sheet (together with the consequent potential need 
to include CCA depreciation in the scope of the FAC product costing) would be of 
limited regulatory benefit at this stage. In particular, we consider that any benefits of 
such an inclusion are likely to be outweighed by the disruption to be caused to 
implement the change for the 2012-13 financial year, including in relation to the 
national product costing methodology documented in the Costing Manual.  

Accounting separation 

1.42 Accounting separation involves requiring Royal Mail to produce separate financial 
statements for different parts of the wider RMG legal entity, and the Reported 
Business, which should be treated differently for regulatory purposes, or that have 
different regulatory significance. 

1.43 The Act provides us with a power to require the universal service provider to maintain 
a separation for accounting purposes between such different matters as we may 
direct for such purposes as we may direct. This power includes the possibility to 
require the separation to be maintained in relation to different services, facilities or 
products or in relation to services, facilities or products provided in different areas, 
together with requirements about the accounting methods to be used in maintaining 
the separation. 

1.44 The reporting of most of the operating costs of the Reported Business for regulatory 
financial reporting purposes is currently supported by an integrated general ledger 
and product costing system. However, not all of these costs are attributed to activities 
that are currently related to the provision of a universal postal service, although 
where costs are shared, they are currently shared according to rules set out in the 
Initial Conditions.  

1.45 We therefore consider that there is a need to separate, and by doing that understand, 
the respective profitability and  cash contributions of the activities required for the 
universal postal service and the other business activities of the Reported Business. 
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1.46 Consequently, for the purpose of carrying out an effective financeability assessment 
of the provision of the universal postal service, we also consider it is necessary to 
understand how cash is spent and financed by the activities required for the universal 
postal service (as opposed to other activities and services) and how assets and costs 
which are required both for the provision of the universal postal service and for the 
provision of other services are shared between the services concerned.  

1.47 We therefore propose that Royal Mail should be required to provide separate capital 
employed statements (as components of full balance sheets) and operating cash flow 
statements, as well as separate income statements before financing, for the 
Reported Business and separated financial reporting entities within it. 

1.48 Our proposed separation of the income statement, balance sheet and cash flow 
statement, relates to items associated with the trading and operational activities of 
the Reported Business. 

1.49 As explained above, we propose to assess the financeability of the universal service 
by also having regard to the external financing position and capability of the Relevant 
Group. We therefore propose the Reported Business should only report to the EBIT 
level of profitability, and that full balance sheets (including long term liabilities and 
corporate cash balances), and full cash flow statements (including full short and long 
term financing cash flows) should only be provided at the level of the Relevant 
Group. 

1.50 On this basis, the income statements should include items to the level of EBIT – and 
should therefore include both the costs that are currently included in the FAC costing 
system and exceptional costs which are not.  

1.51 Similarly, the balance sheets should include operational fixed assets the depreciation 
costs of which are reflected and allocated in the FAC product costing system 
(excluding those RME properties the costs of which are not captured in the FAC 
product costing system, as discussed above), and working capital, while the cash 
flow statements should include trading cash flows and investment cash flows related 
to these operational fixed assets. 

1.52 We note that Royal Mail has acknowledged the need for such a form of accounting 
separation in its response to the April 2011 consultation4

1.53 Within the Reported Business, we therefore propose to require the provision of 
separated financial statements for four component entities for regulatory financial 
reporting purposes, as shown below. This will be achieved by dividing the financial 
statements of the Reported Business (income statement, balance sheet and 
operating cash flow) into four consistent components along the following lines: 

 although it did not propose 
to implement separation of all financial statements, but only the income statement, 
which we consider to be inadequate for the reasons set out above. 

• Line A, which delineates separation to be maintained for products that do not 
require the benefit of access to Royal Mail‘s integrated core universal service 
network for their provision from those that do; 

• Line B, in relation to Royal Mail’s end-to-end products that do require such a 
benefit of access to its core universal service network, which delineates 

                                                 
4 Royal Mail’s vision for a future regulatory approach, Delivering benefits to all, June 2011, paragraph 
284 
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separation to be maintained for downstream from upstream services, at the point 
of entry to the Inward Mail Centre, particularly in order to monitor whether 
downstream services provided to external customers at this point in the universal 
service network are provided on equivalent terms to the use of these services by 
Royal Mail’s retail products (including universal service products); and 

• Line C, which delineates separation to be maintained for USO retail products 
from other retail products using Royal Mail’s core universal service network, 
because the USO products are subject to specific regulatory requirements as a 
consequence of the Postal Services Act 2011 (i.e. to secure universality of 
provision, of minimum quality, at uniform and affordable prices).  

 
Figure 3: Separated accounting entities 

Line C

Line A

Upstream

Access 
operators

USO
products

Non-USO
products

End-to-end only products

Line B 

Dow
nstream

Downstream services

 
 

1.54 These proposed separations of the Reported Business for 2012-13 were set out in 
the April consultation, where the rationale and objectives for the required Lines A, B 
and C were set out in further detail5

1.55 We have reviewed the appropriateness of these proposed separations in light of our 
own other proposals in this consultation and having considered consultation 
responses received by Postcomm. Our view is that they are appropriate and we also 
agree with Postcomm’s rationale for them and their objectives, which we summarise 
below. 

.  

1.56 The separation of the activities which are not required to be part of Royal Mail‘s 
integrated core universal service network, and the products which primarily use such 
activities (Line A), would assist us to direct our regulatory measures and reporting 

                                                 
5 The building blocks for a sustainable postal service, Annex B: Cost transparency and accounting 
separation, April 2011, pages 37-41: http://www.psc.gov.uk/documents/1891.pdf 
 

http://www.psc.gov.uk/documents/1891.pdf�
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requirements more effectively on (i) the products that do require the activities 
comprised in the core universal service network, and (ii) the relevant universal 
service network activities (e.g. by helping us  direct the application of transfer pricing 
requirements in relation to Royal Mail‘s relevant retail services, having regard to the 
need for the provision of the universal service to remain efficient after a reasonable 
period). 

1.57 The purpose of the proposed split between downstream and upstream activities (Line 
B) within the core universal service network is to assist in monitoring the financial 
performance and health of the downstream business activities, the efficient conduct 
of which depend on the bulk mail volumes injected into the network by external 
customers alongside the retail volumes handled by Royal Mail.  

1.58 This will assist us in securing a financially sustainable and efficient universal service 
in the face of uncertainty over future volumes and market shares, and in monitoring 
the impact of competition, including access competition, by allowing comparison of 
the respective overall EBIT margins earned from the upstream and downstream 
activities concerned. 

1.59 The main purpose of the proposed split between universal and non-universal service 
products (Line C) is to monitor the profitability and operating financial performance of 
the respective sets of products and services with different regulatory and market 
constraints. 

1.60 The financial performance of the single piece universal service products will, in part, 
continue to be a function of regulatory requirements at the time (such as quality of 
service obligations), in markets where there is little prospect of effective competition 
in the medium term.  

1.61 Monitoring the relative financial performance of the two upstream ‘USO products’ and 
‘Non-USO products’ entities would also assist us to assess the extent to which the 
prices charged for universal service products are cost orientated, particularly in the 
absence of reliable LRIC data for regulatory purposes at this stage. 

1.62 The remaining (non-universal service) products and the specific activities associated 
with their provision, which include the dedicated RDC and transport networks used 
for bulk mail, very broadly correspond to the operations of access operators handling 
bulk mail, and hence the financial performance of this entity would be broadly 
comparable to that of other competitive operators in the market.  

1.63 In responding to the April consultation, Royal Mail did not propose any the above 
splits, or any other splits in the profitability reporting of its integrated business. 
Instead, it proposed that we should rely on the regular provision of costing 
information, supported by competition law and our information gathering powers if 
required, in the event of any specific regulatory concerns regarding particular access 
or retail products or product groups. 

1.64 However Royal Mail’s proposals were made in the context of its wider vision for the 
complete removal of all ex ante regulatory controls on universal service provision and 
access, which vary from our proposals for the new regulatory framework as we have 
set out in this consultation document.   
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Financial statements  

1.65 To give effect to the above-mentioned proposed separation, we propose that 
regulatory financial statements should be prepared by Royal Mail (in addition to those 
for the Reported Business) for each of the four component separated regulatory 
financial reporting entities within the Reported Business as follows (and as shown in 
Figure 3 above): 

• ‘USO products’;  

• ‘Non-USO products’;  

• ‘Downstream services’; and 

• ‘End-to-end only products’ 

1.66 As explained above, we propose that the above-mentioned financial statements 
should consist of (i) annual and quarterly income statements to EBIT level, (ii) annual 
balance sheets showing the operational assets and working capital, and (iii) annual 
cash flow statements showing operating cash flows. 

1.67 We also propose, as set out in the following paragraphs, product profitability splits 
within the separated accounting entities defined by the core Lines A, B and C. These 
splits are designed to assist us in assessing the relative profitability of the different 
types of products sharing the use of the core universal service network, which are 
sold in a range of different market and regulatory environments. 

Specification of Lines A and B 

1.68 Evidence, including Postcomm’s market study6

1.69 This means that access to the core universal service network for deferred B2X 
packets and parcels above 2kg is not required for effective competition, and hence 
equivalence of treatment of Royal Mail’s retail products is not a relevant regulatory 
consideration.  

, suggests that Royal Mail does not 
have market power in the retail market for deferred B2X packets and parcels above 
2kg.  

1.70 We therefore propose that packets and parcels products over 2kg fall to the right of 
Line A and need not be split by Line B. 

1.71 Similarly, there is evidence to the effect that Royal Mail does not have market power 
in the express B2X market for packets and parcels products and hence these too are 
not reliant on the core universal service network and should fall to the right of Line A. 

1.72 While Postcomm’s market study found that Royal Mail had market power in the Y2X 
market (collecting from a residence or dropping off at a collection point such as a 
Post Office), the retail Express products concerned (such as Special Delivery) are 
with one exception not part of the universal service and share specific Express 
activities, distinct from the core universal service network, due to their handling 
characteristics. 

                                                 
6 Laying the foundations for a sustainable postal service - Decision document’, November 2010: 
http://www.psc.gov.uk/documents/1162.pdf 
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1.73 We therefore propose that the costs of the relevant activities and hence the revenues 
of their supported products (with the exception of the Special Delivery product in the 
universal service) should also fall to the right of Line A. 

1.74 We therefore propose the location of Line A to be that set out in the April 
consultation. We also note that respondents to that consultation did not raise specific 
concerns with this analysis. 

1.75 We propose the location of Line B to be the entry point to the Inward Mail Centre. 
This is aligned to the focus of existing access transactions, whereby external 
customers pay Royal Mail for the downstream services of inward sortation and 
delivery, and this scope of downstream service is our proposed focus of mandated 
access for some downstream services in 2012-13, based on the proposals in this 
consultation.  

1.76 The location of Line B reflects the existing limit of where access (versus end to end) 
competition is potentially effective (and thereby meets the relevant criteria in the Act), 
and hence requires supporting regulatory financial information to enable equivalence 
to be monitored.  

1.77 We therefore propose that, in principle, Royal Mail’s retail products, which use 
downstream services which are operationally comparable to those which are also 
used in the access market, should fall to the left of Line A and be split by Line B (i.e. 
that they are transfer-priced). 

1.78 This would apply to both bulk and single piece products, and therefore include 
products in both high and low volume markets where competition is developing to 
different degrees. This would also apply to all the associated universal service 
product add-ons (e.g. recorded signed for) and standalone mails products (such as 
Keepsafe) which, as noted below, are assumed to be in the universal service in 
2012-13, subject to suitable grouping for transfer pricing purposes. 

1.79 The development of competition in the 1-2kg segment of the deferred B2X packets 
and parcels market has so far largely been from end-to-end operators, and it is too 
soon to assess how Royal Mail’s recent and potential future price changes will affect 
access and end-to-end competition in this market segment. For the 2012-13 financial 
year onwards, we therefore propose to monitor regulatory financial statements where 
Line B (and upstream/downstream split) extends to this segment. 

1.80 Neither access, nor end-to-end competition, is currently effective in the retail D+1 
Letters and Large Letters markets. Royal Mail’s priority D+1 products are core to the 
universal service, drive significant core universal service network costs, and share 
extensive downstream common costs with D+2 and later products. 

1.81 We therefore propose to include D+1 products in the reporting entity to the left of 
Line A, to be split by Line B (and hence be transfer-priced). This will help us assess 
the financeability and efficiency of the core universal service network, which enjoys 
substantial scale and scope economies, including as a result of vertical integration 
with upstream activity used by non-USO bulk products, the cost orientation of 
universal service product pricing, and the efficiency of access pricing. 

1.82 Nevertheless, the transfer pricing used for D+1 products can be relatively simple and 
high level, with low implementation costs; we consider this to be proportionate given 
the existing relative lack of competitive access activity in the markets concerned. We 
consider this issue in further detail below. 
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1.83 To implement the above proposals, transfer pricing will be required between the 
separated financial reporting entities that we propose. We set out our detailed 
proposals with respect to the transfer pricing required for this purpose later in this 
Annex. 

Specification of Line C 

1.84 The location of Line C is dependent on the scope of the universal service for the 
2012-13 financial year onwards. All the universal service products would be included 
in the ‘USO products’ accounting entity on the left side of Line C (and therefore on 
the left of Line A). 

1.85 All Royal Mail’s remaining non-USO products for which use of the core universal 
service network is efficient, having regard to the lack of sufficient end-to-end 
competition and hence downstream service provision (falling to the left of Line A), will 
be included in the ‘Non-USO products’ accounting entity to the right of Line C.  

1.86 We emphasise that the extent of Line C only relates to the upstream operations; it 
does not extend to requiring a full balance sheet and cash flow split of the 
horizontally integrated downstream operations (i.e. below Line B) which handle 
multiple products (e.g. different types of mail in the same postman’s bag).   

1.87 As per Ofcom’s Initial Conditions, we have developed these regulatory financial 
reporting proposals based on the assumption that the universal service will 
encompass the following product groups in 2012-13:    

• First class and Second class single piece mail products paid for through all 
payment channels including stamps, meters, and PPI; 

• Standard Parcels; 

• Special Delivery Next Day; 

• Recorded Signed For, as an add on to universal service products; 

• Certificate of Posting, as an add on to universal service products; 

• Non-contract Airmail and Surface Mail; 

• International Signed For as an add-on product when sold with non-contract Air 
mail and Surface Mail services; 

• Redirections, for both social and business purposes (all durations up to 12 
months and including renewals but excluding diversions and Do Not Redirect 
services); 

• Keepsafe, for both social and business purposes; 

• Poste Restante. 

1.88 With respect to the PPI mail products, Royal Mail’s current product specification 
associated with this payment channel does not meet the definition of single piece as 
per Ofcom’s Initial Conditions for the purpose of classification of universal service 
products, since it currently has certain product features which are different from those 
associated with single piece stamped and meter mail products.  
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1.89 For this reason, Royal Mail’s PPI mail products, as they are currently provided, will 
initially continue in 2011-12 not be included in the scope of the universal service as 
set out in the Initial Conditions. However, Royal Mail has indicated that it would 
expect to introduce a single piece variant of the existing PPI product set for March 
2012, which would then qualify for universal service status based on the single piece 
definition in the Initial Conditions. This product variant would then also be included on 
the left side of Line C for 2012-13 regulatory reporting purposes.  

1.90 In principle, both the revenues and costs of universal service products should fall to 
the left of Line C (and be transfer-priced at Line B). However, in practice, while the 
Special Delivery Next Day product is a universal service product and its associated 
revenues will therefore be allocated to the left of Line C, such Special Delivery 
products use dedicated network activities, mainly servicing non-USO products in 
effective end to end express markets (as discussed above). The integrated activity 
costs concerned would therefore normally be accounted for to the right of Line A in 
the ‘End-to-end only products’ entity.  

1.91 The above specification means that it would be necessary to provide for a transfer 
change across Line A to reflect the relevant costs of this specific universal service 
product in the regulatory financial reporting entity relating to the provision of the 
universal postal service, alongside the associated (external) revenues. A similar 
transfer pricing treatment would be needed for Standard Parcels in the universal 
service above 2kg for the same reasons.  

1.92 We set out our proposals as to how these transfer prices should be determined later 
in this Annex. 

Additional income statements  

1.93 The activities of the Reported Business are required for the provision of some 
unregulated non-Mails products and services (e.g. Relay and Collectibles). While 
these products and services are generally provided with specific activities which are 
distinct from Mails products, their specific costs are included in the Royal Mail’s FAC 
product costing system along with an associated allocation of overheads. 

1.94 Therefore, we consider that we require separate annual and quarterly income 
statements, to EBIT level, for such non-Mails products within the Reported Business 
taken together to (i) understand the relative profitability and contributions made to the 
overall Reported Business returns, and (ii) enable full reconciliation of the total costs 
of the Reported Business (including exceptional costs). The format for these can be 
seen in Appendix 1 to this Annex.  

1.95 We do not consider that these non-Mails products require the use of the activities of 
the ‘Downstream services’ entity for their efficient provision, because of the specific 
activities involved. For that reason, we consider that the non-Mails products fall to the 
right of Line A and within the ‘Other products’ entity. We appreciate that, as a 
consequence, our proposal would result in a split within that accounting entity. 

1.96 The accounting separation by Lines A, B and C would not, by itself, enable us to 
understand the overall profitability of the universal service products taken together. 
This is because many of the relevant costs of the ‘Downstream services’ accounting 
entity (e.g. the remuneration of postmen engaged in the “final mile delivery”) are 
common between single piece universal service mail and bulk mail. 
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1.97 Annual and quarterly income statements to EBIT level for the universal service 
products would, however, provide a cross-check on the outcome of the regulation of 
access and the universal service, when taken together. 

1.98 We therefore propose that the income statement of the Reported Business should be 
separated to EBIT level, end-to-end, between universal service and non-universal 
service products. 

1.99 In addition to an income statement for the universal service, Postcomm also 
proposed an income statement for Royal Mail’s access products in the April 
consultation. This would allow the exceptional costs not included in the regulated 
FAC costing system to be split for reporting purposes between these access 
products and Royal Mail’s other products accounted for in the Reported Business. 

1.100 However, our transfer pricing proposals for 2012-13 regulatory financial reporting 
enable us to ensure equivalence in the pricing as between access and Royal Mail’s 
retail bulk and single piece products. Accordingly, we consider that a full income 
statement for access products will be unnecessary to monitor equivalence, if we 
adopt our proposed cost-reflective transfer pricing. 

1.101 We therefore propose that annual and quarterly product profitability statements 
(including only FAC costs, with no allocation of exceptional costs) should be 
prepared for access products, because we consider their scope would be sufficient to 
assist us to understand the relative contribution made by access products to the 
profitability and financeability of the ‘Downstream services’ regulatory financial 
reporting entity and to the Reported Business as a whole. 

Reporting of product profitability 

1.102 Royal Mail currently reports the profitability of specified product groups to the 
regulator on a confidential basis, but is also required to publish some specific product 
profitability information. In 2011-12, the regulatory requirement for confidential 
product profitability reporting was extended as condition of partially relaxing price 
controls. 

1.103 We propose to extend this principle for the 2012-13 financial year onwards to a wider 
range of products, including universal service and access products, particularly given 
our proposal to substantially remove price controls from such products, and our wider 
reliance on monitoring to meet our regulatory duties.  

1.104 For example, our monitoring proposals will help us to protect universal service users 
from having to bear any additional costs that may arise as a result of possible 
potential anti-competitive behaviour by the use of Royal Mail’s power in other 
markets that share the resources used for the universal service. 

1.105 Our proposed product profitability statements are defined in accordance with the 
market definitions in Postcomm’s market study.  

1.106 We expect these product profitability statements to be readily generated by Royal 
Mail by simply matching the relevant product revenues to the relevant quarterly 
outputs of its FAC product costing system. These statements do not go to the level of 
EBIT and stop short of any exceptional items which are outside the scope of the FAC 
product costing. 
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1.107 The proposed profit profitability information for the 2012-13 financial year onwards, 
along with the associated regulatory purposes, is set out in the Table 6 below. 

1.108 For statements 1-14 in that Table, the affected products are provided in markets 
where there is a range of evidence that Royal Mail has varying degrees of market 
power, with differing degrees and extents of competitive activity. 

1.109 The disaggregated profitability information provided by these statements would 
enable us to monitor the relative extent to which the different sets of products 
concerned are contributing to the costs of the activities within the Reported Business 
required for the provision of the universal service. This information would also assist 
us to monitor evolving market conditions and understand how we may discharge our 
duties in relation to the provision of the universal service and the promotion of 
effective end-to-end and access competition where appropriate. 

1.110 Royal Mail has emphasised to us its view that market conditions are continuing to 
change rapidly, and this monitoring information will enable us to understand better 
the consequences of such evolution in relation to our regulatory duties. 

1.111 As set out in this consultation (see Section 6), we are proposing different ex ante 
safeguards for different universal service products and payment channels in 2012-13. 
The proposed product profitability statements 15-19 of Table 6 below would enable 
us to monitor the relative effects of these safeguards on the financial sustainability of 
the universal postal service, and the relative cost orientation of the pricing of 
universal service products in different markets. 

1.112 Except for the access product profitability analysis (already published as part of the 
regulatory accounts), we propose that all product profitability information, set out in 
Table 6 below, should be provided to Ofcom on a confidential basis. The reason for 
confidentiality is that disclosure could inhibit the level playing field required for 
effective competition, given that a range of the relevant markets served by the 
products concerned are increasingly competitive and such detailed profitability 
information is typically commercially confidential. We further propose that these 
product profitability statements should be provided to us (along with the associated 
and supporting confidential details of Royal Mail’s costing and regulatory accounting 
methodologies) on an unaudited quarterly basis in 2012-13, but with full year 
statements then audited and reconciled to the main income statements for the 
Reported Business discussed above, which would be published. 

Table 6: Product profitability statements 

No Statement Reporting entities affected 

 
1 Access products (all revenue derived 

from external customers)  
‘Downstream services' entity 

2 Pre-sorted D+1 Letters and Large Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

3 Pre-sorted D+2 and later Letters and 
Large Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities  

4 High volume D+1 unsorted Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

5 High volume D+1 unsorted Large Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

6 High volume unsorted D+2 and later 
Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

7 High volume unsorted D+2 and later ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
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No Statement Reporting entities affected 

 
Large Letters services’ entities 

8 Low volume unsorted non-USO Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

9 Low volume unsorted non-USO Large 
Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

10 Non-USO B2X Express PPS ‘End-to-end only products’ entity 
11 Non-USO B2X Deferred Heavy (>2kg) 

PPS 
‘End-to-end only products’ entity 

12 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (1kg - 2kg) 
PPS 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

13 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (500g – 
1kg)  

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

14 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (0-500g) ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

15 USO single piece priority products sold 
via stamps payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

16 USO single piece non-priority products 
sold via stamps payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

17 USO single piece priority products sold 
via Meter payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

18 USO single piece non-priority products 
sold via Meter payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

19 Other USO services not included above 
(e.g. redirections) 

‘USO products’ upstream and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities 

 
1.113 There are currently further regulatory requirements for (unaudited) product 

profitability reporting as part of the published annual regulatory financial statements, 
which were previously imposed by virtue of separate Postcomm regulatory decisions, 
namely for: 

• Relay (formerly Branch Direct and Parts Express); 

• International Contract Bulk; and 

• Postcode Address File (PAF). 

 
1.114 Relay was exempted from Condition 7 (in December 2007 and April 2008 for Branch 

Direct and Parts Express respectively), but on the condition that Royal Mail provided 
(and published) separate accounts for these services from the start of the 2008-09 
financial year. The International Contract Bulk exemption Direction issued in 
December 2007 was on a similar basis.  

1.115 These directions have been carried over to Ofcom’s Initial Conditions in relation to 
Condition 7 and hence they apply to the 2011-12 regulatory financial statements. 

1.116 The requirement for PAF profitability disclosure was linked to the profit target 
imposed by Postcomm’s decision in 2007 on the regulatory framework for PAF under 
Condition 22 of Royal Mail’s licence. 

1.117 We have no information suggesting that the circumstances under which the separate 
product profitability reporting requirement for Relay have changed in the interim to 
remove it the 2012-13 financial year onwards. We therefore propose that Royal Mail 
should continue to prepare and publish product profitability statements for Relay.  
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1.118 However, the same is not true of the International Contract Bulk products, because 
our market study evidence indicates that Royal Mail does not have power in that 
market. We therefore propose not to continue this requirement for 2012-13. 

1.119 With regard to PAF, at this stage we have no information suggesting that there is not 
a continuing need to monitor profitability and disclose it to external stakeholder in 
2012-13. We therefore propose that Royal Mail should continue to prepare and 
publish product profitability statements for PAF.  

1.120 We propose the Relay and PAF statements should also be prepared and published 
on a quarterly (unaudited) basis as well as annually (audited). 

1.121 The above three product profitability statements all are subdivisions of the total 
product profitability of the ‘End to end only products’ entity, similar to the proposed 
statements 10-11 in Table 6 above. 

Impact of proposals on current accounting separation  

1.122 The current requirements for separated financial reporting in Ofcom’s Initial 
Conditions (following on from Condition 15 of Royal Mail’s licence), which affect the 
scope of the 2011-12 regulatory financial statements, would be superseded by the 
above proposed requirements for 2012-13. 

1.123 Table 7 below summarises the impact of our proposals on the existing reporting 
requirements:  

Table 7: Impact on existing accounting separation requirements 

   
No. 

Existing requirement Needed in 
2012-13: 
Yes/No 

How met in 2012-13 Reason for 
redundancy 

1 USO products  
 

Yes Specific requirement for 
income statement 

N/A  

2 Price controlled vs non-price 
controlled products 

Yes Depending on final 
scope of price control 
decided upon, 
potentially met by 
above proposals for 
product profitability 
statements 

N/A 
 

3 Licensed vs non-licensed 
products 

No N/A Not relevant under PSA 
2011 authorisation 
regime 

4 Split of non-USO products into 
price controlled vs non-price 
controlled 

No N/A Not relevant under PSA 
2011 except for access  

5 Split of non-USO price 
controlled products into 
downstream access, other 
licensed and other non-
licensed products  
 

Yes – 
Access 

 
No – Other 

splits 

Specific requirements 
for product profitability 
split for access 
products 
 
Licensed/non-licensed 
split redundant under 
PSA 2011.  

Not relevant under PSA 
2011 authorisation 
regime 

6 Non-mail activities undertaken 
within the Reported Business 

Yes Shown separately, 
mainly for reconciliation 
purposes 

N/A 
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Transfer pricing 

1.124 Transfer pricing is needed in accounting separation, where one separated accounting 
entity provides services to other separated accounting entities. Transfer prices reflect 
the value of such services and may include a profit element, which we refer to as a 
“mark-up” in this Annex.  

1.125 In light of our proposals in Section 8, transfer pricing will be required in relation to the 
transactions between the Reported Business and the rest of the Relevant Group. 
Transfer pricing is also needed where one separated regulatory financial reporting 
entity within the Reported Business provides services to another.  

1.126 In particular, we envisage the need for transfer prices across Line A within the 
Reported Business where certain universal service products (located in the upstream 
‘USO products’ financial reporting entity) use the services which are provided by the 
operations and activities the costs of which are located in the ‘End-to-end only 
products’ entity. 

1.127 Our proposed accounting separation by Line B also requires transfer pricing to 
identify separate revenues attributable to the ‘Downstream services’ entity which 
inward processing and delivery services to the upstream entities: ‘USO products’ and 
‘Non-USO products’ entities as well as to external customers.  

Principles of transfer pricing 

1.128 Postcomm set out its proposed principles of transfer pricing in its April Consultation7

a) Equivalence pricing - Use of available open market or regulated prices of 
externally provided products and services as the basis of transfer prices, where 
appropriate comparable products and services exist (applying necessary 
equivalence adjustments for cost differences);  

 
as follows:  

b) Cost-plus pricing - where no comparable open market or regulated products 
exist but where a transfer price is still needed for regulatory financial reporting 
purposes, use of product FAC estimates plus an appropriate mark-up to 
represent other relevant costs;  

c) Grouping of products – Assigning a single transfer price to a group of products 
instead of individual product pricing, providing the grouping meets the regulator‘s 
information requirements, in particular for universal service and access 
regulation. 

1.129 Postcomm also set out a number of more detailed proposals on how the above 
principles should be applied in the context of its proposed regulatory financial 
reporting framework for 2012-138

1.130 After considering the consultation responses to these proposals, which did not raise 
any material issues with principles concerned, and carrying our further analyses on 
transfer pricing (including further transfer pricing modelling for 2009-10 and 2010-11 

.  

                                                 
7 The building blocks for a sustainable postal service, Annex B: Cost transparency and accounting 
separation, April 2011, paragraphs 5.8 to 5.46  
8 The building blocks for a sustainable postal service, Annex B: Cost transparency and accounting 
separation, April 2011, paragraphs 5.47 to 5.101 
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financial years), we are proposing to follow these proposals for the 2012-13 
regulatory financial reporting framework.  

1.131 We agree with Postcomm that these principles are necessary to ensure that transfer 
pricing is undertaken in a robust, objective and accurate fashion for regulatory 
financial reporting purposes. It is also our view that the proposed transfer pricing 
approach is practicable, and strikes a balance between detail and accuracy, on the 
one hand, and practicability, on the other hand.  

1.132 In addition, to provide further guidance and clarity over how the proposed approach, 
and in particular the principle of equivalence should be applied, we have further 
developed the specific proposals, as summarised below, and set out in the draft 
content of the RAG (see the Appendix).  

Principle of equivalence 

1.133 The application of the principle of equivalence would require available open market 
or regulated prices of externally provided products and services (where appropriate 
comparable products and services exist) to be used as the basis of transfer prices.  

1.134 The main objective of the principle is to understand on a consistent basis the relative 
profitability and cost orientation of the Royal Mail products, including universal 
service products in the respective wholesale and retail markets, and hence if need be 
help to prevent anti-competitive behaviour and promote effective competition.  

1.135 An ancillary benefit is that the application of the principle of equivalence would assist 
in ensuring transparency as to whether the transfer prices are non-discriminatory 
between Royal Mail‘s internal use of these services and the use of comparable 
services using the same activities by external customers (e.g. between Royal Mail’s 
upstream operations and access operators and other customers who all use Royal 
Mail’s downstream services).  

1.136 The profit margin inherent in external prices is shaped by the commercial, and, if 
applicable, the regulatory factors in the market. If transfer prices are set based on the 
external prices of equivalent products, then those transfer prices will incorporate the 
relevant margin built into the external price, thereby avoiding the need to determine a 
separate margin as a matter of regulatory judgement.  

1.137 In this way, the principle of equivalence seeks to ensure that transfer prices reflect 
the effect of the relevant commercial and regulatory environment in the same way as 
the corresponding external prices.  

1.138 In reality, however, there may not be a perfect match between Royal Mail‘s services 
provided internally and those services which it sells in the external market. There are 
likely to be some operational differences and therefore cost differences arising from 
those operational differences. 

1.139 For example, in the case of downstream services, there may be differences related to 
sortation and revenue protection processes as between Royal Mail’s retail products 
using the downstream services and wholesale products sold to external customers. 
This means that while – as discussed below - there are many retail products for 
which the downstream services provided to Royal Mail‘s retail activities are broadly 
comparable with some wholesale products provided to the external market, these 
comparisons may not, and often do not, constitute perfectly equivalent matches in 
costing terms.  
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1.140 Therefore, we cannot simply equate the transfer price to the comparable external 
price without considering the need for suitable adjustments for the cost differences 
corresponding to the operational differences concerned. We therefore propose that 
equivalence pricing should aim to base the transfer prices on the comparable 
external prices, but also to include appropriate adjustments to take account of the 
relevant cost differences.  

1.141 For example, to achieve this outcome in relation to the transfer pricing of downstream 
services, we propose the following approach:  

a) a comparable reference wholesale product sold externally should be identified for 
each internal downstream transfer price to be derived; 

b) the operational differences between (i) the downstream services which are the 
subject of transfer pricing, and (ii) the comparable reference wholesale product 
should be identified, and the fully allocated costs of such differences identified in 
manner consistent with Royal Mail‘s FAC product costing methodology used for 
regulatory financial reporting purposes more generally; and  

c) in addition to the above fully allocated costs of the differences concerned 
identified from Royal Mail’s costing system, the transfer price should also take 
into account an appropriate mark-up in relation to other relevant cost differences.  

1.142 As explained in Postcomm’s April 2011 consultation9

1.143 As noted above, to provide further guidance and clarity over the application of this 
principle of equivalence, we have developed further proposals for its application for 
regulatory financial reporting purposes from 2012-13, which we set out in the 
following below.  

, this equivalence pricing 
approach should result in transfer prices which are largely based on the prices of 
comparable externally marketed products with adjustments which are small relative 
to the total relevant costs of the products and the resulting transfer prices. 

The mark-up 

1.144 To derive an appropriate mark-up for transfer pricing purposes, an appropriate 
measure of return should be applied to FAC product costs as part of the total relevant 
costs of providing the services concerned.  

1.145 The mark-up should, in principle, compensate Royal Mail for the relevant costs not 
reflected in the FAC product costing system, including compensation for the risk of 
undertaking the activities concerned, with appropriate weight given to financeability 
and efficiency considerations. 

1.146 In its April 2011 consultation, Postcomm considered10

a) using a single mark-up for all transfer prices; or  

 two basic options for the 
application of such a mark-up:  

b) using differentiated mark-up values for different services and groups of products.  

                                                 
9 The building blocks for a sustainable postal service, Annex B: Cost transparency and accounting 
separation, April 2011, paragraphs 5.47 to 5.60 
10 The building blocks for a sustainable postal service, Annex B: Cost transparency and accounting 
separation, April 2011, paragraphs 5.22 to 5.29 
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1.147 It was Postcomm’s view that the benefits of using differentiated returns could be 
limited in the context of an integrated core universal service network required for the 
efficient provision of the universal service, that is likely to remain quite labour-
intensive in the medium term, and that these benefits are outweighed by the costs 
(including regulatory failure risks) of deriving and applying them. The respondents to 
the consultation did not raise any objections to this view, and we have seen no 
evidence that invalidates it. We therefore propose to use a single mark-up for all 
transfer pricing for regulatory financial reporting in 2012-13. 

1.148 We consider that an initial estimate for the mark-up should be made by combining at 
least the following elements (excluding any premiums):  

a) Exceptional costs not included in the FAC product costs, which as per Royal 
Mail’s 2010-11 regulatory accounts, were around 3% of total FAC costs.  

b) The profit margin over the sum of FAC and exceptional operating costs which, as 
per our financeability proposals (see Section 5), should be in the range of 5-10% 
for the Reported Business as a whole.  

1.149 This would mean a mark-up in the range of 8-13%, with a mid-point of around 10%. 

Transfer charges between the Reported Business and the rest of Royal Mail 
Group Limited 

1.150 Transfer charges may be required between the Reported Business and the other 
corporate entities owned by Royal Mail Group Limited (‘RMG’) (such as RME and 
POL), or other units of RMG itself (such as the rest of UKLPI including PFW). 

1.151 A typical example of such transfer charges is the charges made by RME to the 
Reported Business for the use of operational properties owned by RME, and by POL 
for the use of POL facilities.  

1.152 Another example is the charges made by RMG to the Reported Business for 
corporate services. These charges are captured in the FAC product costing system 
and hence already form part of the existing and proposed framework of regulatory 
financial reporting for the Reported Business. However, there are also other transfer 
charges (including exceptional charges), which may not be captured within the FAC 
costs, which will be required under our regulatory financial reporting proposals for 
2012-13.  

1.153 We propose that all of such transfer charges should be defined and set on an arm’s 
length basis, and be calculated based on the following approach: 

• If a comparable product or service provided is also provided to customers of 
RMG, the transfer price should be equivalent to the prices charged to those 
external customers.  

• If the product or service used by the Reported Business is also provided by third 
parties on the open market, the price paid by the Reported Business should be in 
line with the price offered by such third parties for a similar product or service. 

• If the product or service concerned is not provided in the open market, i.e. it is not 
provided or offered by any third party, then the transfer price shall be cost 
reflective, including an appropriate mark-up on FAC (defined with the same 
scope of costs as defined for the Reported Business). 
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Transfer pricing across Line A 

1.154 We also envisage the need for transfer prices across Line A within the Reported 
Business, where certain universal service products (located in the upstream ‘USO 
products’ entity) use activities which are mainly undertaken as part of network 
operations the attributable costs of which are identified to the ‘End to end only 
products’ entity.  

1.155 For example, in the case of Special Delivery, the related operations and costs are 
located in ‘End to end only products’, while some Special Delivery stamp and meter 
products are in the universal service, the revenues of which are identified to the 
upstream ‘USO products’ entity.  

1.156 We propose that these transfer prices should be determined by applying our 
proposed cost-plus pricing principle. This means that the FAC costs of the products 
in question, derived in Royal Mail’s costing system, plus the mark-up used for 
transfer pricing, should be used to derive the transfer price. 

Transfer prices for First Class retail products 

1.157 Our proposed accounting separation Line B cuts across many of Royal Mail’s retail 
products, including First Class retail products in the D+1 markets11

1.158 As explained above, the transfer price should be based on available open market or 
regulated prices of externally provided products and services, applying necessary 
equivalence adjustments for relevant cost differences. 

. Therefore, a 
transfer price needs to be calculated for these products at the point of separation, i.e. 
a transfer price for the services provided by the downstream regulatory financial 
reporting entity to the upstream regulatory financial reporting entities entailed in 
undertaking the delivery and inward processing services concerned for the relevant 
Royal Mail retail products.  

1.159 The application of such an equivalence principle for First Class retail products 
presents us with two options for the comparable access products to use for transfer 
pricing purposes: 

a) Second Class (standard) access products which are broadly similar in operational 
terms, with comparable downstream activity costs (i.e. First and Second Class 
letters both use similar downstream activities such as inward sortation and indoor 
and outdoor delivery); or 

b) similar First Class (premium) access products.     

 
1.160 We have explored the potential implications of using the above two options using the 

product costing data and the regulatory accounts for the 2010-11 financial year. Our 
analysis shows that the total profitability of the ‘USO products’ and ‘Downstream 
services’ entities taken together would have been £50-100m lower if equivalence with 
standard access prices were to be applied than if equivalence with premium standard 
access prices were to be applied (although the profitability of the Reported Business 
is of course unaffected).  

                                                 
11 These products include single piece stamp and meter  First Class letters which are USO products 
and fall into the ‘USO products’ entity to the left of Line C as well as the bulk products to the right of 
line C. 
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1.161 This is because the premium access basis moves revenue and hence operating 
profit to the ‘Downstream services’ entity from ‘USO products’ and ‘Non-USO 
products’ upstream entities as the premium access prices are considerably higher 
than standard access prices, even when relevant cost differences between the 
downstream activities concerned are taken into account. 

1.162 The impacts will change in 2012-13 and other financial years. On the one hand, the 
underlying FAC costs are subject to change, both as a result of business cost and 
volume changes, and as a result of further costing methodology changes 
implemented by Royal Mail in 2011-12, which will result in the methodology being 
brought into compliance with the regulatory methodological principles established by 
Postcomm for 2011-12 regulatory financial reporting purposes.  

1.163 On the other hand, the relevant external prices are expected to change significantly 
in relative and absolute terms in 2011-12 and, potentially, 2012-13, including access 
prices increasing by over 15% in 2011-12. However, and notwithstanding these 
future changes, the choice of an option from 2012-13 is, in principle, adequately 
informed by the illustrative 2010-11 analyses discussed above.  

1.164 It should be noted that most of the relevant downstream FAC costs are fixed and 
common as between Royal Mail’s delivery of its retail (single piece and bulk) 
products in the D+1 and D+2 and later markets. The reason is that what occurs 
operationally in inward processing and delivery services is almost identical for First 
and Second Class products: the downstream operation is an integrated set of 
processes.  

1.165 We propose that standard access should be used as the initial transfer pricing basis 
for 2012-13 regulatory financial reporting for the following reasons:  

• A significant proportion of the downstream FAC costs to be reflected in these 
transfer prices are fixed and common between the delivery of retail (single piece 
and bulk) products in the D+1 and D+2 and later markets, because the related 
downstream activities are nearly identical.  

• In principle, any premium charged for the same downstream services could have 
regard to relative willingness of the different users to pay for the services 
concerned. However, in practice, the existing premium access products are little 
used at existing price levels12

• While retail price differentials could, in principle, be used as a proxy for 
downstream transfer price differentials, the price relativities between retail 
products in the D+1 and D+2 and later markets have historically themselves been 
subject to ex ante regulation (including sub-caps on product price changes), via 
an existing framework which has not been fundamentally reviewed since 2005, 
which will be substantially removed in 2012-13 under the proposals set out in 

, so that these external access prices may not 
accurately indicate relative willingness to pay for the downstream services 
concerned. In contrast, the standard second class access products are well-
established in the market with significant volumes (over 7bn items in 2010-11). In 
the absence of more robust market evidence, the more cost orientated standard 
access basis could be argued to be more objective and transparent a basis for 
applying the equivalence principle, at least in the near future.  

                                                 
12 The premium access service volumes have in the past been very small: less than 1% of the total 
access volume in 2009-10, although the product portfolio, and its use, was then expanded somewhat 
in 2010-11.  
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section in the main consultation document13

National product costing 

. Furthermore, to the extent that 
existing relative regulated retail prices reflect relative willingness to pay for First 
as opposed to Second Class products, they also reflect significant differences in 
upstream costs (e.g. air network costs). These underlying net value differences 
cannot therefore currently be fully identified without subjective assumptions. 

1.166 Royal Mail’s FAC costing system is the key information source for the costs 
underpinning its audited statutory and regulatory accounts. Royal Mail stated in its 
response to the April consultation14

1.167 Accordingly, the proposals in the April consultation proposals were mainly of an 
evolutionary nature. Our finalised proposals build on those proposals for changes to 
support regulatory financial reporting for 2012-13 onwards. 

 that a robust costing system which the regulator 
considers to be fit for purpose “is critical for building confidence with stakeholders 
and RM is committed to continuing to maintain and enhance the progress made in 
this area” as part of its vision for a new regulatory framework in 2012. Similarly, other 
stakeholders have also underlined the importance of regulatory assurance over costs 
as a key safeguard.  

1.168 There is one particularly important change as compared to the previous licensing 
regime which arises from the new statutory scheme in the Act: The previous licence 
regime provided for Postcomm to approve material but compliant changes to Royal 
Mail’s costing methodology without public consultation.  

1.169 A number of these material costing methodology changes can be made in the course 
of Royal Mail’s business development within a financial year (e.g. arising from new or 
changed activities and products) – historically around one a month. The regulatory 
process was designed not to hinder Royal Mail’s business reporting cycle, which is 
dependent on the finalised costing system for each quarter. 

1.170 However, under the new statutory scheme in the Act, the continuation of this prior 
regulatory approval of compliant material changes would become unnecessarily 
onerous, because such approvals are subject to prior public consultation, something 
which in turn would risk undue delays to business changes. We are therefore 
proposing to retain the prior notification requirement only for material costing 
methodology changes. 

1.171 Further, the reporting framework under the previous licensing regime included both 
Guiding and Methodological Principles for product costing, with the former requiring a 
full licence change process to amend them. Under the new statutory scheme in the 
Act, this distinction is of lesser importance because similar processes would apply to 
change the regulatory condition and any subsidiary instrument given under the 
condition. Nevertheless we propose to carry it over into the proposed regulatory 
financial reporting framework for 2012-13 onwards.  

1.172 We explain in Section 9, how we propose the current Guiding and Methodological 
Principles of the national product costing should be reflected in the legal structure of 
the new regulatory financial reporting requirements.  

                                                 
 
14 Royal Mail’s vision for a future regulatory approach, Delivering benefits to all, June 2011, paragraph 
295 
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Documentation and scope of national FAC product costing 

1.173 Royal Mail produces a Costing Manual, which it updates on a quarterly basis, which 
documents its national FAC product costing methodology. Subject to some detailed 
ongoing improvements in the accuracy of documentation, which Royal Mail has 
indicated it hopes to complete for the Quarter 2 version of the 2011-12 Costing 
Manual, and the completion of its remaining Undertakings to ensure the costing 
methodology is compliant with the costing principles set out in the Initial Conditions, 
we note that the current national FAC costing methodology achieves the level of cost 
transparency that is currently required for regulatory purposes.  

1.174 We will however review the detailed formats of the data currently provided to us in 
the Costing Manual and will include in a finalised version of the RAG any amended 
requirements to support our wider regulatory proposals for the 2012 framework.  

1.175 As well as providing detailed confidential data to Ofcom, Royal Mail also publishes a 
non-confidential version of its Costing Manual, which sets out a summary of its 
current national FAC product costing methodology and we would be interested in 
stakeholder views as to the usefulness of the current format and the information 
provided in it in the line with the intended purpose of the published version set out by 
Postcomm in its February 2011 decision.   

1.176 In its May 2010 consultation, Postcomm noted that, while Royal Mail’s national FAC 
product costing methodology used for the regulatory reporting of its Letters business 
captured operating costs, including historic cost depreciation, interest and ongoing 
pension contribution costs, it did not capture other potentially significant elements of 
relevant costs for regulatory purposes.  These candidate elements of relevant costs 
included: 

• current cost accounting (CCA) depreciation – versus the historical cost 
accounting (HCA) depreciation currently included in the FAC product costs; 

• return on capital employed – above the limited financing costs currently included 
in FAC product costs; and 

• pension cash costs (above the accrued costs of ongoing contributions currently 
included in FAC product costs).  

1.177 Postcomm had previously considered all of these cost elements as potentially 
relevant in setting ex ante regulatory remedies (such as price caps and headroom 
controls) but had used estimates for the necessary information from outside the FAC 
product costing system – the system that is now subject to regulatory oversight. 

1.178 In Postcomm’s April Consultation, it was not proposed to extend the scope of the 
FAC product costing system to support regulatory financial reporting in 2012-13 to 
include the candidate relevant costs set out above. 

1.179 There were no responses to Postcomm’s April proposal that specifically addressed 
this proposal to leave unaltered the existing scope of the current FAC product costing 
system, and not to include the other candidate relevant costs. 

1.180 We consider that the proposal by Postcomm in April continues to be the most 
appropriate approach, bearing in mind the following considerations: 
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• In common with most other universal postal service providers, Royal Mail does 
not use CCA accounting for other regulatory financial reporting purposes.  

• The business continues to undergo significant modernisation in the relatively near 
future such that, for example, the historic differences that might have been 
observed between HCA and CCA depreciation for some processing equipment 
may be expected to continue to narrow.  

• The Government has announced plans to address the historic pension deficit by 
2012-13, which if implemented would reduce the need to identify differences 
between cash and accounting pension costs to different parts of Royal Mail for 
regulatory financial reporting purposes.  

• Such potentially wide ranging changes to a complex product costing system, at 
relatively short notice, may cause unnecessary disruption to the regulatory 
financial reporting framework in the near term, and unnecessarily complicate the 
understanding of track record information (e.g. as between 2011-12 and 2012-13, 
in the near term period). 

1.181 We therefore propose to retain the existing scope of the FAC product costing for 
regulatory financial reporting from 2012-13, and continue to use other mechanisms 
(including the proposed scope of the regulatory financial statements set out above) to 
take account of all other relevant costs where necessary. This approach, however, 
reinforces the need for Royal Mail to provide the complementary accounting 
information on relevant revenues, cash flows, assets and liabilities associated with 
the FAC product costs concerned which we have proposed for the 2012-13 
regulatory financial reporting framework.  

1.182 This complementary approach will allow us to monitor the effect of other elements of 
relevant costs on product costing and the cost orientation of universal service 
products, in addition to monitoring the efficiency and contribution to universal service 
financeability of the Reported Business, and the financeability of the Relevant Group.  

Traffic measurement 

1.183 The volumes of mail items which are handled by the activities of the Reported 
Business are necessary input data for Royal Mail’s FAC product costing 
methodology, which derives the costs of products produced with those activities.  
However, whilst the volumes of most mail can be measured with reasonable 
accuracy, the volumes of certain stamped and Meter items are difficult to measure 
precisely and had, prior to 2010-11 been estimated for regulatory financial reporting 
purposes by using one of two methods: 

i) Revenue-derived method: estimated mail volume is derived by dividing the total 
revenue collected for the product in question by the average unit price of that 
item, which is derived through a sampling exercise. 

ii) Operational method: volume is derived by estimating the number of containers 
(e.g. trays and bags) of the item of mail in question and multiplying that by the 
average fill or a ‘full’ container (or a ‘partially full’ container). 

1.184 The two methods can give rise to significant differences in the estimated unit costs of 
the measured mail items using Royal Mail’s FAC product costing system.  Royal 
Mail’s revenue-derived volume estimates have tended to be lower than its 
operational estimates for the same items of mail.   
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1.185 In 2009-10, the revenue-derived volumes were around 10 to 15% lower for stamped 
and metered mail.  We estimate that – using 2009-10 data – the unit costs of Stamp 
and Meter mail items (of all formats) calculated based on the operational volumes 
were as a result lower than the same unit costs calculated using the revenue-derived 
volumes. As we explain below, in 2010-11 Royal Mail reported only the revenue-
derived traffic figures in its regulatory reporting for the year. 

1.186 Both the revenue-derived and the operational method have recognised weaknesses.  
In summary, they are:  

• The revenue-derived method volumes are, at least partly, lower, due to 
inaccuracies in the estimates of revenue protection losses. 

• The operational method tends to overstate actual volumes due to systematic and 
sampling errors in the physical container counting process and the assumptions 
made about the average fill or partial fill of containers, which may not be valid. 

• The revenue-derived method is dependent upon the accuracy of the format and 
weight step distribution assumed for each product, which is based on sampling 
and therefore subject to sampling error. In the past, Royal Mail’s auditors 
considered these errors to be too material to enable the audited regulatory 
accounts to be based on the revenue-derived method. 

1.187 When considering its cost transparency proposals for 2011-12, Postcomm 
considered that the future use of a single method of traffic measurement would have 
the important benefit of achieving consistency in the product costing used for 
regulatory purposes.   

1.188 However, we understand that Postcomm wished to gain a better understanding of the 
issues which were still preventing the adoption by Royal Mail of such a single basis 
(including the concerns express by Royal Mail’s auditors with the revenue derived 
method), and pending this it allowed Royal Mail (via the costing Methodological 
Principle 14 ‘Traffic Measurement’) to continue to use both methods for regulatory 
financial reporting in 2011-12 as an interim measure. 

1.189 In Postcomm’s April Consultation it was proposed that Royal Mail should adopt a 
single method of traffic volume measurement for regulatory financial reporting 
purposes for the 2012-13 year, with this method to be reflected in a change to the 
‘Traffic Measurement’ costing rule.   

1.190 Overall, in choosing between the two available alternatives for such a single basis, it 
considered that the revenue-derived method was more likely to present a truer 
reflection of the underlying product volumes than the operational method for this 
purpose. 

1.191 One operator provided a response to the Postcomm April Consultation on this issue - 
expressing itself “astounded that such a crucial underpinning as traffic volume is still 
subject to two such different assessment measures that the volumes derived can be 
10% different.” 

1.192 Royal Mail did not respond directly to Postcomm’s April Consultation proposal. 
However, in both its 2010-11 audited statutory and regulatory accounts, Royal Mail 
subsequently confirmed that it had moved all its traffic measurement reporting to the 
revenue-derived method (consistent with Postcomm’s consultation proposal for 2012-
13). Royal Mail confirmed to Ofcom that this change had been under consideration 
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for some time, and followed the completion of a review of the revenue-derived 
measurement process by its auditors (in autumn 2009) which “passed the audit 
walkthrough tests and the calculations performed to derive traffic and revenue were 
deemed reasonable by the Ernst & Young Actuarial”. Royal Mail further explained 
that senior management was keen to have “full alignment on all external reporting to 
ensure consistency moving forward”15

1.193 After considering both the responses to Postcomm’s April Consultation and the 
subsequent developments Royal Mail has made to its regulatory financial reporting, 
we propose to amend the relevant costing principle in 2012-13 in line with the 
proposal by Postcomm in its April Consultation, such that it requires the revenue-
derived method to be adopted as the single traffic measurement method for 
regulatory financial reporting from 2012-13. The proposed change to the ‘Traffic 
Measurement’ National Costing Rule is set out in the Appendix. 

, and decided that the 2010-11 reporting period 
was an appropriate time to move all reporting to the revenue derived method of traffic 
estimation. 

Allocation of overheads 

1.194 Within the total costs allocated through Royal Mail’s FAC product costing 
methodology, the overheads in Royal Mail’s Reported Business can be categorised 
as follows: 

i) General overheads which support all of the activities performed by the Reported 
Business – for example costs incurred by ‘Business Sustaining’ activities (in 
2010-11 these made up around 10% of total FAC) .  

ii) Pipeline overheads, which relate to only some of the pipeline activities or some 
products within the Reported Business - for example, ‘Manage Delivery’ 
overheads relate to the activity of managing the ‘Delivery’ element of the pipeline, 
while wholesale overheads relate to wholesale products only (in 2010-11 these 
made up around 15% of total FAC)16

1.195 At present, Royal Mail’s FAC product costing methodology uses a ‘non-nested’ Equi-
Proportional Mark Up (EPMU) approach to overhead allocation.  This approach 
allocates both the pipeline overheads and the general overheads to products pro rata 
to the direct costs already attributed to those products. This is approach is compliant 
with the costing principles in the Initial Conditions.    

. 

1.196 These principles were developed by Postcomm to reflect the then-existing FAC 
product costing methodology, as Royal Mail had previously argued that it was time-
consuming and complex for it to adopt an alternative approach to allocating overhead 
costs via its costing system. 

                                                 
15 ‘Response to Section 55, Schedule 8 Requirement to Furnish Information for the Development of 
Regulatory Accounting Guidelines and for Cost Transparency Proposals’, 28th July 2011, Royal Mail 
16 Please note that the breakdown of the 2010-11 FAC in to Pipeline overheads and General 
overheads uses the breakdown as per Royal Mail’s classification of activities whereas the breakdown 
for 2008-09 and 2009-10 provided in Postcomm’s April consultation (page 21 ‘The building blocks for 
a sustainable postal service –Annex B:Cost transparency and accounting separation, April 2011) 
used a different classification for some activities.  The equivalent 2008-09 figures are: Direct costs c. 
75%; Pipeline overheads c. 15%, General overheads c. 10%.  The equivalent 2009-10 figures are: 
Direct costs c. 75%, Pipeline overheads c. 15%, General overheads c. 10%. 
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1.197 In Postcomm’s April Consultation it was proposed that, for the 2012 regulatory 
framework, the relevant regulatory costing principle should be amended so as to 
require Royal Mail to apply a two-step “Nested” EPMU approach for its 2012-13 
regulatory financial reporting and beyond.  This would involve: 

i) first allocating pipeline overheads pro rata to the relevant direct costs (as now); 
but then, 

ii) allocating general overheads pro rata to the sum of the attributed direct costs and 
the pipeline overheads allocated in the first step. 

1.198  In Postcomm’s April Consultation the regulator set out the key reasons for its view 
that such a Nested EPMU approach should be applied to Royal Mail’s 2012-13 
regulatory financial reporting: 

• A nested EPMU approach allocates the general overheads using a complete 
profile of those costs that can reasonably be identified to activities or groups of 
activities. 

• A nested EPMU approach would allocate the general overheads in a way that 
better reflects the costs it supports and therefore the operational reality, and 
therefore has the advantage of greater consistency with the existing regulatory 
costing rule (‘Operational Reality’, which we do not propose to change for 2012-
13), which states: 

“As far as practicable, the Costing Methodology must reflect the trading 
operations of Royal Mail as they are undertaken....”   

• A nested approach could be argued to be more consistent with that envisaged in 
Article 14(3) of the Postal Services Directive17

The accounting systems referred to in paragraph 2 shall, without prejudice to 
paragraph 4, allocate costs in the following manner: 

(a) costs which can be directly assigned to a particular service or product shall be 
so assigned; 

(b) common costs, that is costs which cannot be directly assigned to a particular 
service or product, shall be allocated as follows: 

(i) whenever possible, common costs shall be allocated on the basis of direct 
analysis of the origin of the costs themselves; 

(ii) when direct analysis is not possible, common cost categories shall be 
allocated on the basis of an indirect linkage to another cost category or group of 
cost categories for which a direct assignment or allocation is possible; the indirect 
linkage shall be based on comparable cost structures; 

 in relation to separation of 
accounts between services and products which are part of the universal service 
and those which are not (emphasis added): 

(iii) when neither direct nor indirect measures of cost allocation can be found, the 
cost category shall be allocated on the basis of a general allocator computed by 
using the ratio of all expenses directly or indirectly assigned or allocated, on 

                                                 
17 Directive 97/67/EC as amended 
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the one hand, to each of the universal services and, on the other hand, to the 
other services; 

(iv) common costs, which are necessary for the provision of both universal 
services and non universal services, shall be allocated appropriately; the same 
cost drivers must be applied to both universal services and non universal 
services. 

1.199 A change to such a Nested EPMU approach would mean that the cost of those 
products that have comparatively large associated pipeline overheads would see a 
total unit cost increase, as they would absorb a higher level of general overheads 
(with offsetting reductions in other product costs). Our estimates indicate that the 
effect of applying Nested EPMU may be material or close to material (more than 1%) 
for the cost of a number of products. 

1.200 Only one operator made a specific response to Postcomm’s proposal. It stated that it 
had a deep concern with how Royal Mail had applied its present EPMU methodology, 
and the level of regulatory scrutiny given at the time, as it had appeared “that the 
huge shift in access costs reported between 2008-09 and 2009-10 were due to 
adoption of EPMU by Royal Mail.”   

1.201 However, the operator went on to assert that it strongly supported any refinement in 
Royal Mail’s EPMU methodology which would result in a better reflection of the 
nature of its costs and the operational reality. 

1.202 In its response to Postcomm’s April Consultation Royal Mail did not make a specific 
response to the proposal.   

1.203 While we consider that a move to a Nested EPMU approach could in principle 
provide an improvement in the allocation of overheads to products (so that for 
example products which share a relatively significant component of specific pipeline 
overhead costs do not escape a proportionate allocation of general overhead costs), 
a key consideration is whether such a change would entail a disproportionate 
increase in Royal Mail’s processing effort for the relatively limited benefits in 
improved cost orientation secured.    

1.204 We therefore asked Royal Mail to provide a view of the practical implications of a 
move to the Nested EPMU approach. 

1.205 Royal Mail believes that the non-nested approach that it currently operates already 
provides a highly robust apportionment of its overhead costs to products, as it 
involves application of more than 20 carefully considered individual overhead 
allocation rules.   

1.206 Royal Mail’s existing product costing system does not permit EPMU allocations within 
the system itself. EPMU allocations are therefore currently performed as a separate 
exercise outside the main data warehouse.  Royal Mail has informed us that adding a 
further step to this EPMU process outside the main data warehouse would extend 
the time taken for quarterly data processing by approximately two days, as well as 
require an increase in data validation and assurance resources.   

1.207 We recognise that the current limits to the functionality of Royal Mail’s FAC costing 
system are such that the additional step involved in implementing the Nested EPMU 
approach proposed by Postcomm would require extra time, effort and consequent 
cost.   
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1.208 However, we expect that, over time, those updates in the IT systems and business 
processes that would be expected to be a feature of any efficient company where 
product costing was such a key element would mean that any such incremental effort 
involved should, going forward, be significantly reduced in due course in any event.    

1.209 However, taking account of the responses received from Postcomm’s April 
Consultation, we consider that the more accurate representation of costs that the 
Nested EPMU approach would provide means that the Postcomm proposal is 
appropriate for implementation from 2012-13, unless there are more clearly defined 
grounds for a temporary derogation, such as Royal Mail’s wider IT implementation 
plans, associated with its Strategic Business Plan. In reaching a decision on this 
matter, we will carefully consider any additional evidence and views received in 
response to this consultation.  

Zonal costing 

1.210 Royal Mail estimates the zonal costs of its services for pricing purposes by means of 
a modelling process outside its national FAC product costing system. While 
Postcomm had regulatory oversight of Royal Mail’s zonal access prices (via 
Condition 21 of the Licence), it did not directly have oversight of how the underlying 
zonal costs were derived, on a comparable basis to the arrangements that are now in 
place (via the Initial Conditions) in respect of the national FAC product costing 
methodology for regulatory financial reporting purposes. 

1.211 In the April 2011 consultation, Postcomm considered a range of options that could be 
applied to the future regulatory oversight of Royal Mail’s zonal costing methodology 
for regulatory financial reporting purposes, to support the regulatory framework for 
2012-2013 onwards. 

1.212 In particular, the April 2011 consultation set out three basic options for improving 
zonal cost transparency to support the new regulatory framework from 2012: 

• Option 1 – Adapt existing national product costing system. Under this 
option, Royal Mail would undertake a development of the existing national 
product costing system to provide zonal cost estimates from within a single 
integrated system. To implement this option, the regulator would need to 
augment the existing regulatory principles that are applied to national FAC 
product costing, and the requirement for Royal Mail to document the associated 
methodology in the Costing Manual, such that they address and encompass 
Royal Mail’s zonal costing methodology on an integrated and internally consistent 
basis, all subject to the same mechanisms for regulatory oversight of changes to 
the methodology. 

• Option 2 – Use the same additional regulatory transparency and 
consistency measures (but with expanded costing principles, and an 
expanded scope for the Costing Manual) but without changing the national 
product costing system. Royal Mail currently uses a separate spreadsheet 
model to derive its zonal cost estimates. Subject to the enhancements to the 
modelling it proposed in its October 2010 consultation18 and subsequent March 
2011 decision19

                                                 
18 Royal Mail, October 2010, Costing methodology to support zonal pricing: a consultation 
19 Royal Mail, March 2011, Costing methodology to support zonal pricing: a decision 

, this basic modelling approach could be used to support zonal 
costing for regulatory financial reporting purposes as part of the 2012 framework. 
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• Option 3 – Continue with status quo, but subject to the modelling changes 
proposed to be implemented by Royal Mail in its March 2011 decision.  This 
option would require Royal Mail to provide the regulator with updates on the 
evolution of the zonal costing methodology, when material changes to it are 
made, but outside the framework of regulatory oversight applied to national FAC 
product costing. 

1.213 In the April 2011 consultation, Postcomm considered that Option 2 above struck the 
appropriate balance between proportionality and improved regulatory oversight of 
zonal costing to support regulatory financial reporting in the 2012 regulatory 
framework, and sought respondents’ views on this basic proposal. 

1.214 One objective of the three options was not to change fundamentally the approach 
currently used by Royal Mail to identify national FAC costs to specific geographically-
defined zones for pricing purposes. 

1.215 However, under Option 2, the regulator would require Royal Mail’s zonal costing 
modelling to comply with amended costing principles, something which would require 
a review of Royal Mail’s existing zonal costing model (by March 2012), including the 
allocation of postcode sectors to the defined zones, to assess whether any changes 
would be needed to ensure compliance with the proposed regulatory principles, to 
support regulatory financial reporting and zonal pricing in 2012-13 onwards. 

1.216 In the April 2011 consultation, Postcomm considered that, of the three basic options, 
Option 2 would best achieve a more integrated and systematic process of regulatory 
oversight of zonal product costing without undue costs or effort.  The key arguments 
made by Postcomm in support of this proposal were that: 

• The substantial development of Royal Mail’s existing national product costing 
system that would be needed under Option 1 would imply significant investment 
cost and practical implementation difficulties for Royal Mail, consequences of 
which appeared disproportionate relative to the potential regulatory concerns to 
be addressed. 

• Option 2 would involve the relevant documentation and regulatory oversight for 
zonal costing being rendered consistent with that already in place for Royal Mail’s 
national FAC product costing methodology. As the existing regulatory framework 
placed emphasis on corresponding national and zonal prices being internally 
consistent, Postcomm considered that this Option would provide the market with 
greater confidence that any regulatory remedies relevant to national and zonal 
access pricing (e.g. monitoring of cost orientation) were consistently targeted, 
while the associated implementation requirements for Royal Mail should not be 
too onerous (given the model already existed to satisfy a prior licence condition) 
and could be further developed and refined as required before the start of the 
new regulatory framework. 

• Option 3 would provide a lighter touch alternative for regulatory oversight and 
would imply little immediate implementation consequences for Royal Mail, but 
Postcomm believed it would not provide the regulator with the integrated, 
systematic process of regulatory oversight of costs required at this stage of the 
new 2012 regulatory framework. 

1.217 Royal Mail did not respond directly to any of the specific cost transparency proposals 
in the April 2011 consultation, including those concerning zonal costing.  However, 
Royal Mail stated that it was generally committed to cost transparency. 
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1.218 One operator endorsed Postcomm’s proposal stating that, although it had limited 
direct experience in the use of zonal access prices, Postcomm’s proposal: “would 
provide the market with greater confidence that the regulatory remedies and controls 
over zonal pricing are effectively targeted and monitored, without requiring an 
overhaul of the current national product costing system. It is however important that 
zonal costing is consistent with the national product costing (for example, given the 
possibility that zonal pricing may extend beyond Royal Mail’s wholesale products to 
Royal Mail’s retail products in the future). Therefore, we consider that the 
Methodological Principles should be amended specifically to encompass zonal 
costing, and that the Costing Manual should be amended accordingly with a 
consistent change control mechanism applied.” 

1.219 Another operator made the following more general points relevant to Postcomm’s 
zonal costing transparency proposals: “the new system for cost allocation to zones 
needs to be given time to bed in and needs to be externally audited for both utility 
and accuracy” and “there needs to be an audited review on the allocation of postcode 
sectors to zones.” 

1.220 Other respondents did not specifically respond to the consultation question regarding 
zonal cost transparency. However we note respondents’ general support for the key 
cost transparency proposals in the April 2011 consultation and indeed in one case a 
respondent expressed concern that they did not go far enough, and that respondents 
should have been given more time to consider their views. 

1.221 We have carefully considered the responses to the April 2011 consultation in 
developing our own proposals for the new regulatory framework. In addition, we 
requested Royal Mail to provide details of its existing zonal costing model, as well as 
any accompanying documentation and details of the process used to updating it. 

1.222 Royal Mail provided some details on the methodology during the consultation 
process and agreed with Postcomm that the methodology would be documented by 
April 2012. 

1.223 We have not received any new evidence or different arguments in interested parties’ 
responses to cause us to depart from the proposal favoured by Postcomm. We also 
note that the only interested party that provided a more specific response on this 
specific proposal supported the choice of Option 2. 

1.224 Other respondents did not specifically respond to our consultation question regarding 
the cost transparency of Royal Mail’s zonal costs, but those that did refer to the 
overall cost transparency proposals gave general support. 

1.225 The lack of written documentation that Royal Mail had available in response to our 
information request to explain the detail of the functionality and processing of its 
zonal costing model stands in contrast to the company’s documentation of its 
national FAC product costing system which, following the implementation of the 
changes to its licence in 2011-12, is now maintained in a separate organisational unit 
in Royal Mail’s Group Finance function with regular updates on changes provided to 
the regulator. 

1.226 Royal Mail’s national FAC product costing system is now documented in a published 
Costing Manual and a confidential set of Technical Appendices provided to the 
regulator, and material changes to it are subject to regulatory oversight. 
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1.227 In our discussions with Royal Mail, it has been suggested that it would be challenging 
to produce a first draft of documentation of the model for the Costing Manual to 
support regulatory oversight, as anticipated by Option 2, by December 2011. 

1.228 However, due to the importance that Royal Mail itself places on its zonal costing 
model to support its zonal pricing decisions, and the significance of those pricing 
decisions to the mail market, we consider that Royal Mail should give suitable priority 
to the preparatory work needed to document its existing model. This work should 
include full documentation of the way in which its March decision is planned to be 
implemented to support zonal access pricing in 2012 onwards, given the prior licence 
commitments it made in this area.  

1.229 We consider that the above information would provide the platform for us to review 
the details of the model, and confirm its compliance with our proposed costing 
principles for 2012-13 financial regulatory reporting. 

1.230 Our specific proposals for 2012-13 onwards comprise defining an appropriate set of 
zonal costing principles as part of our anticipated Regulatory Accounting Guidelines 
(‘RAG’), reviewing Royal Mail’s existing model and its supporting documentation for 
compliance with these principles, and then requiring by March 2012 the Costing 
Manual to be updated (and subsequently maintained) to include the documentation 
of a zonal costing methodology which complies with the relevant regulatory costing 
principles in the RAG. 

Defining the zonal costing rules 

1.231 We propose to incorporate the existing regulatory principles for national FAC product 
costing as part of the regulatory financial reporting obligations, as discussed below. 
However, in addition, in order to implement the above proposals for increased zonal 
cost transparency, we also propose additional rules that are specific to zonal costing 
in the Appendix.   

1.232 Zonal costing involves adding mark ups and mark downs to the corresponding 
national FAC costs, to reflect geographical differences in cost.  Zonal product costs 
are therefore made up of two components: i) national product costs and ii) the mark 
ups or mark downs applied to the national costs. 

1.233 National product costs are derived using the National Costing Rules for deriving 
national FAC costs.  The mark ups and downs are derived by identifying zonal cost 
differences related, for example to operational features such as delivery point density 
and volume per delivery point, as well as significant geographical differences in input 
costs between zones. 

1.234 These proposed additional rules reflect the basic principles that we consider to be 
necessary for Royal Mail to apply to derive consistent zonal costs, taking in to 
account the characteristics of the zones concerned. In particular, they relate to the 
sourcing of the relevant data on geographic cost differences, the process by which 
the associated zonal costs should be calculated, including the estimation of postcode 
sector costs through a regression, and the mapping of postcode sectors to zones.  

1.235 We discuss our main proposals in relation to these issues further below.  
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Geographical cost reflectivity 

1.236 We propose that, as far as practicable, cost differentials should reflect all the relevant 
significant geographical cost differentials of the zone.  

1.237 These include differences arising from postcode sector drivers as well as 
geographical differences in input costs (such as labour and accommodation rates). 
Such postcode sector drivers include: 

• area of postcode sector; 

• number of delivery points;  

• volume delivered per delivery point; and  

• proportion of business delivery in the postcode sector. 

Annual review of consistency with national costing data 

1.238 We propose that changes in the zonal mark-ups and mark-downs to national costs - 
arising from changes in underlying costs, the mapping of postcode sector costs to 
zones, or other changes to zone boundaries - should be reviewed by Royal Mail 
annually to ensure consistency with the zonal costing rules, while also ensuring that: 

• weighted average zonal unit costs remain equal to the national average unit costs 
derived through the national FAC costing system (see Zonal Costing Rule 19 set 
out in the Appendix); and  

• if a cost function is used, the zonal costs derived by such function remain 
consistent with the actual values of the explanatory variables of the cost function, 
the updated coefficients of the cost function and the updated mapping of 
postcode sectors to zones (see Zonal Costing Rule 14 set out in the Appendix). 

Estimation and sampling 

1.239 Royal Mail currently estimates postcode sector costs through a regression approach 
because, as set out in Royal Mail’s October 201020 consultation and March 2011 
decision21

1.240 Given that estimation of postcode sector costs via a regression approach is therefore 
likely to continue to be needed, it is important that the cost drivers in the regression 
properly explain the relevant variations in geographic costs – as otherwise zonal 
price differentials would risk not being cost orientated, with potential impacts on the 
provision of the universal service and on effective competition.   

, costs are not directly captured at postcode sector level. We consider that 
the identification of the actual costs of each of the postcode sectors in the UK is likely 
to pose a disproportionate burden on Royal Mail relative to the potential benefits in 
terms of improved zonal cost accuracy.    

1.241 Royal Mail has identified Delivery Office cost variations rather than postcode sector 
cost variations as the cost variations to be explained by these regressions. However, 
it is at postcode sector code where the zonal differences in costs are reflected in 

                                                 
20 ‘Costing methodology to support zonal pricing: a Consultation’, Royal Mail Wholesale, 29th October 
2010 
21 ‘Costing methodology to support zonal pricing: a decision’, Royal Mail Wholesale, 4th March 2011 
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practice. Royal Mail has argued that it had to use an approach focused on explaining 
Delivery Office cost variations because the Delivery Office is the lowest level where 
Royal Mail collects actual cost data to use in regressions.   

1.242 However, in our view, Delivery Offices do not proxy particularly clearly and 
systematically the underlying differences in postcode sector costs, as they include on 
average eight post codes, several of which may have different cost characteristics.   

1.243 We therefore propose that Royal Mail in future (subject to appropriate implementation 
timescales) generates an appropriate sample of direct estimates of individual 
postcode sector costs, and uses these estimates as the explained variable in the 
regression – so that the cost drivers can be directly related to explained costs at the 
appropriate geographic level. Such sampled postcode sector cost estimates could be 
generated by timing the delivery functions in a sample of specific postcode sectors, 
and applying the relevant Delivery Office pay, vehicle and other costs involved to 
these activities. We further propose that a regression should then be used to obtain 
more accurate coefficients of the drivers explaining such estimated postcode sector 
cost differences.  

1.244 Another potential issue with the current approach (as set out in Royal Mail’s March 
2011 decision document22) is that one of the cost drivers in Royal Mail’s existing 
regression is volumes per delivery point.  Data on such volumes need to be 
estimated from sampling, as they are not currently being collected on a systematic 
and regular basis. Royal Mail uses the Mails Characteristics Survey (MCS)23

1.245  However, such volume sampling requires statistical tests, to ensure the sample 
generates accurate estimates of the volumes concerned. We therefore propose that 
in future (again, subject to appropriate implementation timescales) such volume 
sampling as is required for the purposes of zonal costing by regression complies with 
specific regulatory requirements, as set out in the Appendix. 

 sample 
for the purpose of such sampling. 

1.246 Given that direct postcode sector cost data, and all the operational data required to 
apply the proposed regression approach, are not currently available, we propose to 
accept Royal Mail’s conclusion that zonal cost differentials, other than geographic 
pay rates and other input cost differentials, currently need to be estimated by 
regression.  

1.247 However, such estimation approaches require judgment to ensure they result in 
accurate zonal cost estimates. We therefore propose that such estimation complies 
with specific requirements, as set out in the relevant rules in the RAG (as indicated in 
the Appendix), to provide assurance to the regulator and the market of the 
robustness and consistency of the resulting zonal cost estimates.  

1.248 To this effect, we propose that the zonal costing rules include additional requirements 
in relation to Operational data and sampling (See Zonal Costing Rule 14 set out in 
the Appendix), and the addition of further rules (17 and 18 set out in the Appendix) to 
ensure that: 

                                                 
22 ‘Costing methodology to support zonal pricing: a decision’, Royal Mail Wholesale, 4th March 2011 
23 The Mail Characteristics Survey (MCS) is a survey Royal Mail conduct to provide information on the 
characteristics of mail.  It gathers observations about the mail types (product stream and content) the 
business delivers in the UK through collecting data from all Mail Centres (MCs) and Regional 
Distribution Centres (RDCs). 
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• as far as possible, actual postcode sector cost data are used to determine zonal 
cost differentials. Where cost functions estimated by regression are instead used 
to estimate postcode sector costs, the validity of the relevant linear regression 
should be demonstrated via suitable statistical indicators (see Zonal Costing Rule 
17 set out in the Appendix); and 

• different zones should not be established unless their costs are materially 
different from each other at required levels of statistical confidence, while zone 
boundaries should be defined by grouping postcode sectors with similar unit 
costs into the same zone. Zone boundaries should be reviewed at least annually 
(see Zonal Costing Rule 18 set out in the Appendix). 

Zonal Costing Manual 

1.249 As discussed above, we propose that the RAG should include a general requirement 
for Royal Mail to extend the Costing Manual to include the documentation of its zonal 
costing methodology, compliant with the Zonal Costing Guidelines discussed above.  
We consider that proper documentation of the methodology in this way will be 
beneficial both to Royal Mail and to others in the market (such as customers of its 
zonal access products), by enabling the basis of Royal Mail’s costing to be more 
transparent, and its relationship to zonal pricing to be more readily understood.  

1.250 Further details of our proposals for the content of this proposed documentation are 
set out below. 

1.251  Royal Mail presently produces a two-part Costing Manual to present its national FAC 
costing methodology. The first part is publicly disclosed and provides an explanation 
of its costing methodology, while the second part, the Technical Appendices, 
contains the detailed tables, matrices, account hierarchies, costing structures and 
other data is supplied to the regulator on a confidential basis.   

1.252 As with the present two-part Costing Manual, we expect the sections on zonal 
costing to be produced at a level of detail sufficient to allow a reader to replicate the 
derivation of the relevant zonal costs if given the detailed input data.  As can be seen 
below, we envisage that the section headings of Part 1 and Part 2 of the Costing 
Manual will be almost identical (the Technical Appendices will include an additional 
section identifying the unit and total costs of the zones, with the level of detail 
provided in each part subject to consistent commercial confidentiality constraints). 

1.253 We set out below our proposals for the main headings or sections that we expect 
within Part 1 and Part 2 of the relevant zonal sections of the Costing Manual would, 
at a minimum, contain (as with the rest of the Costing Manual, confidential data 
would be confined to the relevant Technical Appendices): 

• Rationale for the methodology used - This section would provide an 
explanation of the rationale for the costing methodology used. 

• Graphical representation of the zonal costing methodology - This section 
would provide a graphical overview of the relationship between the key steps of 
the zonal costing methodology. 

• Relevant costs - This section would list and describe the nature of the costs 
covered by the zonal costing methodology, and would require the identification of 
the type of costs that are geographically differentiated. 
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• Regressions - This part of the manual would state and explain the regressions 
applied in the estimation of zonal cost differentials.  We would expect this section 
to include: 

o an explanation of the dependent and explanatory variables, regression 
coefficients and statistical results; 

o an explanation as to the nature of the costs used as the dependent variable 
(e.g. Delivery Office costs/Postcode sector costs); 

o an explanation of how costs where geographic differences are estimated have 
been separately identified; 

o results of the estimation of postcode sector costs;  

o list of postcode sectors, with the associated values of each of the variables in 
the cost function). 

• Data - This section would describe the data sources and the way in which they 
are used by the zonal costing methodology.  This will include identifying the 
source IT/accounting systems, the basis for sampling, and the way the regression 
and the input data is estimated from these sources.  We would expect this 
section to include a description of the sources of data for: 

o Delivery Office costs (split into Staff/Non-Staff/Property, and describing the 
basis for estimating a split into Inward and Outward functions, and costs for 
outward delivery); 

o Other Delivery Office related data (including journeys, hours used in specific 
tasks; 

o postcode sector areas; 

o postcode sector volumes total and per delivery point (including statistical 
results of Mail Characteristics Survey samples); 

o proportion of business delivery in each postcode sector; 

o Inward Mail Centre costs and distances to Delivery Offices; 

o Distance from Delivery office to Postcode sector. 

• Sampling - The manual would document where sampling is used within the 
zonal costing methodology and would detail the processes involved in the 
sampling methodology employed. The MCS sampling used for zonal downstream 
access costs should reflect the downstream volumes (ie this will be the sampling 
carried out at the Outward Mail Centre) while the MCS sampling used for end to 
end zonal costs (when relevant) should reflect the end to end volumes (ie this will 
be the sampling carried out at the Inward Mail Centre).  We would expect this 
section to include: 

o postcode sector delivery point volumes, including statistical results of the Mail 
Characteristics Survey (‘MCS’) sample; 
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o details of the number of postcode sectors sampled for each Inward Mail 
Centre; 

o the number of delivery points per postcode sector; 

o sampling of postcode sector costs if relevant. 

• Mapping of postcode sectors to zones - We would expect this section to 
identify the categorisation of each postcode sector to zone, and would include: 

o a map showing the geographical distribution of each of the zones; 

o the delivery point density of each of the zones (in each Delivery Office); 

o mean, mode and standard deviation of the delivery density of the postcode 
sectors that belong to the zone; 

o business density (proportion of business in the zone); 

o mean, mode and standard deviation of the business density of the postcode 
sectors that belong to the zone; 

o volume per delivery point in each of the zones (in each Delivery Office); 

o mean, mode and standard deviation of the volume per delivery point of the 
postcode sectors that belong to the zone; 

o area of the postcode sector in each zone, and  

o mean, mode and standard deviation of the area per zone. 

• Reconciliation of zonal costs with national costs - We would expect this 
section to document the process used to reconcile the zonal costs with the 
national costs produced by the national FAC costing system; it would identity any 
scaling factor(s) required for this purpose. 

• Costs of each zone - this section would list the total and unit costs of each zone, 
as well as identifying the mail volumes applicable to each zone. 

Regulatory reporting and disclosure  

1.254 In the following paragraphs, we provide some additional information in relating to our 
proposals regarding the required level of assurance and extent of publication of the 
proposed reports. 

Assurance 

1.255 With respect to the 2012-13 financial year, we propose that the basic initial audit 
opinion provided by the auditors of the annual and quarterly regulatory accounts (as 
defined above) should address whether the accounts have been “properly prepared”, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the RAG (that is, the opinion should be of 
the form currently provided by Royal Mail’s auditors). 

1.256 For this purpose, we consider that a clear definition of materiality is required, which 
would complement that already in place for assessing the compliance of the national 
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FAC product costing with regulatory principles, and pre-notifying Ofcom of material 
changes to the methodology. 

1.257 We propose a distinct definition of materiality for this purpose (see the Appendix), at 
a threshold of 3% (compared with the current and proposed 1% threshold for the 
purposes of costing materiality). The reasons for the higher threshold we have 
proposed are essentially that: 

• on the one hand, the lower threshold could significantly increase the burden of 
the audit beyond that typically expected for statutory auditing purposes; and 

• on the other hand, the need for full consistency with the regulatory principles is 
lower than in relation to product costing (where deviations can have a major 
impact on pricing in some markets, and hence on the efficient provision of the 
universal service and effective competition). 

1.258 Nevertheless, variations in particular revenues and costs have a much greater impact 
on reported profitability in the Reported Business, in postal markets where Royal Mail 
noted in its consultation response that margins over operating costs are typically 
lower than in other communications markets.  

1.259 We therefore consider that a relatively high materiality threshold – such as the 5% 
used for BT’s regulatory financial reporting – may not be appropriate for a business 
with lower margins and very high operating gearing. We consider that our proposal of 
3% represents a compromise, but we would welcome respondents’ views on whether 
we have struck the appropriate balance in the circumstances. 

1.260 We also recognise that, in the short term, it may not be practical to require the full 
form of a “fairly represents” opinion similar to that provided by the auditors of BT 
regulatory accounts, as this requires the auditors to review the underlying bases of 
the data used, which may well not be practical in the limited time now available. 

1.261 However, we would expect a move to the full “fairly represents” audit opinion, 
potentially on a phased basis, in 2013-14. The transition may start with the key 
reports (the accounts for the Reported Business and the separated entities) and then 
be extended to other reports (e.g. product profitability statements). 

1.262 In our view, the above proposals address the key shortcomings with the existing 
framework – where the general regulatory accounting principles drawn up by Royal 
Mail create the potential for widely different interpretations, while direct references to 
the corresponding bases for the preparation of statutory accounts raise track record 
consistency risks. This is particularly pertinent given Royal Mail’s previous need to 
change its statutory and regulatory accounting policies, coupled with the prospects 
for further corporate change in coming years. 

1.263 Further, there are two basic options for the addressees of the audit report - Royal 
Mail alone or Royal Mail and Ofcom jointly (similar to the tri-partite audit agreement 
between Ofcom, BT, and the auditors). The first option represents the status quo. 
However, the second option would give us and the market more confidence in the 
regulatory accounts, as we would have more control over the scope and the 
methodology of the audit and potentially further legal recourse in the event of any 
issues with the audit.  
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1.264 Based on our past experience, it is our view that the regulator might be expected to 
have a higher degree of control over the scope and the methodology of the audit 
under this second option. 

1.265 However, we recognise that these greater regulatory benefits are likely to create 
further audit costs for Royal Mail, the risk of additional time being needed to agree 
audited regulatory financial reports, and the need for more complex procedures for 
coordination of input from all parties, and resolution of any disagreements between 
the parties.  

1.266 We would welcome respondents’ views on whether there could be any particular 
costs and risks which might call our assessment of the benefits of a joint opinion into 
question. 

1.267 Finally, we propose that Royal Mail should select, and appoint the auditors of the 
regulatory financial reports, and meet the costs of the audit. However, Royal Mail 
should agree the terms of the engagement with us, and we should have the right to 
approve the selected auditors based on an assessment of their ability to undertake 
the work concerned. 

Publication 

1.268 We propose that Royal Mail should publish the following regulatory reports: 

• annual audited and quarterly unaudited income statements, and annual balance 
sheets, and operating cash flow statements for the Reported Business and the 
four separate regulatory financial reporting entities; 

• annual audited and quarterly unaudited income statements for universal service 
and non-Mails products; 

• annual audited and quarterly unaudited product profitability statements for 
access, Relay, and PAF. 

1.269 We propose that the regulatory accounts set out above should capture the 
information which not only the regulator needs to have to ensure its duties are 
discharged, but also the market is entitled to know about Royal Mail’s performance 
and financial position and the effect that our regulation will have on them. 

1.270 However, we recognise that publication of annual information on the relative 
profitability of the four separate regulatory financial reporting entities (in summer 
2013) will need to be undertaken with appropriate attention being given to the 
interpretation of the information concerned. On the one hand, the entities concerned 
will be constructs created for regulatory reporting purposes, and not representative of 
the operational basis on which the integrated network activities are managed in 
practice. On the other, we expect that the products and services identified to the 
different entities will make different contributions to the shared costs of the network – 
such variations are to be expected given the different market and regulatory 
environments from which the revenues attributed to the overall Reported Business 
are derived.  

1.271 In addition, there may be merit in keeping the initial quarterly reports – e.g. the first 
two quarters – confidential to ensure the new accounting methodologies and 
processes have been properly implemented and embedded , and to ensure that the 
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causes of seasonal variations (which in Royal Mail’s case can be significant) are 
properly understood before information is communicated to the market.       

1.272 As explained above, we propose that the annual financial reports listed above should 
be audited. Without an audit, the regulator and the market cannot have sufficient 
confidence in the reports, given the potential for widely different interpretations of any 
form of general principles, as well as the previous history of change in relevant 
accounting policies. 

1.273 However, in our view, quarterly audits are not necessary, because the requirement 
for an audit of the annual reports, and the reconciliation of the quarterly figures to the 
annual figures within the annual report, would provide adequate assurance with 
respect to the quarterly reports as well. Further, quarterly audit will add significantly 
to the time needed for the finalisation of quarterly reports - defeating, to a large 
extent, the object of quarterly reporting which is the timeliness of those reports. 

1.274 We propose that Royal Mail should provide to us, the further product profitability 
statements listed in Table 6 on a confidential basis. These would also be annually 
audited for the reasons set out above in relation to the other annual regulatory 
reports but unaudited for the quarterly reports. These product profitability statements 
are not proposed to be published because their content can be argued to be 
commercially confidential, but we consider that we require them for monitoring 
purposes to meet our regulatory duties. 

1.275 We would welcome views on whether further details of the profitability of universal 
service products should be published to complement our proposals on price controls, 
and notification and publication, to meet our duties. Royal Mail also currently 
publishes the front part of the Costing Manual in accordance with the Initial 
Conditions (with commercially confidential information confined to unpublished 
Technical Appendices provided to Ofcom). In its response to Postcomm’s April 
Consultation, Royal Mail emphasised its continued commitment to the existing cost 
transparency measures, which include the publication of the Costing Manual, in 
support of its vision for the 2012 regulatory framework. 

1.276 We propose to preserve the existing publication requirement for the Costing Manual, 
since it describes the basis on which FAC product costing data are derived, and 
these data provide key inputs for a range of specific regulatory remedies (e.g. margin 
squeeze controls on headroom) and all the regulatory reports used for monitoring 
purposes. 

1.277 In addition, we will continue to require the supporting details of information used to 
prepare published the audited accounts (including the Technical Appendices for the 
Costing Manual) on a confidential basis, because we consider that the publication of 
this information could adversely prejudice Royal Mail’s commercial interests. 

1.278 To achieve sufficient transparency with respect to other areas (in addition to FAC 
product costs) in the regulatory financial reports, we propose that Royal Mail should 
be required to prepare documentation and manuals, containing appropriate levels of 
detail, to address the remaining areas in the regulatory financial reporting framework 
(zonal FAC costs, revenues, assets and liabilities, cash flows, detailed 
methodologies for accounting separation, etc), to complement confidential details of 
the Costing Manual. We propose that this supporting documentation is provided to 
Ofcom in Royal Mail’s Accounting Methodology and Costing Manuals as appropriate. 
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1.279 The two Manuals will also provide the auditors with an enhanced ability to carry an 
efficient audit of the regulatory financial reports and confirm their compliance with the 
RAG. However, unlike the Costing Manual, we do not propose that Royal Mail should 
publish details of the Accounting Methodology Manual, since the RAG itself should 
provide the market with sufficient information about the relevant principles being 
applied in the regulatory financial reporting framework. 

1.280 In addition to the Costing Manual, Postcomm previously required Royal Mail to 
provide with it supplementary outputs from its costing system to allow it to represent 
its outputs in Postcomm’s own Cost Allocation Model (“CAM”), which has been 
transferred to Ofcom. We propose to continue the requirement on Royal Mail to 
provide these data to us on an annual basis. 

1.281 Royal Mail has also provided confidential monthly revenue and volume information to 
Postcomm to enable ongoing monitoring of market trends, but outwith the scope of 
regulatory financial reporting obligations in its licence. Given the rapid evolution of 
the market and its impact on the financial position of the Reported Business, and 
hence the financial health of the universal service.we propose that supporting 
confidential information will continue to be provided to us in the remainder of 2011-12 
and will consider the requirements for continued supplementary information of this 
form as part of the new regulatory framework, given all cash flow monitoring 
proposals. 

1.282 Royal Mail previously provided information to Postcomm about the capital 
expenditure it had incurred in previous years and had committed for forthcoming 
years. We consider that this requirement will in future be met by our proposals to 
reconcile the annual financial position of the Relevant Group with the updated 
Strategic Business Plan.  

1.283 Apart from the front part of the Costing Manual, we therefore do not propose to 
require the publication of the supporting information and documentation described in 
the above paragraphs as these data are commercially confidential and hence their 
publication could prejudice the development of effective competition.  

1.284 We do not propose to require an audit of the supporting information and 
documentation described in the above paragraphs (apart from the Costing Manual). 
These supporting data are highly detailed, such that it is unlikely for the variations in 
this information to have a significant impact on the larger picture of the financial 
performance and position depicted by the regulatory accounts. The expected high 
costs of an audit of these detailed data also makes such an audit disproportionate 
considering the limited benefits it may have. 
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Section 1 

1 Introduction 
A1.1 This document specifies the requirements that relate to the preparation, including 

audit, reporting and disclosure, of regulatory financial statements and other 
regulatory financial reports produced by Royal Mail Group Limited (“Royal Mail”) for 
the 2012-13 financial year onwards, including the preparation of income statements, 
balance sheet statements and cash flow statements, for the whole of Royal Mail 
Group Limited excluding Post Office Limited (“RMG ex-POL”), the Reported 
Business within RMG ex-POL, and each separate regulatory financial reporting 
entity within the Reported Business.  

A1.2 This document contains the proposed content of the USP Accounting Condition 
(The ‘Condition’) and the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines (‘RAG’) on the basis set 
out in Section 9 of this consultation.  

A1.3 This document deals with the following specific issues relating to the regulatory 
financial statements and other regulatory financial reports produced by Royal Mail: 

i) Setting out the interpretation of the two documents (referred to in paragraph A1.2 
above), including the definition of materiality. 

ii) Specifying the financial information to be provided by Royal Mail to meet our 
requirements to monitor the financeability of universal service provision.  

iii) Specifying the accounting separation scope to be used by Royal Mail in 
producing the regulatory financial statements for the relevant financial reporting 
entities and other regulatory financial reports. 

iv) Specifying the general accounting methodology rules to be applied by Royal Mail 
in the production of the regulatory financial statements and other regulatory 
financial reports for these reporting entities. 

v) Specifying the particular accounting separation rules to be applied by Royal Mail 
in the production of the regulatory financial statements and other regulatory 
financial reports for the relevant financial reporting entities within the Reported 
Business. 

vi) Specifying the regulatory reporting and disclosure requirements for the Royal 
Mail in the production of the regulatory financial statements and other regulatory 
financial reports for the relevant financial reporting entities within the Reported 
Business. 

vii) Setting out a complete glossary of terms used in this document. 
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Section 2 

2 Concepts  
Guiding Principles 

A2.1 Royal Mail must ensure that all the regulatory financial reports prepared in 
accordance with the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines comply both with the 
Guiding Principles set out below and with such other requirements as Ofcom may 
direct from time to time in accordance with the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines.  
Where it appears to Royal Mail that any of these requirements conflict with each 
other, Royal Mail must resolve the conflict as follows: 

a) where the requirements of the Guiding Principles conflict with each other, priority 
must be given to them in the order in which they are set out below; 

b) where the requirements of the Guiding Principles conflict with any requirements 
in the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines, priority must be given to the Regulatory 
Accounting Guidelines. 

A2.2 Where Royal Mail identifies and addresses a conflict in the manner set out above, it 
must include in the affected regulatory financial reports a statement setting out its 
nature and the manner in which Royal Mail has resolved it. 

A2.3 The Guiding Principles are set out below— 

a) Compliance with the European Postal Services Directive - Royal Mail’s 
Regulatory Accounting Methodology must comply with the European Postal 
Services Directive.  

b) Completeness - Royal Mail’s Regulatory Accounting Methodology must take 
into account all the relevant revenues, costs, assets and liabilities of the business 
activities on which relevant regulatory financial reports are required, as specified 
in the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines. 

c) Equivalence - Where possible, transfer prices and charges for internal products 
or services, which are used for regulatory financial reporting purposes in 
connection with this Condition, must be determined based on similar products 
and services provided to external parties, and by taking account of the 
differences in the following aspects of the internal and external products or 
services: 

o specifications of the above products or services; and 

o operational features of, and costs associated with, the production of the 
above products or the provision of the above services.  

d) Causality – For the purposes of preparing regulatory financial reports, where 
possible, revenue (including revenue resulting from transfer charges), costs 
(including costs resulting from transfer charges), assets, liabilities, and cash flows 
shall be attributed in accordance with the activities which cause the revenues to 
be earned, or costs to be incurred, or the assets to be acquired, or liabilities to be 
incurred, or the cash to be earned or spent. 
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e) Objectivity - Each element of Royal Mail’s Regulatory Accounting Methodology 
must, as far as possible take account of all the available financial and operational 
data that is relevant to that element. Where an element of Royal Mail’s 
Regulatory Accounting Methodology is based on assumptions, those 
assumptions must be justified and supported, as far as possible, by all available 
relevant empirical data. The assumptions must not be formulated in a manner 
which unfairly benefits Royal Mail or any other operator, or creates undue bias 
towards any part of the business or any product.  

f) Accuracy - Royal Mail’s Regulatory Accounting Methodology must maintain an 
adequate degree of accuracy, such that items included in the regulatory financial 
reports are free from material errors, including any double-counting.  Materiality 
should be determined in a manner consistent with Principle (i) set out below. 

g) Compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
Royal Mail’s Regulatory Accounting Methodology must comply with IFRS; with 
the exception of any departure from IFRS in the preparation of its statutory 
accounts which is expressly disclosed in those statutory accounts.  

h) Consistency - Royal Mail’s Regulatory Accounting Methodology must be 
consistent with the Guiding Principles. As far as possible, Royal Mail’s Regulatory 
Accounting Methodology must be applied consistently to the regulatory financial 
reports required by the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines. All differences in 
application and changes from one period to another must be justified by 
reference to these Guiding Principles. 

i) Materiality - The Guiding Principles (a) to (h) must be applied to all material 
items of revenue, cost, balance sheet and cash flow, or material changes in those 
items. A material item of revenue, cost, balance sheet or cash flow, or a material 
change in those items, is one which is reasonably expected to affect the views of 
a competent user of Royal Mail’s regulatory financial reports. 

Materiality  

A2.4 Any reference in this document to “material” and cognate expressions, in relation to 
Royal Mail’s regulatory reports produced in accordance with these Guidelines 
(including the regulatory financial statements), has the meaning as set out in the 
Guiding Principles of the Condition.  This definition of materiality is given in this 
context only.  Other definitions may be more suitable in other contexts such as, for 
example, when monitoring compliance with price controls. 

A2.5 Considerations of materiality guide certain decisions, including those about the 
accuracy of reporting, as well as the level of disclosure. 

A2.6 The following rules shall additionally apply in determining the materiality of the 
changes in the Accounting Methodology:  

Assessment A (all items of the Accounting Methodology) 

A2.7 In addition to any items deemed to be material under the definition within the 
Guiding Principles (i) Materiality above, a change in any item (including revenues, 
costs, assets, liabilities, and cash flows) in any of the relevant regulatory financial 
reports (including regulatory financial statements, income statements, product 
profitability statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements, and 
accompanying notes), shall be deemed to be “material” if the resultant percentage 
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difference (be it positive or negative) exceeds 3%. The resultant percentage 
difference shall be calculated by taking the value of the non-compliant item and 
subtracting from it the value of the same item if calculated under compliant 
conditions (“Compliance Base Value”), and then dividing this result by the 
Compliance Base Value. 

Assessment B (National Costing Methodology and Zonal Costing Methodology 
only) 

A2.8 In addition to any items deemed to be material under the definition within the 
Guiding Principles (i) Materiality above, for the purposes of the National Costing 
Methodology and the Zonal Costing Methodology only, a change in any reported 
item of product, sub-product, or activity (total or unit) cost shall be deemed to be 
“material” if the resultant percentage difference (be it positive or negative) exceeds 
1%, unless the change itself is smaller than £0.5 million. The resultant percentage 
difference shall be calculated by taking the cost of the non-compliant item and 
subtracting from it the cost of the same item if calculated under compliant conditions 
(“Compliance Base Cost”) and dividing this result by the Compliance Base Cost. 

A2.9 Any determination of “materiality” shall be measured by reference to the most 
recent quarterly or annual accounts as applicable. 
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Section 3 

3 Financeability Assessment: scope of RMG 
ex-POL 
RMG ex-POL Consolidated Accounts 

A3.1 The financial information to be provided by Royal Mail to help Ofcom meet its 
financeability monitoring requirements will comprise the following consolidated 
accounts for RMG ex-POL and all its subsidiary and associated undertakings: 

• Consolidated income statement,  consolidated balance sheet statement and 
consolidated cash flow statement – to be provided annually to Ofcom based on 
the proformas in paragraph A7.16 (“Figures 1-3”)  

• Consolidated quarterly cash flow projections statement – to  show a quarterly 
cash flow forecast for the next two years on a rolling basis, updated every quarter 
based on the proforma in paragraph A7.16 (“Figure 4”) 

A3.2 These accounts should be prepared in accordance with same standards and laws 
(International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), and the Companies Act 2006) 
as the statutory accounts of Royal Mail Holdings plc (‘RMH’), and should be 
audited. 

A3.3 These accounts shall also include notes which set out detail at the same level of, 
and consistent with, the regulatory financial statements for the Reported Business  
(e.g. the cost categories in the regulatory income statement), and reconcile the 
consolidated statements of Royal Mail and RMG ex-POL (income statement, 
balance sheet, and cash flow statement) to the regulatory financial statements.  

A3.4 In addition these accounts should reconcile between Royal Mail and the RMH 
consolidated statements, as they appear in the published RMH annual report and 
financial statements. These accounts shall also include explanatory notes regarding 
long term debt and financing costs as per the proforma in paragraph A7.16 (“Figure 
9”). 

A3.5 In addition to these accounts, Royal Mail shall provide to Ofcom, on a confidential 
basis, the information in its Strategic Business Plan on an annual basis supplied in 
a format consistent with these accounts for RMG ex-POL.   
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Section 4 

4 Scope of Reported Business 
Introduction 

A4.1 The scope of the financeability monitoring information for Royal Mail set out in 
Section 3 above applies to RMG ex-POL as illustrated below (see “Diagram 1”) 

Diagram 1: Corporate structure of Royal Mail 
 

 

A4.2 The scope of the Reported Business for all other regulatory financial reporting 
information shall be the activities and services the attributable costs of which are 
included in the National Costing Methodology (which was undertaken by Royal 
Mail’s Letters division until December 2010). The costs of these activities have been 
recorded in a single integrated General Ledger, and are used for the National 
Costing Methodology in the way set out in the Costing Manual.  

A4.3 The Reported Business is currently included within Royal Mail Group Limited. 

A4.4 In addition the Reported Business is currently encompassed within the Royal Mail 
operating unit called UK Letters & Parcels and International (“UKLPI”), as an 
operational part of Royal Mail Group Limited as illustrated below (see “Diagram 2”). 
The Reported Business shall include the activities of Royal Mail Wholesale, but 
shall exclude the activities not represented in the National Costing Methodology 
managed by the UKLPI operating unit. 
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Diagram 2: Proposed scope of the Reported Business 
 

 

 

A4.5 The scope defined above means that the Reported Business excludes the activities 
undertaken by the following legal entities within the corporate structure of Royal 
Mail Group Limited (see Diagrams 1 and 2 above): 

• Post Office Limited (‘POL’) 

• Royal Mail Estates Limited (‘RME’) 

• Royal Mail Investments Limited and its subsidiary undertaking, General Logistics 
Systems B.V 

• Other subsidiary and associated undertakings of Royal Mail Group Limited, 
including iRED Partnership Limited  

 
A4.6 Further, in the context of Royal Mail’s current organisational structure (see Diagram 

2 above), our proposed scope of the Reported Business also excludes the activities 
undertaken by ParcelForce Worldwide (‘PFW’) within the UKLPI operating unit 
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Accounting Separation  

A4.7 Separate regulatory financial statements shall be produced for regulatory reporting 
purposes for four regulatory financial reporting entities within the Reported Business 
as defined by the following specific lines of accounting separation and set out in the 
diagram below: 

• Line A shows the separation of products competing with other operators’ 
products which do not require the benefit of access to Royal Mail‘s integrated 
core universal service network to ensure effective competition and the efficient 
provision of the universal service, from those that do, excluding any universal 
service products             

• Line B  shows the separation of downstream from upstream services, at the point 
of entry to the Inward Mail Centre, for those which are not separated by Line A 
above 

• Line C shows the separation of universal service products within the upstream 
services defined by Line B, from non-universal service products. 

 
 

A4.8 The detailed definition of Lines A, B and C by product is set out in Appendix 1 in this 
document. Appendix 1 sets out how, by applying the above-mentioned definitions of 
Lines A, B and C, the products provided by Royal Mail in the 2010-11 financial year 
would have been allocated across Lines A, B and C, and to the four regulatory 
financial reporting entities within the Reported Business. In order to allocate Royal 
Mail’s products from 2012-13 and in future financial years on a consistent basis, to 
conform with the requirements set out in the previous paragraph, the above-
mentioned definitions of Line A, B and C shall be applied in a manner consistent 
with the allocations of the 2010-11 products illustrated in Appendix 1.  

Line C

Line A

U
pstream

Access 
operators

USO
products

Non-USO
products

End-to-end only products

Line B 

Dow
nstream

Downstream services



The Draft Accounting Condition and Regulatory Guidelines Content 

10 
 

A4.9 The income statements should include items to the level of Earnings before Interest 
and Tax (‘EBIT”). The balance sheets should include operational fixed assets 
utilised in the day to day trading operations of the business, but excluding 
properties the depreciation costs of which are not captured in the FAC product 
costing system in line with the National Costing Methodology, and working capital. 
The cash flow statements should include trading cash flows and investment cash 
flows related to operational fixed assets. 

A4.10 In addition to the above, the following separated end to end income statements to 
the level of EBIT shall also be prepared: 

i) Universal services products versus non-universal service products within the 
Reported Business, end to end 

ii) Non-Mails products and services versus Mails products and services within the 
‘End to end competitive products’ entity, end to end. 

A4.11 A proforma of the required end to end income statements is provided in paragraph 
A7.16. (‘Figure 6”). 

A4.12 The following product profitability statements shall also be prepared. These 
statements shall only include the costs covered in the National Costing 
Methodology: 

  



The Draft Accounting Condition and Regulatory Guidelines Content  

11 

Table 1: Product Profitability Statements to be prepared by Royal Mail. 

No. Statement Scope 
 

1 Access products (all revenue derived from 
external customers)  

‘Downstream services' entity 

2 Pre-sorted D+1 Letters and Large Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

3 Pre-sorted D+2 and later Letters and Large 
Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

4 High volume D+1 unsorted Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

5 High volume D+1 unsorted Large Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

6 High volume unsorted D+2 and later Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

7 High volume unsorted D+2 and later Large 
Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

8 Low volume unsorted non-USO Letters ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

9 Low volume unsorted non-USO Large 
Letters 

‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

10 Non-USO B2X Express PPS ‘End to end only products’ entity 
11 Non-USO B2X Deferred Heavy (>2kg) PPS ‘End to end only products’ entity 
12 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (1kg - 2kg) PPS ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 

‘Downstream services’ entities 
13 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (500g – 1kg) ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 

‘Downstream services’ entities 
14 Non-USO B2X Deferred Light (0-500g) ‘Non-USO products’ upstream and 

‘Downstream services’ entities 
15 USO single piece priority products sold via 

stamps payment channel 
‘USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

16 USO single piece non-priority products sold 
via stamps payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

17 USO single piece priority products sold via 
Meter payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

18 USO single piece non-priority products sold 
via Meter payment channel 

‘USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

19 Other USO services not included above (e.g. 
redirections) 

‘USO products’ upstream and 
‘Downstream services’ entities 

20 Relay ‘End to end only products’ entity 
21 PAF ‘End to end only products’ entity 

 

A4.13 Section 7 below sets out the required proformas for regulatory financial statements 
for the Reported Business and the four separated regulatory financial reporting 
entities as well as for the additional income and product profitability statements 
required as set out above. 
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Section 5 

5 Accounting Methodology  
Introduction 

A5.1 This section sets out the rules for the Royal Mail to allocate and apportion costs, 
revenues, assets and cash flows for the Reported Business1. Section 6 sets out the 
rules for the further separation required to prepare the other regulatory financial 
statements2

A5.2 The documentation of the Accounting Methodology shall be set out in an 
Accounting Methodology Manual and a Costing Manual. These documents are 
required to be provided to Ofcom by Royal Mail to support the production of these 
regulatory financial statements and other regulatory financial reports and should 
fully set out the basis on which these regulatory financial statements and other 
regulatory financial reports have been prepared and audited.  

. 

A5.3 The documentation should be sufficient to allow a competent user of these 
statements and reports to confirm the basis of the audit opinion provided to Ofcom 
and Royal Mail on the regulatory financial statements.  The requirements for the 
form of this documentation are further set out in Section 7.  

A5.4 Royal Mail is required to notify Ofcom in advance of any material changes to the 
Accounting Methodology as per the proforma for change control set out in Appendix 
2 of this document.  

Income Statement 
Introduction 

A5.5 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory income statement for 
the Reported Business to the level of EBIT having taken into account the revenue, 
costs (which should equate to the costs to which the National Costing Methodology 
applies3

A5.6 A proforma of the required income statements are provided in Paragraph  A7.16 
(‘Figures 5 and 6’). A reconciliation with the income statement of RMG ex-POL 
should also be provided together with notes of any material reconciliation 
differences as set out in the proforma in Paragraph  A7.16. (‘Figure 7’).  

) and exceptional items resulting from the operational trading of the 
Reported Business.   

A5.7 In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose any 
material4

                                                           
1defined in Section 4 “Scope of Reported Business” 

items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. 

2defined in Section 4 “Accounting  Separation” 
3http://www2.royalmailgroup.com/sites/default/files/pdfs/ABC_Costing_Manual.pdf 
4 As defined in Section 2 

http://www2.royalmailgroup.com/sites/default/files/pdfs/ABC_Costing_Manual.pdf�
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Revenue Accounting 

A5.8 Revenue is defined as turnover (excluding value added tax and other sales tax) 
plus internal income for  services arising from the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for services provided as part of the operational trading of the 
Reported Business.  

A5.9 The revenue recognition accounting policies should follow those adopted by Royal 
Mail in producing its audited annual statutory accounts.  

A5.10 Revenue should be assigned directly to the appropriate product using the relevant 
information in the Royal Mail billing systems, and should be consistently applied 
across all products and services including stamped and metered mail (see 
paragraph A5.14‘Volumes’ below).  

A5.11 Where it is not possible to directly allocate revenue to products, Royal Mail should 
use best endeavours to find the most appropriate and objective driver to apportion 
the revenue to product and to document this in the Accounting Methodology 
Manual5

A5.12 Reported revenue needs to be split between 

.  

• External Revenues 

• Internal Revenues (transfer charges) from RMG.  

A5.13 Details on the transfer charging guidance can be found in Paragraphs A5.77 to 
A5.84 

Volumes 

A5.14 Royal Mail should use the revenue derived traffic basis as the sole basis for traffic 
measurement used in supporting regulatory financial reporting from 2012-13.   

Costing 

A5.15 The National Costing Methodology to be used for regulatory financial reporting shall 
be that which is set out and published by the Royal Mail in the Costing Manual

National Costing Methodology 

6. 
Material7

A5.16 The Costing Manual should fully describe the National Costing Methodology on the 
basis set out in Section 7. The National Costing Methodology must be consistent 
with the National Costing Rules below.  

 changes to the National Costing Methodology must be notified to Ofcom 
before they are implemented. 

                                                           
5 See Paragraph A7.9 “Supporting documentation” 
6http://www2.royalmailgroup.com/sites/default/files/pdfs/ABC_Costing_Manual.pdf 
7 see Section 2“Materiality” 

http://www2.royalmailgroup.com/sites/default/files/pdfs/ABC_Costing_Manual.pdf�
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National Costing Rules 

A5.17 The National Costing Methodology must be based on Activity Based Costing and 
must:  

1. Activity Based Costing (‘ABC’)  

• Identify (i) all the Activities that the Reported Business performs as part of its 
Operational and Non-operational Business Processes, and (ii) all the Products 
and Sub-products which the Reported business provides;  

• Calculate Activity Costs, using appropriate Resource Drivers, and ensure that the 
costs of the resources which each Activity consumes are attributed to that 
Activity;  

• Assign Activity Costs, using appropriate Activity Drivers, to all the Products and 
Sub-products which are provided as a result of, or are supported by, that 
particular Activity. The assignment of Activity Costs must be undertaken in one of 
the following two ways:  

o Attributing, where a direct causal link between an Activity and the relevant 
Products and Sub-products can be identified and used as the basis for 
assigning costs, or  

o Allocating, where no direct causal link can be identified between an Activity 
and the relevant Products and Sub-products, and instead a reasonable 
assumption needs to be made to assign the Activity Costs to the relevant 
Products and Sub-products.  

A5.18 As far as practicable, the Costing Methodology must reflect the trading operations 
of Royal Mail  as they are undertaken with the exception of Class costing (see Rule 
3), but subject to the additional requirements of the Zonal Costing Rules.  

2. Operational reality  

First Class mail

3. Class costing 

8

A5.19 Class costing must be applied to all avoidable First Class costs which meet the 
following criteria:  

 

• The costs would be avoided, if Royal Mail were not to offer First Class products, 
but the current operational specifications of all other Products were to remain 
unchanged9

• The costs exclude any incremental costs which would be incurred, if all Second 
Class items using the First Class Activities were to be processed alongside other 
Second Class items.  

, and  

                                                           
8 This principle is drafted based on the current specifications of Royal Mail’s First and Second Class products as they are costed with the 
Costing Methodology. The principles will reflecting any changes which are made to the Costing Methodology before the introduction of 
this document . 
9For example, that Second Class mail would continue to be collected and delivered six days a week. 
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Avoidable First Class Costs  

A5.20 All Avoidable First Class Costs must be attributed only to First Class products. 
Avoidable First Class Costs may include, but need not be limited to, the following 
Cost Types:  

• Accommodation;  

• Shift allowance; and  

• Plant & machinery non-running time costs.  

Second Class mail  

A5.21 Class costing must be applied to all avoidable Second Class costs which meet the 
following criteria:  

• The costs would be avoided, if Royal Mail were not to offer First or Second Class 
products, but the current operational specifications of Third Class products were 
to remain unchanged; and  

• The costs exclude any incremental costs which would be incurred, if all Third 
Class items using the First or Second Class Activities were to be processed 
alongside other Third Class items.  

Avoidable Second Class Costs  

A5.22 All Avoidable Second Class Costs must be attributed only to Second Class 
products. Avoidable Second Class Costs may include, but need not be limited to, 
the following Cost Types:  

• Accommodation,  

• Shift allowance, and  

• Plant & machinery non-running time costs.  

A5.23 The relevant categories of costs recorded in Royal Mail’s financial records, 
including the General Ledger cost accounts for the Reported Business, may be 
aggregated into a set of Cost Types before attributing those costs to Activities. Cost 
Types must be selected such that each represents the costs of a single key 
resource being utilised (e.g. staff, machines, accommodation, vehicles).  

4. General Ledger costs and Cost Types  

A5.24 Where appropriate and to the extent possible, Business Processes must be divided 
into Activities.  

5. Activities  

A5.25 All costs aggregated into Cost Types must be attributed to the Activities which 
cause those costs to be incurred. Where a Cost Type is incurred as a result of more 

6. Resource Drivers  
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than one Activity, Resource Drivers must be used to attribute an appropriate share 
of the Cost Type to each Activity.  

A5.26 The Resource Driver for each Cost Type must be:  

• based on the resource consumption giving rise to the Cost Type (e.g. staff hours, 
machine hours, accommodation footprint, vehicle hours), and  

• quantified based on appropriate operational and financial data (including the prior 
year’s costs).  

A5.27 Where applicable, each Product, or a group of similar Products, must be divided 
into a range of Sub-products which identifies, and differentiates between, all the 
applicable and relevant measured characteristics which affect how processing an 
item of that Product, or group of Products, incurs costs. The measuring 
characteristics should, as a minimum include the following:  

7. Products and Sub-products  

• Format (e.g. letter, flat, packet, etc.),  

• Class (e.g. First, Second, Third, etc.),  

• Payment method (e.g. stamped, metered, account, PPI, etc.), and  

• Handling (e.g. Mechanised versus Manual, etc.).  

A5.28 The National Costing Methodology must cost the whole range of Sub-products. For 
the avoidance of doubt, the use of additional measuring characteristics is permitted.  

A5.29 The National Costing Methodology must assign an appropriate share of each 
Activity Cost to each of the relevant Sub-products as set out below. To determine 
how an Activity Cost is to be assigned to the relevant Sub-products, it must first be 
determined into which one of the following categories the Activity Cost falls:  

8. Activity Costs  

a) Attributable Operational Costs: Costs of Activities within a single Operational 
Business Process which have a direct causal link to the processing of some or all 
of the Sub-products; 

b) Attributable Non-operational Costs: Costs of Activities which are directly 
related to certain Products, but are not part of the Operational Business 
Processes and  

c) Aggregate Costs: Activity Costs, or a proportion of an Activity Cost, which are 
assigned in aggregate to notional Sub-products and not incorporated into the unit 
costs of the commercial Sub-products, for the following reasons:  

• The costs do not follow the handling characteristics which are used to define 
Sub-products (see Rule 7) or  

• The costs relate to Activities carried out on behalf of other Royal Mail 
business units for products and services that do not result in external 
revenues attributed to the Reported Business , and do not relate to any of the 
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Products of the Reported Business. These costs must be included in the 
costing covered by the National Costing Methodology to ensure reconciliation 
of costs and data integrity.  

d) Overheads:  

• Pipeline Overheads: Costs of Activities related to one or more Operational 
Business Processes which do not have a direct causal link to any of the Sub-
products being processed, and  

• General Overheads: Costs of Activities related to Non-operational Business 
Processes.  

A5.30 The assignment of Activity Costs to Sub-products must be undertaken using 
appropriate Activity Drivers which are identified and quantified based on the 
following rules:  

9. Activity Drivers  

• Each Activity Cost must be assigned to all the Sub-products which that Activity 
directly contributes to, or indirectly supports, and  

• Activity Drivers must reflect the relative proportions of the workload which the 
totality of all the units of each Sub-product creates for the related Activity.  

A5.31 Three types of Activity Drivers are to be used:  

a) Weighted Volume Drivers (see Rule 10): Weighted Sub-product traffic 
volumes represent the relative workload of processing all the units of each Sub-
product taking into account the proportion of the total number of units which 
consume the relevant Activity  

b) EPMU (see Rule 11): Equi-Proportional Mark-Up methods which allocate costs 
based on the relative proportions of the costs which have already been assigned 
to the relevant Sub-products; and  

c) Other Drivers (see Rule 12): These are used for costs which are directly linked 
to a factor other than mail traffic in the pipeline (e.g. certain network distribution 
costs which depend on vehicle runs).  

A5.32 The following table shows how each type of Activity Cost is to be assigned to Sub-
products: 
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Table 2: Activity Cost assignment to Sub-products. 

 

A5.33 Weighted Volume Drivers must incorporate two types of factors for each relevant 
attributable Activity Cost:  

10. Weighted Volume Drivers  

• Proportional Factors which represent the proportion of the total volume of each 
sub-Product which uses the related Activity; and  

• Weighting Factors which represent the relative proportions of workload that units 
of each sub-Product require from the related Activity  

A5.34 Proportional Factors must be based on operational data collected using 
representative measurements of total volumes (including statistical sampling 
techniques where necessary).  

A5.35 Depending on the nature of the Activity, one or more of the following variables may 
be used as a determinant of the workload to calculate the Weighting Factors:  

a) Time (needed to carry out the Activity): Where appropriate, industrial engineering 
studies must be carried out in accordance with relevant ISO standards;  

b) Weight: Appropriate operational data must be used; and  

c) Size: Appropriate operational data must be used.  

A5.36 Annual reviews must be conducted to ascertain which Proportional Factors and 
Weighting Factors need to be reviewed, and if necessary, updated to ensure that 
they continue to reflect operational reality accurately.  

A5.37 To identify the Proportional Factors and Weighting Factors which may need 
adjusting, as a minimum, the changes during the year in the following areas must 
be considered:  

• Working practices;  

• Technology; and  

• Sub-products mix (relative volumes)  

A5.38 Ad hoc event-driven reviews and updates may be carried out as and when 
necessary.  
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A5.39 EPMU must be used for allocating Overheads (Pipeline and General). Overheads 
must be allocated to all, and only, those Sub-products which they support:  

11. Equi-Proportional Mark-Up (‘EPMU’)  

• Pipeline Overheads must be allocated to all, and only, those Sub-products which 
are processed by that element of the pipeline; and  

• General Overheads must be allocated to all Sub-products which are processed 
through the pipeline taking into account the pipeline Overheads already allocated 
as set out above 

A5.40 EPMU must be applied for each of the Activity Costs within Overheads separately, 
and be based only on the proportions of all the Attributable Costs once they have 
been attributed. EPMU applications should take account of any other costs already 
allocated using EPMU (“nested” approach).  

A5.41 Other Drivers are used for costs (certain Attributable Operational Costs and all 
Attributable Non-operational Direct Costs and Aggregate Costs) which are directly 
linked to a factor other than mail traffic in the pipeline.  

12. Other Drivers  

A5.42 Other Drivers must be defined in a way which appropriately reflects the causal link 
with that factor.  

A5.43 Royal Mail must use the Revenue-derived basis of traffic measurement, whereby 
the Product traffic volume is calculated by dividing the total Product revenue by the 
average Product unit price, in its National Costing Methodology. 

13. Traffic measurement  

A5.44 The measurement method used for each Sub-product must be applied consistently 
within the National Costing Methodology and over time.  

A5.45 All operational data used by the National Costing Methodology must be regularly 
reviewed and where necessary updated to ensure the accuracy of costing and its 
consistency with the operational reality (see Rule 2).  

14. Operational data and sampling  

A5.46 All sampling used by the National Costing Methodology must be based on statistical 
techniques regarded as appropriate and applied by qualified professional 
statisticians.  

A5.47 The integrity of financial and operational data used for the National Costing 
Methodology must be preserved by adequate checks and controls, which must 
include reconciliation of total cost data at appropriate points in the National Costing 
Methodology.  

15. Data integrity  

A5.48 The total amount of input costs relating to any element of the National Costing 
Methodology must be equal to the total amount of output costs relating to that 
element. In particular, the following total figures must be reconciled to each other:  
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• Total costs as per the Reported Business General Ledger accounts,  

• Total activity costs; and  

• Total costs of all sub-products.  

 

A5.49 Royal Mail estimates zonal costs using a spreadsheet model as set out in its March 
2011 Decision

Zonal Costing Methodology 

10 (“the Royal Mail Decision”). This model uses a series of inputs, 
including outputs from the National Costing Methodology, to estimate zonal costs by 
reference to zonal cost differentials relative to relevant national cost outputs of the 
National Costing Methodology.  

A5.50 The model enables geographic variations in the outdoor delivery costs of different 
postcode sectors  to be estimated via a regression of relevant delivery office costs 
against postcode sector characteristics (as relevant cost drivers). 

A5.51 These characteristics are: number of delivery points, area, volume of mail delivered 
per delivery point and the proportion of business delivery points10

A5.52 From the 2012-13 financial year onwards Royal Mail must ensure that its Zonal 
Costing Methodology complies with the Zonal Costing Rules set out below, and is 
documented in the Costing Manual as set out in Paragraph A7.10.  

. 

Zonal Costing Rules 

A5.53 For references to the National Costing Rules see Paragraph A5.15 National Costing 
Methodology, replacing references to “National Costing Methodology” with “Zonal 
Costing Methodology “for the application of the relevant National Costing Rule to 
the corresponding Zonal Costing Rule, except where stated.  

A5.54 The National Costing Rules apply 

1. Activity Based Costing (‘ABC’) 

A5.55 The National Costing Rules apply 

2. Operational reality 

A5.56 The National Costing Rules apply 

3. Class costing 

A5.57 The National Costing Rules apply. In addition Delivery Office Non Staff costs must 
be broken down by Cost Type, and geographic differences in these Cost Types 
reflected in the Zonal Costing Methodology.  

4. Zonal General Ledger costs and Cost Types 

                                                           
10 Royal Mail Wholesale(2011), Costing Methodology to support zonal pricing: a decision, March 4. 
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A5.58 The National Costing Rules apply  

5. Activities 

A5.59 The National Costing Rules apply 

6. Resource Drivers 

A5.60 Where applicable, each Product, or a group of similar Products, must be divided 
into a range of Sub-products which identify, and differentiate between, all the 
applicable and relevant measured characteristics (including Zonal differentiations, 
where material) which affect how processing an item of that Product, or group of 
Products, incurs costs. The measuring characteristics should, as a minimum include 
the following:  

7. Zonal Products and sub-products 

• Format (e.g. letter, flat, packet, etc.),  

• Class (e.g. First, Second, Third, etc.),  

• Payment method (e.g. stamped, metered, account, PPI, etc.), and  

• Handling (e.g. Mechanised versus Manual, etc.).  

• Zonal variations to national costs.  

 
A5.61 The Zonal Costing Methodology must cost the whole range of Sub-products for 

which Royal Mail publishes or notifies prices in accordance with Regulatory 
Conditions which are not geographically uniform. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
use of additional measuring characteristics is permitted.  

A5.62 The National Costing Rules apply 

8. Activity Costs 

A5.63 The National Costing Rules apply 

9. Activity Drivers 

A5.64 The National Costing Rules apply 

10. Weighted Volume Drivers 

A5.65 The National Costing Rules apply 

11.Equi-proportional Mark-up (‘EPMU’) 

A5.66 The National Costing Rules apply 

12. Other Drivers 
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A5.67 The National Costing Rules apply. In addition Mail Characteristics Survey (‘MCS’) 
sampling to ascertain postcode sector traffic should comply with Guideline 14, with 
such compliance documented in the Costing Manual. The MCS sampling used for 
zonal downstream access costs should reflect the downstream volumes (ie. this will 
be the sampling carried out at the Outward Mail Centre) while the MCS sampling 
used for end to end zonal costs (when relevant) should reflect the end to end 
volumes (ie. this will be the sampling carried out at the Inward Mail Centre). 

13. Zonal Traffic measurement 

A5.68 The National Costing Rules apply. In addition Zonal mark ups or mark downs to the 
national weighted average cost should be reviewed at least annually and where 
necessary updated to ensure their consistency with: 

14. Zonal Operational data and sampling 

• The actual values of the explanatory variables of the indoor delivery cost function 
(e.g. Postcode sector number of delivery points, Postcode sector area, volume 
delivered per delivery point and  proportion of business delivery).  

• The updated cost function (updated variable coefficients). 

• The updated mapping of postcode sectors to zones. 

• The updated geographical cost differentials arising from pay rate and other input 
costs differentials. 

A5.69 Where cost functions are used to estimate postcode sectors’ costs, the validity of 
the relevant linear regression should be demonstrated by providing the relevant 
statistical indicators. The cost functions should be derived by qualified professional 
econometricians using data in accordance with these Zonal Costing Rules.  

A5.70 The estimation of postcode sector volumes per delivery point should be based on 
sound sampling techniques. The statistical indicators relevant to the sample should 
be provided to Ofcom to demonstrate that such samples represent the actual 
volumes. 

A5.71 The National Costing Rules apply. In addition the following figures must reconcile to 
each other: 

15. Zonal Data integrity 

• Postcode sector code costs of Delivery Offices should reconcile with Delivery 
Office costs. 

• The total and the unit costs of Postcode sector code costs should reconcile with 
the national costs derived as per the ABC costing methodology. 

• Geographically de-averaged costs of staff and property (and any other relevant 
cost outside the cost function) should reconcile with the geographically averaged 
costs. 
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A5.72 Cost differentials should objectively and accurately reflect all material geographical 
cost differentials of zones for all activities relevant for zonally costed products in the 
Zonal Costing Methodology including those arising from the postcode sector 
variables of the cost function (such as postcode sector area, postcode sector 
number of delivery points, volume delivered per delivery point and proportion of 
business delivery) as well as those arising from pay rate and other input cost 
differentials. 

16. Geographic cost reflectivity  

A5.73 As far as possible, actual postcode sector cost data should be used to determine 
zonal cost differentials for all zones.  

17. Postcode cost data 

A5.74 Different zones should not be defined where the costs per zone are not estimated, 
to standard levels of statistical confidence, to be materially different, and zone 
boundaries should be defined by grouping postcode sectors with similar unit costs 
into the same zone. The number of such zones defined in 2012-13 shall be no more 
than four. Zone boundaries shall be reviewed at least annually based on unit 
postcode sector costs.  

18. Definition of zones 

A5.75 Changes in zonal mark-ups and mark-downs to national costs arising from changes 
in underlying cost, and the mapping of postcode sector costs to zones or other 
changes to zone boundaries, should be reviewed  annually to ensure that weighted 
average zonal unit costs remain equal to the national average unit costs derived 
through the national FAC costing system. Average volumes per zone should also 
equal to national volumes. This means that volumes delivered per postcode sector 
and per zone should equal the total national volumes delivered. 

19. Zonal Mark-ups or Mark-downs 

Exceptional Costs 

A5.76 All exceptional costs arising from the trading operations of Royal Mail relevant to 
the Reported Business which are not already included in the National Costing 
Methodology should also be accounted for in the regulatory income statements of 
the Reported Business. Examples of such exceptional costs are the costs of Royal 
Mail’s “Colleague Share” share scheme, redundancy and restructuring costs. 

Transfer Pricing Methodology 

A5.77 Two different types of transfer charges shall be considered: 

• Transfer charges between the Reported Business and the rest of Royal Mail. A 
transfer charge shall be calculated on an arm’s length basis for each service 
provided. 

• Transfer charges between the separated financial reporting entities within the 
Reported Business, in line with the rules set out in Paragraphs A6.5 to A6.11.   
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A5.78 A transfer charge shall be set for each product or service which is provided to the 
Reported Business by an external business or legal entity that is part of Royal Mail 
Group Limited. Examples of transfer charges between Royal Mail, and its 
subsidiaries and associates, and the Reported Business might include transfers 
from separate companies in the Royal Mail group such as Royal Mail Estates Ltd 
(‘RMEL’) (for the use by the Reported Business of properties owned by this entity),  
Post Offices Limited (for the use of facilities and services), Romec (provider of 
facilities management services) and Quadrant (provider of catering services).  

Transfer charges between the Reported Business and the rest of Royal Mail 

A5.79 Transfer charges might also include transfers between units within Royal Mail as 
the parent company, such as Parcelforce Worldwide. Other transfer charges that 
should be considered and disclosed include the recharges appropriate for the 
Reported Business for services received from central group functions. 

A5.80 The income statement of the Reported Business should take into account only the 
charges between Royal Mail and the Reported Business. The transfer charges 
between the separated financial reporting entities do not need to be considered at 
the Reported Business level. 

A5.81 The transfer charge shall be defined at an arm’s length basis and be calculated 
based on the following approach: 

• If the product or service provided is also provided to customers outside the group, 
the transfer price should be equivalent to the price charged to an external 
customer.  

• If the product is also provided by third parties, the price paid shall be in line with 
the price offered by the third party for a similar product/service. 

• If the product or service is externally  marketed, as it is not provided or offered by 
any third party, the transfer price shall be cost reflective, including an appropriate 
mark-up to provide a return on the capital employed by the business, given the 
relevant risks associated with the service provision concerned.   

A5.82 A Statement of Transfer Charges shall be provided as part of the notes to the 
regulatory financial statements. 

A5.83 This Statement shall set out each major transfer charge separately. In particular the 
following transfer charges should be separately disclosed: 

• Transfer charges between each legal entity in the Royal Mail group and the 
Reported Business. 

• Transfer charges between other parts of Royal Mail Group Limited and the 
Reported business. 

A5.84 A detailed description of the approach and the assumptions used for the calculation 
of the transfer charges shall be disclosed within the Accounting Methodology 
Manual11

                                                           
11 See Paragraph A7.9 “Supporting documentation” 

. 
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Reconciliation to the RMG ex-POL Accounts 

A5.85 The regulatory financial statements of the Reported Business should be reconciled 
to the RMG ex-POL accounts prepared on the basis set out in Section 4, giving 
appropriate detail and explanation of any reconciling items.   

A5.86 For each regulatory financial statement the following two steps should be followed 
for this reconciliation. Each item in the statement shall be reconciled. 

• Reconciliation between the Reported Business and UKLPI; 

• Reconciliation between UKLPI and RMG ex-POL. 

A5.87 Proformas of the resulting reconciliation statement for the income statement are 
presented in Paragraph A7.16 (“Figure 7”) 

A5.88 In addition to these reconciliation statements, Royal Mail shall provide, in the 
accompanying notes to the regulatory financial statements, the detail of the 
significant reconciling items in the reconciliation statement, for each stage of the 
reconciliation, or a reference to the corresponding disclosure in the statutory 
accounts. 

Balance Sheet 
Introduction 

A5.89 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory balance sheet 
statement for the Reported Business.  

A5.90 The capital employed used for this purpose shall be calculated to equal the sum of 
the operational assets and the net working capital (the net value of current assets 
and current liabilities).  

A5.91 The balance sheet of the Reported Business shall report the value of operational 
assets at the end of the relevant financial year and the components of the working 
capital statement.  

A5.92 A reconciliation with the balance sheet of RMG ex-POL should also be provided, 
together with notes of any material reconciliation differences. A proforma of the 
required balance sheet statement and the reconciliation is provided in Paragraph 
A7.16 (”Figures 8 and 9”). 

A5.93 In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose any 
material12

A5.94 Each of the items to be disclosed in the balance sheet are set out below and 
presented together with rules on the approaches that may be used for the allocation 
of these assets and liabilities between the Reported Business and the rest of RMG 
ex-POL.  

 items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. 

A5.95 An overarching rule is that, unless explicitly excluded, all the assets and liabilities 
wholly related to the operations and trading of the Reported Business shall be 

                                                           
12 As defined in Section 2  
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included in its balance sheet. Those assets and liabilities that are only partly related 
to the operations and trading of the Reported Business should be apportioned 
according to the rules set out below.  

Non-current assets  

A5.96 At a minimum, the following non-current assets shall be disclosed: 

Fixed assets (property, plant and equipment):  

A5.97 The value of these assets shall be calculated on a historical cost basis and derived 
from the Net Book Value (‘NBV’) of assets in the Fixed Asset Register (‘FAR’).   

A5.98 The asset types in the FAR shall be grouped based on the assets’ characteristics 
and type of usage.  A note to the regulatory financial statements should detail the 
breakdown of the total fixed asset NBV by main asset classes which should include, 
at a minimum, “land and buildings”, “plant and machinery”, “vehicles” and “fixture 
and equipment”. The total depreciation for each of these classes should also be 
disclosed.   

A5.99 All fixed assets used in the trading operations of the Reported Business should be 
included except for those explicitly excluded (e.g. properties in RMEL). If a transfer 
charge is used in the National Costing Methodology then the values of the 
associated assets should be excluded from the balance sheet of the Reported 
Business.  

A5.100 Any transfer of assets from the Reported Business and replacement by transfer 
charges for the use of such assets must not affect the EBIT of the Reported 
Business and this should be confirmed in the notes to the regulatory financial 
statements.  

A5.101 An allocation methodology shall be defined for each major asset group. The 
allocation of each asset shall depend on the type of assets and on to what extent 
this asset is used by the Reported Business for undertaking trading operations.   

A5.102 The assets’ gross and net values and the accumulated depreciation value should 
be consistent with the value reported in the statutory accounts and with the value of 
annual historic depreciation which is used in the National Costing Methodology. 

Intangible assets 

A5.103 The categorisation of intangible assets in the Reported Business shall reflect the 
categorisation in the Royal Mail Group Limited statutory accounts (i.e. 
inclusion/exclusion of software costs, etc).  Goodwill shall be excluded. The 
allocation of intangible assets to the Reported Business shall reflect the 
characteristics of the assets concerned.   

A5.104 The specific allocation of software costs shall be defined separately based on the 
utilisation of the main software licences as between the Reported Business and the 
rest of RMG ex-POL.   
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A5.105 Specific allocation criteria should also be applied for master franchise licences and 
customer listings.  The approaches used for the allocations of intangible assets 
shall be set out in the Accounting Methodology Manual13

Other non-current assets 

.   

A5.106 Any other non-current asset can be reported in aggregate. However, a note to the 
accounts should be provided detailing the main items included within this category. 
The allocation of this item between the Reported Business and the rest of RMG ex-
POL shall be based on the characteristic of the most material items in the category.   

A5.107 A general allocation driver (such as the proportion of other non-current assets) may 
be used for this allocation if the item is not material14

Current assets  

.It is expected that only a small 
proportion of these assets will be allocated to the Reported Business, as this 
includes items such as investments and derivatives. 

A5.108 At a minimum, the following current asset categories shall be disclosed: 

Trade and other receivables 

A5.109 This category shall include trade receivables as well as pre-payments to third 
parties.   

A5.110 The allocation of this item between the Reported Business and the rest of RMG ex-
POL shall be based on analysis of the component receivables.  In particular 
different bases shall be used for pre-payments and accounts receivable from 
customers.   

A5.111 Prepayments should be allocated based on the service to which they relate.  

A5.112 Trade receivables should be allocated based on the analysis of the receivables and 
the products to which they relate.   

A5.113 A note to the accounts should be provided detailing the amount of any bad debt 
provisions posted against these items. 

Cash and cash equivalent 

A5.114 This category shall include cash and cash equivalents that are maintained for the 
purpose of financing business operations and to enable trading.  

A5.115 Overdrafts should be netted off from the value of cash, in order to provide the 
position of the amount of net cash and short term deposits (for three months or 
less) available to finance the operations of the Reported Business. For this purpose 
cash equivalents shall be defined in line with the treatment in the Royal Mail 
statutory accounts.  

A5.116 A note to the accounts shall be provided detailing the breakdown of the cash and 
cash equivalent amounts by main category (such as cash in hand/bank and 
deposits). 

                                                           
13 See Paragraph A7.11“Supporting documentation” 
14 The materiality level should be consistent with the definition in Section 2. 
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A5.117 Cash and cash equivalents that are managed centrally by RMG ex -POL should be 
allocated to the reported business on the basis that is used to finance its operations 
and enable trading.   

A5.118 An analysis of the use of these assets within the Reported Business versus the rest 
of RMG ex-POL shall be undertaken in order to allocate RMG ex-POL cash and 
cash equivalents to the Reported Business in proportion to its cash requirement for 
trading operation compared to the requirements of the rest of RMG ex-POL.  

A5.119 As the reported business would normally need to hold enough cash or cash 
equivalent to meet its financial obligations in terms of operating and capital 
expenditure from normal trading operations it would be expected that the centrally 
held cash and cash equivalent held by RMG ex-POL would be allocated to the 
amount of operating and capital expenditure incurred by each reported business. 

Other current asset 

A5.120 Any other current asset can be included in this item, the allocation of which 
between the Reported Business and the rest of RMG ex-POL should be based on 
the most material items in the category.  A general allocation driver (such as the 
proportion of other non-current assets) may be used for this allocation if the item is 
not material. 

Current liabilities  

A5.121 At a minimum, the following current liabilities categories should be disclosed: 

Trade and other payables 

A5.122 For trade payables the allocation between the Reported Business and the rest of 
RMG ex-POL should be based on the analysis of the main account payables. Any 
analysis of the expenditures to which the payables refer should indicate whether the 
payable relates to the Reported Business, or how to apportion it between the 
Reported Business and the rest of RMG ex-POL.  

A5.123 For deferred income, the allocation should be based on the allocation of the 
corresponding income in the income statement.  

A5.124 For other payables a general allocation may be used based on the most material 
items in the category.  

A5.125 A note to the accounts shall be submitted detailing the breakdown of the amounts 
by main categories, such as trade payables, other payables, accruals and deferred 
income. 

Financial liabilities 

A5.126 This category shall include interest bearing loans (with less than a year maturity), 
leases and derivative financial liabilities.  The allocation of the liabilities between the 
Reported Business and the rest of RMG ex-POL shall be based on an analysis of 
each material item: 

• An analysis of the loans shall be undertaken to demonstrate whether these have 
been taken in relation to a specific business unit or asset or whether it is used to 
provide finance to the Reported Business trading operations and therefore 
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whether a proportion of these liabilities should be apportioned to the Reported 
Business. Similar allocation drivers to those used for cash balances shall be 
used. A note to the accounts shall be provided describing the details of the 
facilities (for example, when repayable, interest rates, etc.) 

• The allocation of lease liabilities shall be matched to the allocation of the 
operational asset to which the liability relates. All the leases which are related to 
the trading activities of the Reported Business shall be allocated to the Reported 
Business. 

• General drivers may be used for the apportionment of derivatives, given the 
limited materiality of this item 

Provisions and other current liabilities 

A5.127 Provisions and any other current liabilities not included above shall be listed under 
this category.   

A5.128 An analysis of the main provisions shall be undertaken to understand whether they 
relate to a specific business unit or they relate to the trading operations of the 
Reported Business and therefore shall be allocated between the Reported Business 
and the rest of RMG ex-POL.  

A5.129 The allocation of other current liabilities shall be defined for the most material items, 
and a general allocation could be used to allocate all the non material items (which 
could, for example, be apportioned based on the apportionment of all other 
liabilities).  

A5.130 An analysis of the main provisions shall be undertaken to understand whether they 
relate to a specific business unit or should be apportioned between the Reported 
Business and the rest of RMG ex-POL.  It is unlikely that only one driver, such as 
people costs, could be used for allocating all provisions, unless it is demonstrated 
that this driver is appropriate for the allocation of the large majority of all provisions. 

Reconciliation to Royal Mail Accounts  

A5.131 The balance sheet statement for the Reported Business should be reconciled to the 
RMG ex-POL balance sheet giving appropriate detail and explanation of any 
reconciling items. For each statement the following two steps should be followed for 
the reconciliation. Each item in the statement shall be reconciled. 

• Reconciliation between Reported Business and UKLPI; 

• Reconciliation between UKLPI and RMG ex-POL.  

A5.132 Proformas of these statements are presented in Paragraph A7.16 (“Figure 9”) 

A5.133 In addition to these statements, Royal Mail shall provide in the accompanying notes 
the detail of the significant reconciling items in the reconciliation statement, for each 
stage of the reconciliation, or a reference to the corresponding disclosure in the 
statutory accounts. 
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Cash Flow 

Introduction 

A5.134 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory cash flow statement 
for the Reported Business. Royal Mail is required to provide a separate trading cash 
flow statement for the Reported Business for each financial year in line with the 
rules in this section.  

A5.135 A reconciliation with the cash flow statement of RMG ex-POL should also be 
provided, together with notes of any material reconciliation differences. Proformas 
of the required cash flow statement and the reconciliation are provided in Paragraph 
A7.16 (”Figures 10 and 11”).  

A5.136 In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose any 
material15

Operating profit 

 items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. 

A5.137 The value of operating profit, before exceptional items, shall be provided and should 
reconcile with the value shown in the income statement. 

Depreciation 

A5.138 Depreciation shall be added back to the operating profit for the trading cash flow. 

Pension charge 

A5.139 This should correspond to the amount of the pension contribution from trading 
operations shown in the income statement.  This shall be netted off the operating 
profits and replaced by the total amount of cash paid to the pension fund for 
ongoing pension contributions for the staff identified to the Reported Business via 
the National Costing Methodology within the year. 

Share of profits of joint venture and associates 

A5.140 Cash and non-cash items in this category should be excluded from the regulatory 
financial statements of the Reported Business.  

Movements in working capital 

A5.141 This category shall include changes in working capital for each of the main working 
capital items which are separately presented in the balance sheet of the Reported 
Business.  

A5.142 The allocation of these movements shall also be consistent with the allocation of the 
balance sheet items and use the same combination of drivers.   

Purchase of intangibles and other fixed asset investments  

A5.143 The allocation of the major purchases categorised as intangibles should inform the 
allocation of this item.  In particular, the allocation of software purchases shall be 

                                                           
15 As defined in Section 2 
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based on a review of the main software items purchased. For each major new 
software licence purchased, an analysis showing which part of RMG ex-POL uses 
the software should inform the allocation. The number of users and their business 
function could be used as a driver for the allocation between the Reported Business 
and the rest of RMG ex-POL.  

Purchase of property, plants and equipment 

A5.144 This category shall include the cash employed for the purchase of capitalised 
assets that relate to operational trading activities of the Reported Business. The 
allocation of cash spent between the Reported Business and RMG ex-POL for this 
purpose shall be consistent with the principles used for the allocation of fixed assets 
in the income statement and balance sheet of the Reported Business.  

A5.145 An analysis of the assets purchased in the year shall be undertaken and the capital 
expenditure shall be grouped according to the asset categories defined in the FAR 
and used for the allocation of fixed assets.  Accordingly, the same set of drivers 
shall be used for the allocation. 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 

A5.146 This category shall include the cash raised from disposals of assets on the balance 
sheet that relate to operational trading activities of the Reported Business.  

Cash flows from other investment activities 

A5.147 To the extent that any cash flows from investment activities relate to operational 
trading activities of the Reported Business, they shall be disclosed, with the details 
of the main investments disclosed in a separate note to the accounts. 

Exceptional cash flows 

A5.148 Any exceptional cash flow item shall be separately detailed to the extent that they 
relate to operational trading activities of the Reported Business. The allocation of 
these charges shall reflect the nature of the charge and an appropriate driver used.  
Any immaterial item could be allocated based on a general allocation method. 

Financing cost paid 

A5.149 The allocation of these financing charges shall reflect the treatment in the balance 
sheet to the extent that they relate to operational trading activities of the Reported 
Business. In particular the payment towards current liabilities should be broken 
down within this item.  

Reconciliation to Royal Mail Accounts  

A5.150 The cash flow statement for the Reported Business should be reconciled to the 
RMG ex-POL cash flow statement giving appropriate detail and explanation of any 
reconciling items. For each statement the following two steps should be followed for 
the reconciliation. Each item in the statement shall be reconciled. 

• Reconciliation between Reported Business and UKLPI; 

• Reconciliation between UKLPI and RMG ex-POL.  
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A5.151 Proformas of these statements are presented in Paragraph A7.16 (“Figure 11”) 

A5.152 In addition to these statements, Royal Mail shall provide in the accompanying notes 
the detail of the significant reconciling items in the reconciliation statement, for each 
stage of the reconciliation, or a reference to the corresponding disclosure in the 
statutory accounts. 
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Section 6 

6 Separation Methodology Rules 

Introduction  

A6.1 This section provides rules for the separation of revenues, costs, assets and 
liabilities between the relevant financial reporting entities and product groups within 
the Reported Business. The details of this process should be documented in the 
Accounting Methodology Manual. Further details of this can be found in Paragraph 
A7.11.  

Income statement 

A6.2 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory income statements 
for the Reported Business to the level of EBIT as defined in Paragraphs A4.7 to 
A4.12 .  In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose 
any material16

Apportionment of revenues 

 items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. 

A6.3 Revenues shall be directly allocated to products and reported in the relevant entities 
following the product mappings for lines A and C defined in Paragraphs A4.7 and 
A4.8. Revenues associated with the provision of downstream services to external 
customers (from access products provided by Royal Mail Wholesale) should be 
allocated to the downstream entity along with notional revenues associated with 
transfer charges from the ‘USO products’ and the ‘Non-USO products’ entities to 
the downstream entities.  

Apportionment of costs  

A6.4 Costs should be allocated across the relevant entities within the Reported Business 
as follows. 

i) All Sales Product Handling Characteristic Combinations (‘SPHCC’) in the 
National Costing Methodology should be mapped to one or more specific 
reporting entities.  

ii) For those costs included in the National Costing Methodology, SPHCC costs 
shall then be allocated to entities in line with the outputs of this National Costing 
Methodology. Where SPHCCs are mapped to more than one reporting entity, the 
basis of the allocation of the SPHCC costs concerned shall be included in the 
National Costing Methodology and set out in the Costing Manual.   

iii) For those costs not included in the National Costing Methodology that are 
exceptional they should be allocated to entities in line with the underlying driver 
(e.g. the costs of Royal Mail’s “Colleague Share” share scheme, redundancy  and 
restructuring costs)  

                                                           
16 As defined in Section 2 
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Transfer pricing between separated entities 

A6.5 Where one separated financial reporting entity within the Reported Business 
provides an internal service to one or more other separated financial reporting 
entities by the nature of the activities identified to the entity in the National Costing 
Methodology, the value of that service is its transfer price.  

Transfer pricing across Line A 

A6.6 Where products identified to the ‘USO products’ entity use activities undertaken in 
the ‘end to end only products’ entity, the value of these activities shall be transfer 
priced. These transfer prices shall be determined by applying a mark-up of 10% to 
the FAC costs of the products in question.  

Transfer pricing across Line B 

A6.7 The transfer prices shall be derived with the following principles: 

Equivalence pricing 

A6.8 Use of available open market or regulated prices of externally provided products 
and services as the basis of transfer prices, where appropriate comparable 
products and services exist , applying necessary adjustments for FAC cost 
differences as identified from the outputs of the Costing Methodology, and a 10% 
mark-up to such differences. The following approach shall be adopted for this 
purpose: 

• A comparable reference wholesale product sold by Royal Mail to external 
customers should be identified for each downstream transfer price to be derived; 

• The operational and activity differences between (i) the downstream services to 
be transfer priced, and (ii) the comparable reference wholesale product should be 
identified, and the FAC difference of such operational and activity differences 
should be identified in a manner consistent with the Costing Methodology; and  

• The transfer price should equal the sum of the price of the comparable reference 
wholesale product and 1.1 times this FAC difference.  

A6.9 Transfer prices for retail products in D+1 markets shall be calculated applying the 
above principle of equivalence, and using broadly comparable 2nd class (standard) 
access products.      

Cost-plus pricing 

A6.10 In the event that appropriate comparable products and services do not exist, 
transfer prices shall be determined by applying a mark-up of 10% to the FAC costs 
of the downstream services in question.   

Grouping 

A6.11 Single transfer prices may be applied to a group of downstream services, providing 
the grouping meets the following requirements: 

i) First, distinct transfer prices must be derived for downstream services supporting 
retail products in distinct markets, based on the markets as set out by Ofcom 
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ii) Next, within the above distinct categories, distinct transfer prices must be derived 
for downstream services where the downstream services are used to support 
retail products with materially different handling characteristics as defined in the 
National Costing Methodology; and  

iii) Finally, within the above distinct categories, as applicable, distinct transfer prices 
must be derived where different ex ante regulatory safeguards have been 
imposed by Ofcom (for example for specific universal service products).  

Balance Sheet 

A6.12 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory balance sheet 
statements for separated financial reporting entities within the Reported Business, 
separated across the product mappings for lines as defined in Paragraphs A4.7 and 
A4.8.  

A6.13 The structure of the balance sheet for the separated financial reporting entities shall 
be the same as that for the balance sheet provided for the Reported Business as a 
whole. 

A6.14  In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose any 
material17

A6.15 The allocations of balance sheet items need to be consistent with the corresponding 
costs and revenues allocated for the relevant income statements for the separated 
financial reporting entities as set out in Section 

 items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business 

6 above.  

Non-current assets  

A6.16 The following non-current assets shall be disclosed for each separated financial 
reporting entity: 

Fixed assets (property, plant and equipment) 

A6.17 The allocation of these asset values shall be undertaken using an approach which 
is consistent with that used to derive the balance sheet of the Reported Business 
and with the allocation of associated depreciation costs in the National Costing 
Methodology.  

A6.18 The allocation of each asset shall depend on the extent this asset is used by the 
separated entity concerned.  Where an asset is shared between entities, it shall be 
apportioned to these entities based on an appropriate driver consistent with the 
basis for apportioning depreciation costs used in the National Costing Methodology.  

A6.19 A note to the regulatory financial statements should be provided, detailing the 
breakdown of the total fixed asset Net Book Value charged to each entity by main 
asset classes. The total depreciation for each of these classes should also be 
disclosed.  Main asset classes should include, at a minimum, “land and buildings”, 
“plant and machinery”, “vehicles” and “fixture and equipment”. 

 

                                                           
17 As defined in Section 2 
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Intangible assets 

A6.20 The categorisation of intangibles shall be consistent with the categorisation defined 
for the Reported Business as a whole.    

A6.21 The allocation of this item to the four separated financial reporting entities shall be 
based on the analysis of the material intangible assets, and appropriate drivers for 
each asset should be used.  For example, the allocation of computer software 
values should be determined on the basis of the function of the software and its 
utilisation by the various products or activities identified to the separated financial 
reporting entities via the National Costing Methodology. The drivers will be 
consistent with those defined for the Reported Business as a whole.  

A6.22 The approach used for the allocation, and the drivers used, shall be set out in the 
Accounting Methodology Manual.  

Other non-current assets 

A6.23 The values of any other non-current assets can be reported in aggregate as part of 
this item. However, a note to the regulatory financial statements should be provided 
detailing the main items included within this category.  

A6.24 The allocation of this item shall be based on the characteristic of the most material 
items in the category.  A general allocation driver (such as the proportion of other 
non-current assets) may be used for this allocation if the item is not material.  

Current assets  

A6.25 At a minimum, the following current asset categories shall be disclosed, subject to 
materiality thresholds: 

Trade and other receivables 

A6.26 This category shall include pre-payments as well as trade receivables.  Consistent 
with the allocation to the Reported Business as a whole, different drivers shall be 
used for prepayments and trade receivables.  

A6.27 Prepayments should be allocated based on an analysis of the type of service 
provided by the third parties. Prepayments should be allocated to activities and 
entities across all lines of separation on this basis.  

A6.28 Trade receivables should be allocated to the products they relate to.  The 
percentage of revenues to the different products can be used for apportioning 
account receivables, and the breakdown of operating costs could be used to 
apportion prepayments. The only trade receivables allocated to the downstream 
entity should be those related to receivables from external customers.  

Cash and cash equivalent 

A6.29 Consistent with the procedure adopted for the Reported Business as a whole, 
overdrafts should be netted off from the value of value of cash and cash equivalents 
shall be defined in line with commonly accepted accounting practice and with the 
treatment in the Royal Mail statutory accounts, and include deposits for three 
months or less.  
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A6.30 The allocation of cash and cash equivalent to the different separated entities shall 
be based on the cash requirements by each entity.  As set out in Paragraph A5.114 
and A5.117 above, the cash requirements are likely to depend on the operating and 
capital expenditure commitments related to the trading operations of each 
separated financial reporting entity.  

A6.31 An appropriate driver for the allocation of cash and cash within the Reported 
Business is therefore the annual operating and capital expenditure related to each 
entity. This shall be calculated based on the outputs of the costing model and the 
allocation of non-current assets. 

 

Other current assets 

A6.32 Any other current asset can be included in this category.  

A6.33 The allocation of this item should be based on the most material items in the 
category.  A general allocation driver (such as the proportion of other non-current 
assets) may be used for this purpose. 

Current liabilities  

A6.34 Consistent with the requirements for the Reported Business as a whole, the 
following current liability categories should be disclosed, subject to materiality 
thresholds: 

Trade and other payables 

A6.35 For trade payables the allocation shall be based on the analysis of the main 
account payables and the activities or services they relate to.  

A6.36 For deferred income the allocation should be based on the allocation of the 
corresponding income. The only deferred income allocated to the downstream 
entity should be that related to receivables from external customers of access 
products.  

A6.37 For other payables a general allocation may be used based on the most material 
items in the category.  

Financial liabilities: 

A6.38 These include interest bearing loans (with less than a year maturity), leases and 
derivative financial liabilities.  The allocation of the liabilities shall be based on the 
analysis of each material item: 

• An analysis of the short term loans shall be undertaken to demonstrate whether 
these have been taken in relation to a specific asset. If so, the loan should be 
allocated in the same way as the corresponding asset. Otherwise, if the loan 
refers more generally to the whole Reported Business, it should be allocated to 
all entities using the same drivers to those used for cash balances.  

• The allocation of lease liabilities shall be matched to the allocation of the asset to 
which the liability relates.  
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• General drivers may be used for the apportionment of derivatives, given the 
limited materiality of this item. 

Provisions and other current liabilities 

A6.39 Provisions and any other current liability not included above shall be listed under 
this category.   

A6.40 The allocation of other current liabilities shall be defined for the most material items, 
and a general allocation can be used to allocate all the non material items (which 
could, for example, be apportioned based on the apportionment of all other 
liabilities).  

A6.41 An analysis of the main provisions shall be undertaken to understand the activity to 
which the provisions relate, and these separate provisions should each be allocated 
using appropriate drivers. 

Cash Flow  

A6.42 This section sets out rules for the preparation of the regulatory cash flow statements 
for the separated financial reporting entities within the Reported Business, 
separated across the product mappings for lines as defined in Paragraphs A4.7 and 
A4.8.   

A6.43 In addition to the main items listed in this section, Royal Mail shall disclose any 
material18

A6.44 The items to be separately identified within the operational cash flow statements of 
the separated financial reporting entities and their allocation rules are set out below. 
They are consistent with those for the Reported Business in Section 

 items and changes, in a separate note to the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business 

5.   

A6.45 As with the separated balance sheets, the drivers used for the apportionments of 
costs to the Reported Business shall be used to allocate the associated cash to the 
separated entities. 

Operating profit 

A6.46 The value of operating profit, before exceptional items, shall be provided and, for 
each business entity, these values should reconcile with the value shown in the 
income statements. 

Depreciation 

A6.47 Depreciation shall be added back to the operating profit. The value and the 
allocation of depreciation costs shall be taken directly from the income statements 
of the separated financial reporting entities. 

Pension Charge 

A6.48 This should correspond to the amount of the pension contribution in the income 
statement and shall be netted off the operating profits and replaced by the total 
amount of cash paid to the pension fund within the year. The allocation of this item 

                                                           
18 As defined in Section 2 
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shall reflect the allocation in the income statement for the separated financial 
reporting entity concerned. 

Share of profits of joint venture and associates 

A6.49 Cash and non-cash items in this category shall be removed for the calculation of the 
cash flows.  

Movements in working capital 

A6.50 This category shall include changes in working capital, where changes in each of 
the main working capital items in the entities’ balance sheets should be separately 
presented. The allocation of these movements shall also be consistent with the 
allocation of the balance sheet items concerned.   

Purchase of intangibles and other fixed asset investments 

A6.51 The cash employed for the purchase of capitalised assets that relate to operational 
trading activities of the Reported Business should be added back for the separated 
financial reporting entities.  

A6.52 The allocation of cash spent between the Reported Business and RMG ex-POL for 
this purpose shall be consistent with the principles used for the allocation of fixed 
assets in the income statement and balance sheet of the Reported Business.  

A6.53 An analysis of the assets purchased in the year shall be undertaken and the capital 
expenditure shall be grouped according to the asset categories defined in the FAR 
and used for the allocation of fixed assets.  Accordingly, the same set of drivers 
shall be used for the allocation to the separated financial reporting entities. 

Purchase of property plants and equipment 

A6.54 This category shall include the cash employed for the purchase of capitalised 
assets and should replace the depreciation charge in the income statement. The 
allocation of the cash shall be consistent with the allocation of depreciation and 
fixed assets in the income statements and balance sheets of the entities concerned.  

Disposal of property plants and equipment 

A6.55 This category shall include the cash raised from disposals of assets on the balance 
sheet to the extent that they relate to operational trading activities of the individual 
separated financial reporting entity. 

Cash flows from other investment activities 

A6.56 Any cash flows from investment activities shall be disclosed, to the extent that they 
relate to operational trading activities of the individual separated financial reporting 
entity.  

Exceptional cash flows 

A6.57 Any exceptional cash flow item shall be separately detailed to the extent that they 
relate to operational trading activities of the individual separated financial reporting 
entity. The allocation of these charges shall reflect the nature of the charge and an 
appropriate driver should be used.   
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A6.58 Any immaterial item could be allocated based on a general allocation method. 

Financing cost paid 

A6.59 The allocation of these financing charges shall reflect the treatment in the balance 
sheet to the extent that they relate to operational trading activities of the individual 
separated financial reporting entity. In particular the payment towards current and 
non-current liabilities should be broken down within this item. 
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Section 7 

7 Reporting and Disclosure 
Introduction 

A7.1 This section sets out rules for the reporting and disclosure framework for the 
regulatory financial statements and other regulatory financial reports produced by 
Royal Mail in accordance with this document. 

Scope and frequency 

A7.2 The scope and frequency requirements for the regulatory financial statements and 
other regulatory financial reports to be produced by Royal Mail for the 2012-13 
financial year onwards are set out in the table below, which also highlights audit and 
disclosure requirements, and additions to the 2011-12 framework in the Initial 
Conditions. Annual reports are to be provided within four months of year-end and 
quarterly reports within three months of quarter-end.  

Table 3: Summary of Royal Mail Reporting and Disclosure Requirements.   
Requirement Audited? Published? Existing 

requirement? 
Annual consolidated income 
statement to profit after tax, full cash 
flow, and full balance sheet for RMG 
ex-POL 

Y Y N 

Annual updates of Strategic Plan for 
RMG ex-POL 

N N N 

Quarterly cash flow statement and 
two-year projections for RMG ex-
POL 

N N N 

Annual income statement to EBIT, 
and operating balance sheets and 
cash flow statements for Reported 
Business  and the four separated 
regulatory financial reporting entities 

Y Y Y for Reported 
Business; N for 
four component 
entities 

Annual income statements to EBIT 
for USO, non-USO and non-Mails 

Y Y Y  

Quarterly income statements to EBIT 
for Reported Business, the four 
separated regulatory financial 
reporting entities, and USO, non-
USO and non-Mails 

N Y N 

Annual product profitability 
statements 

Y N except 
access 

Y but now 
extended 

Quarterly product profitability 
statements 

N N except PAF 
and Relay 

Y but now 
extended 

Monthly revenue and traffic 
information 

N N Y 

Quarterly updates of Costing Manual 
and Accounting Methodology Manual 

N Costing Manual 
excluding 
Technical 
Appendices 

Costing Manual 
excluding 
Technical 
Appendices 
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A7.3 Royal Mail should prepare full accounts (income and product profitability 
statements, balance sheet, and cash flow statement) for RMG ex-POL along with 
quarterly cash flow projections for the subsequent two years. 

A7.4 The income statement requirement to EBIT level for the Reported Business and its 
component entities is in principal the same as that produced by Royal Mail for 2011-
12, although for 2012-13 there is an additional requirement to show separately 
details of transfer charging for revenue and expenditure (see  Paragraph A7.16 
“Figure 5”).  

A7.5 The Balance Sheets for the Reported Business and its component separated 
financial reporting entities must show detail of their respective assets and liabilities, 
in so far as they result from operational trading activity. The required formats for the 
associated cash flow statements are consistent with the required proformas for the 
income statements and balance sheets.  

A7.6 Long term liabilities and assets of RMG ex-POL outside of those associated with 
the operational trading activity of the Reported Business are excluded from the 
statements of the Reported Business, but form part of the reconciliation to the full 
RMG ex-POL accounts.  

A7.7 The Product Profitability Statements are of similar form to those previously 
produced by Royal Mail for regulatory financial reporting purposes.    

Disclosure 

A7.8 Royal Mail should publish the annual and quarterly regulatory financial statements 
and profit profitability statements, together with accompanying notes and 
explanations, set out in Table 3 above. 

Supporting documentation 

A7.9 The documentation required to be provided to Ofcom by the Royal Mail to support 
the regulatory financial statements and other regulatory financial reports consists of 
the following documents.  

A7.10 The Costing Manual produced by Royal Mail in relation to Initial Condition [ref] shall 
be maintained in its existing form, and updated, with changes identified to Ofcom on 
a quarterly basis , subject to the addition of equivalent documentation of the Zonal 
Costing Methodology, sufficient to allow a competent user of the Costing Manual 
with a reasonable degree of professional skill to reproduce the results of the 
National Costing Methodology and Zonal Costing Methodology without the need for 
further instruction or interpretation.   

Costing Manual  

A7.11 The Accounting Methodology Manual should document those aspects of the 
Accounting Methodology not documented in the Costing Manual. It should be 
produced by Royal Mail by [date] 2012 and subsequently maintained and updated 
by Royal Mail, with changes identified to Ofcom on a quarterly basis. It should 
contain the level of detail necessary to allow a user, with a reasonable degree of 
professional accounting skill and when used in conjunction with the Costing Manual, 
to gain a clear understanding of how the regulatory financial statements and other 

Accounting Methodology Manual 
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regulatory reports have been prepared without the need for further instruction or 
interpretation. 

A7.12 It should include, at a minimum, a detailed description of the methodology followed 
in the identification of the relevant Royal Mail costs for RMG ex-POL and the 
Reported Business and the separate regulatory reporting entities within the 
Reported Business. Separate descriptions should be provided for all the main items 
in the income statements, balance sheet and cash flow statements, and including:  

• A definition of the relevant reporting entities, consistent with the requirements in 
this document, and a mapping of all activities and services to these entities. 

• A description of the data sources used to calculate inputs and allocations. 

• The methodology and calculations performed to determine transfer charges, in 
sufficient detail to enable Ofcom to confirm that the calculated transfer charges 
follow the principles outlined in  Paragraphs A4.7 and A4.8.and Paragraphs A6.5 
to A6.11 Royal Mail is required to notify Ofcom in advance of any material 
changes to the Accounting Methodology as per the proforma for change control 
set out in Appendix 2 to this document.   

A7.13 Royal Mail is required to notify Ofcom in advance of any material changes to the 
Accounting Methodology as per the proforma for change control set out in Appendix 
2 to this document.   

Assurance 

A7.14 The regulatory financial statements, and supporting notes and explanations, shall 
be subject to audit on the basis set out in Table 3 above. With respect to the 2012-
13 financial year only, the audit opinion provided by the auditors of the annual and 
quarterly regulatory accounts (as defined above) should address whether the 
accounts have been “properly prepared”, in all material respects, in accordance with 
this document (that is, the opinion should be of the broad form currently provided by 
Royal Mail’s auditors). 

A7.15 The scope of the audit shall be set out in a tri-partite agreement between Ofcom, 
Royal Mail and the auditors and Royal Mail should select, appoint and remunerate 
the auditors of the regulatory financial reports. However, Royal Mail should agree 
the terms of the engagement with Ofcom, and Ofcom should have the right to 
require a change of auditors, if it demonstrates that the existing auditors are no 
longer suitable to carry out the audit.   

Format 

Pro-forma statements to be produced 

A7.16 This section provides the proforma primary statements – income statement, 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow as well as reconciliations of these statements 
between RMG and the RMH consolidated statements, as they appear in the 
published RMH plc Annual Report and Financial Statements. In addition this section 
provides the required proformas for the quarterly cash flow forecast as described in 
Paragraph A3.1 and the product profitability statements as described in Paragraph 
A4.12. 
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Figure 1: Pro-forma consolidated income statement and reconciliation to RMH 
consolidated accounts 
This income statement is to meet the financeability requirements as set out in Section 3 of 
this document and is to be provided on an annual basis. These accounts shall include notes 
which set out detail at the same level of, and consistent with, the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business.These notes should also reconcile the consolidated 
income statement of Royal Mail and RMG ex-POL to the regulatory financial statements. In 
addition this consolidated income statement for RMG ex-POL should be reconciled to the 
Royal Mail Strategic Business Plan. 

 

Consolidated income statement (annual)

RMG ex-POL
POL and other 

reconciling items
RMH

Continuing operations
Turnover xxx xxx xxx
Network Subsidy Payment xxx xxx xxx
Revenue xxx xxx xxx
People costs excluding ColleagueShare and restructuring costs xxx xxx xxx
Distribution and conveyance operating costs xxx xxx xxx
Other operating costs xxx xxx xxx
Share of post tax profit from joint ventures and associates xxx xxx xxx
Operating profit before exceptional items xxx xxx xxx
Modernisation costs – operating exceptional items xxx xxx xxx
ColleagueShare – ‘share’ scheme value xxx xxx xxx

dividend xxx xxx xxx
business transformation xxx xxx xxx

Restructuring costs xxx xxx xxx
Impairments xxx xxx xxx

Operating profit after modernisation costs before other operating exceptional items xxx xxx xxx
Other operating exceptional items xxx xxx xxx
Operating (loss)/profit xxx xxx xxx
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment xxx xxx xxx
Profit on disposal of associate company xxx xxx xxx
Profit before financing and taxation xxx xxx xxx
Finance costs xxx xxx xxx
Finance income xxx xxx xxx
Net pensions interest xxx xxx xxx
Loss before taxation xxx xxx xxx
Taxation charge xxx xxx xxx
Loss for the financial year from continuing operations xxx xxx xxx
(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holder of the parent company xxx xxx xxx
Non-controlling interest xxx xxx xxx
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Figure 2: Pro-forma consolidated balance sheet statement and reconciliation to RMH 
consolidated accounts 
This balance sheet statement is to meet the financeability requirements as set out in Section 
3 of this document and is to be provided on an annual basis. These accounts shall include 
notes which set out detail at the same level of, and consistent with, the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. These notes should also reconcile the consolidated 
balance sheet statements of Royal Mail and RMG ex-POL to the regulatory financial 
statements. In addition this consolidated balance sheet statement for RMG ex-POL should 
be reconciled to the Royal Mail Strategic Business Plan. 

 

Consolidated balance sheet statement (annual)

RMG ex-POL
POL and other 

reconciling items
RMH

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment xxx xxx xxx
Leasehold land payment xxx xxx xxx
Goodwill xxx xxx xxx
Intangible assets xxx xxx xxx
Investments in joint ventures and associates xxx xxx xxx
Financial assets – pension escrow investments xxx xxx xxx

investments xxx xxx xxx
derivatives xxx xxx xxx

Other receivables xxx xxx xxx
Deferred tax assets xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx
Non-current assets held for sale xxx xxx xxx
Current assets
Inventories xxx xxx xxx
Trade and other receivables xxx xxx xxx
Income tax receivable xxx xxx xxx
Financial assets - investments xxx xxx xxx

derivatives xxx xxx xxx
Cash and cash equivalents xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx
Total assets xxx xxx xxx
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables xxx xxx xxx
Financial liabilities – interest bearing loans and borrowings xxx xxx xxx

obligations under finance lease and hire purchase contracts xxx xxx xxx
derivatives xxx xxx xxx

Income tax payable xxx xxx xxx
Provisions xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities - interest bearing loans and borrowings xxx xxx xxx

obligations under finance lease and hire purchase contracts xxx xxx xxx
derivatives xxx xxx xxx

Provisions xxx xxx xxx
Retirement benefit obligation – pension deficit xxx xxx xxx
Other payables xxx xxx xxx
Deferred tax liabilities xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx
Total liabilities xxx xxx xxx
Net liabilities xxx xxx xxx
Equity
Share capital
Share premium xxx xxx xxx
Retained earnings xxx xxx xxx
Reserves xxx xxx xxx
Equity attributable to equity holder of parent company xxx xxx xxx
Non-controlling interest xxx xxx xxx
Total equity xxx xxx xxx
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Figure 3: Pro-forma consolidated cash flow statement and reconciliation to RMH 
consolidated accounts 
This cash flow statement is to meet the financeability requirements as set out in Section 3 of 
this document and is to be provided on an annual basis. These accounts shall include notes 
which set out detail at the same level of, and consistent with, the regulatory financial 
statements for the Reported Business. These notes should also reconcile the consolidated 
cash flow statement of Royal Mail and RMG ex-POL to the regulatory financial statements. 
In addition this consolidated cash flow statement for RMG ex-POL should be reconciled to 
the Royal Mail Strategic Business Plan. 

 

 

Consolidated cash flow statement (annual)

RMG ex-POL
POL and other 

reconciling items
RMH

Cash flow from operating activities
Operating profit before exceptional items xxx xxx xxx
Adjustment for: xxx xxx xxx
Depreciation and amortisation xxx xxx xxx
Share of post tax profit from joint ventures and associates xxx xxx xxx
Working capital and other non-cash movements: xxx xxx xxx
Increase in inventories xxx xxx xxx
Decrease in receivables xxx xxx xxx
Decrease in payables xxx xxx xxx
Increase in client receivables xxx xxx xxx
Increase/(decrease) in client payables xxx xxx xxx
Net increase in derivative assets xxx xxx xxx
Increase in non-exceptional provisions xxx xxx xxx
Cash paid in respect of retirement benefit obligations in excess of that charged in operating profit xxx xxx xxx
Cash payments in respect of operating exceptional items (see note (a) below): xxx xxx xxx
ColleagueShare/business transformation payments xxx xxx xxx
Other xxx xxx xxx
Cash outflow from operations xxx xxx xxx
Income tax paid xxx xxx xxx
Net cash outflow from operating activities xxx xxx xxx
Cash flows from investing activities xxx xxx xxx
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates xxx xxx xxx
Finance income received xxx xxx xxx
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment xxx xxx xxx
Proceeds from disposal of associate company xxx xxx xxx
Purchase of property, plant and equipment xxx xxx xxx
Acquisition of businesses xxx xxx xxx
Purchase of intangible assets xxx xxx xxx
Payment of deferred consideration in respect of prior years’ acquisitions xxx xxx xxx
Net sale/(purchase) of financial assets investments (non-current) xxx xxx xxx
Net proceeds from financial assets investments (current) xxx xxx xxx
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities xxx xxx xxx
Net cash outflow before financing activities xxx xxx xxx
Cash flows from financing activities xxx xxx xxx
Finance costs paid xxx xxx xxx
Payment of capital element of obligations under finance lease contracts xxx xxx xxx
Cash received on sale and leasebacks xxx xxx xxx
New loans xxx xxx xxx
Repayment of borrowings xxx xxx xxx
Net cash inflow from financing activities xxx xxx xxx
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents xxx xxx xxx
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents xxx xxx xxx
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period xxx xxx xxx
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period xxx xxx xxx
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Figure 4: Pro-forma consolidated quarterly cash flow projections statement for the 
next two years on a rolling basis 
This quarterly cash flow statement is to meet the financeability requirements as set out in 
Section 3 of this document and is to be provided and updated on a quarterly basis. 

 

Consolidated quarterly cash flow projections statement

RMG  - ex 
POL

Actual Qtr 
(x)

Qtr (x + 1) Qtr (x + 2) Qtr (x + 3) Qtr (x + 4) Qtr (x + 5) Qtr (x + 6) Qtr (x + 7) Qtr (x + 8)

Operating profit before exceptional items xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Add back non cash costs
Depreciation xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Pension Charge xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Share of profit of joint venture and associates xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Operating earnings before non-cash costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Less cash outflows
Working capital and other non cash movements

Trade and other receivables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Cash and cash equivalents xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Other current assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Trade and other payables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Financial liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Provisions and other current liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Pension cash contribution
Ongoing xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Purchase of intangibles and fixed asset investments xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Purchases of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Cash flows from other investment activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating and investment activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Exceptional cash flow xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow after exceptional items and financing costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

RMG - ex POL
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Figure 5: Pro-forma income statement to EBIT  
This income statement is for the Reported Business and the four separated reporting entities 
as set out in Sections 5 and 6 of this document and is to be provided on an annual and 
quarterly basis. A statement of transfer charges shall be provided as part of the notes to this 
income statement setting out each major transfer charge separately as set out in Paragraphs 
A5.77 to A5.84 of this document together with any material items and changes. In addition 
the quarterly income statements should be reconciled to the annual statement with notes 
describing any material reconciliation differences. 

 

Income statement

USO Non USO
Total 

upstream
Downstream

Total excluding 
end-to-end 
competitive 

products

End-to-End 
competitive 

products

Total 
Reported 

Entity

External Revenues xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Internal Revenues (transfer charges) from upstream xx xx xx

Operating costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
People costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Net operating cost xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Transfer charges to downstream business xx xx xx xx

Operating profit before exceptional charges xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Operating exceptional items xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Modernisation costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Other xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Operating profit xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

EBIT as % of total revenues x% x% x% x% x% x% x%

Volumes xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
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Figure 6: Pro-forma extended end to end income statement to EBIT  
This extended end to end income statement is for the Reported Business and the four 
separated reporting entities as set out in Paragraph A4.10 of this document and is to be 
provided on an annual and quarterly basis. 

 

 

Income statement end to end

USO Mail
Non USO 

Mail
Non mail

Total 
Reported 

Entity
External Revenues xx xx xx xx

Operating costs xx xx xx xx
People costs xx xx xx xx
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments xx xx xx xx
Net operating cost xx xx xx xx

Operating profit before exceptional charges xx xx xx xx

Operating exceptional items xx xx xx xx
Modernisation costs xx xx xx xx
Other xx xx xx xx

Operating profit xx xx xx xx

EBIT as % of total revenues x% x% x% x%

Volumes xx xx xx xx
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Figure 7: Pro-forma reconcilliation of the  income statement to EBIT  
This reconciliation of the income statement is set out in  Paragraphs A5.85 to A5.88 of this 
document and is to be provided on an annual basis with notes to the reconciliation 
describing any material reconciliation differences. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Income Statement Reconciliation

Total 
Reported 

Entity

Other 
operations

UKLPI

Other units, 
elimination

s and 
recharges

RMG               
- ex POL

External Revenues xx xx xx xx xx

Operating costs xx xx xx xx xx
People costs xx xx xx xx xx
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments xx xx xx xx xx
Net operating cost xx xx xx xx xx

Operating profit before exceptional charges xx xx xx xx xx

Operating exceptional items xx xx xx xx xx
Modernisation costs xx xx xx xx xx
Other xx xx xx xx xx

Operating profit xx xx xx xx xx

Volumes xx xx xx xx xx
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Figure 8: Pro-forma of the  balance sheet statement  
This balance sheet statement is for the Reported Business and the four separated reporting 
entities as set out in Sections 5 and 6 of this document and is to be provided on an annual 
basis. A note to the regulatory financial statements should be provided, detailing the 
breakdown of the total fixed asset Net Book Value charged to each separated entity by main 
asset classes. In addition, Royal Mail shall disclose any material items and changes, in a 
note to these  financial statements. 

 

USO Non USO
Total 

upstream
Downstream

Total excluding 
end-to-end 
competitive 

products

End-to-End 
competitive 

products

Total Reported 
Entity

Assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Fixed assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Tangible assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Goodwill and Intangible assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Other non current assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Current assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Trade and other receivables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Cash and cash equivalents xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Other current assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Financial liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Provisions and other current liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Capital employed (Total assets less current liabilities) xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

ROCE xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
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Figure 9: Pro-forma reconcilliation of the  balance sheet  statement 
This reconciliation of the balance sheet statement is set out in paragraphs A5.131 to A5.133 
of this document and is to be provided on an annual basis with notes to the reconciliation 
describing any material reconciliation differences. These account shall also include 
explanatory notes regarding long term debt and financing costs 

 

Balance Sheet Reconciliation

Total 
Reported 

Entity

Other 
operations

UKLPI

Other units, 
eliminations 

and 
recharges

RMG                      
- ex POL

Assets xx xx xx xx xx

Fixed assets xx xx xx xx xx
Tangible assets xx xx xx xx xx
Goodwill and Intangible assets xx xx xx xx xx
Other non current assets xx xx xx xx xx

Current assets xx xx xx xx xx
Trade and other receivables xx xx xx xx xx
Cash and cash equivalents xx xx xx xx xx
Other current assets xx xx xx xx xx

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables xx xx xx xx xx
Financial liabilities xx xx xx xx xx
Provisions and other current liabilities xx xx xx xx xx

Capital employed (Total assets less current liabilities) xx xx xx xx xx

Non current liabilities
Financial liabilties xx
Provisions xx
Retirement benefit obligation – pension deficit xx
Other payables xx
Deferred tax liabilities xx

Total liabilities xx

Net liabilities xx

Total equity xx
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Figure 10: Pro-forma of the  cash flow statement  
This cash flow statement is for the Reported Business and the four separated reporting 
entities as set out in Sections 5 and 6 of this document and is to be provided on an annual 
basis. In addition, Royal Mail shall disclose any material items and changes, in a note to 
these financial statements. 

 

Cash flow

USO Non USO
Total 

upstream
Downstream

Total 
excluding 

end-to-end 
competitive 

products

End-to-End 
competitive 

products

Total 
Reported 

Entity

Operating profit before exceptional items xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Add back non cash costs
Depreciation xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Pension Charge xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Share of profit of joint venture and associates xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Operating earnings before non-cash costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Less cash outflows
Working capital and other non cash movements

Trade and other receivables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Cash and cash equivalents xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Other current assets xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Trade and other payables xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Financial liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Provisions and other current liabilities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Pension cash contribution
Ongoing xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Purchase of intangibles and fixed asset investments xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Purchases of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
Cash flows from other investment activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating and investment activities xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Exceptional cash flow xx xx xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow after exceptional items and financing costs xx xx xx xx xx xx xx
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Figure 11: Pro-forma reconcilliation of the  cash flow  statement  
This reconciliation of the cash flow statement is set out in Paragraphs A5.150 to A5.152 of 
this document and is to be provided on an annual basis with notes to the reconciliation 
describing any material reconciliation differences. 

. 

Cash Flow Reconciliation

Total 
Reported 

Entity

Other 
operations

UKLPI

Other units, 
eliminations 

and 
recharges

RMG                      
- ex POL

Operating profit before exceptional items xx xx xx xx xx

Add back non cash costs
Depreciation xx xx xx xx xx
Pension Charge xx xx xx xx xx
Share of profit of joint venture and associates xx xx xx xx xx

Operating earnings before non-cash costs xx xx xx xx xx

Less cash outflows
Working capital and other non cash movements

Trade and other receivables xx xx xx xx xx
Cash and cash equivalents xx xx xx xx xx
Other current assets xx xx xx xx xx
Trade and other payables xx xx xx xx xx
Financial liabilities xx xx xx xx xx
Provisions and other current liabilities xx xx xx xx xx

Pension cash contribution
Ongoing xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating activities xx xx xx xx xx
Purchase of intangibles and fixed asset investments xx xx xx xx xx
Purchases of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment xx xx xx xx xx
Cash flows from other investment activities xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow from operating and investment activities xx xx xx xx xx

Exceptional cash flow xx xx xx xx xx

Net cash outflow after exceptional items and financing costs xx xx xx xx xx
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Figure 12: Pro-forma Product Profitability Statement   
This product profitability statement is set out in Paragraph A4.12 of this document and is to 
be provided on an annual and quarterly basis. 

 

 

Product Profitability Statement - split by Line B

Product X
Upstream Downstream

External Revenues xx xx xx

Operating costs xx xx xx
People costs xx xx xx
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments xx xx xx
Net operating cost xx xx xx

Operating profit before exceptional charges xx xx xx

Operating exceptional items (FAC only) xx xx xx
Other xx xx xx

Operating profit xx xx xx

Volumes xx xx xx

Product Profitability Statement -  not split by Line B

End to end 
competitive 

product
External Revenues xx

Operating costs xx
People costs xx
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments xx
Net operating cost xx

Operating profit before exceptional charges xx

Operating exceptional items (FAC only) xx
Other xx

Operating profit xx

Volumes xx

Total 
Product X
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Section 8 

8 Glossary of Definitions  
Term Definition 

ABC Model Activity Based Costing Model. 
Accounting Methodology 
Manual 

Documentation of all the Accounting Methodology used 
by the Royal Mail to meet the requirements in this 
document except for the National Costing Methodology 
and Zonal Costing Methodology(documented in the 
Costing Manual). 

Accounting Methodology The methodology that enables Royal Mail to  
implementation the rules in this document for the 
production of the regulatory financial reports. 

Activity  Tasks (whether operational or non operational) which 
are required to be carried out in order to complete a 
relevant Business Process.  

Activity Cost  Total costs attributed to an Activity.  
Activity Drivers  Metrics which are used to assign Activity Costs to Sub-

products in accordance with National Costing Rule 9.  
Aggregate Costs  Has the meaning given to it by National Costing Rule 9. 
Avoidable First Class Costs  Has the meaning given to it by National Costing Rule 3.  
Avoidable Second Class Costs  Has the meaning given to it by National Costing Rule 3.  
Business Processes Operational Business Processes and Non-operational 

Business Processes. 
Business Units Royal Mail Group Limited is organised into business 

units, focused on providing clearly defined services. 
Business units do not produce statutory accounts unless 
they are separate legal entities, e.g. Post Office Ltd. 

Cost Centre The basic unit of responsibility in an organisation for 
which costs are accumulated. This could be a 
production or service location, function, activity or item 
of equipment. 

Cost Element Individual General Ledger account level detail, e.g. 
Basic Pay, Overtime, and National Insurance. 

Cost Type  Cost figures obtained after rearranging the relevant 
categories of costs recorded in Royal Mail’s financial 
records, including the General Ledger cost accounts of 
the Reported Business, including aggregating or 
separating some of those costs.  

Costing Manual  The document containing Royal Mail’s detailed 
description of the National Costing Methodology and the 
Zonal Costing Methodology and identifying all sources of 
data, and all supporting empirical data used for 
assumptions, used in these Methodologies. Part of the 
Costing Manual is published. 

Condition USP accounting condition. 
Downstream services entity Has the meaning given to it as defined in Section 4 of 

the RAG 
EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Tax.  
End-to- end only products Has the meaning given to it as defined in Section 4 of 
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entity the RAG 
EPMU  Equi-Proportional Mark-Up (‘EPMU’) which has the 

meaning given to it in Guideline 11. 
FAC  Fully Allocated Costs which is the basis of the National 

Costing Methodology used in the Reported Business for 
product costing for regulatory financial reporting 
purposes. 

General Ledger  The SAP R3 General Ledger system used by Royal Mail  
the National Costing Methodology in the Reported 
Business. 

General Overheads  Has the meaning given to it by National Costing 
Guideline 9. 

International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’)  

International Financial Reporting Standards established 
and published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.  

iRED iRed Partnership Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Royal Mail Group providing document processing 
services. 

Line A A specific line of accounting separation within the 
Reported Business separating products competing with 
other operators’ products which do not require the 
benefit of access to Royal Mail‘s integrated core 
universal service network to ensure effective competition 
and the efficient provision of the universal service, from 
those that do, excluding any universal service products.         

Line B A specific line of accounting separation within the 
Reported Business separating downstream from 
upstream services, at the point of entry to the Inward 
Mail Centre, for those which are not separated by Line A 
above. 

Line C A specific line of accounting separation within the 
Reported Business  within the upstream accounting 
entity defined by Line B separating universal service 
products from non-universal service products. 

MCS Mails Characteristics Survey. 
National Costing Rules The requirements of the RAG in relation to the National 

Costing Methodology used for regulatory financial 
reporting.  
 

National Costing Methodology  The rules, procedures, methods, algorithms, 
assumptions and other processes used by Royal Mail 
for the purpose of assigning the costs of the Reported 
Business, which it incurs in the conduct of its business, 
without geographic differentiation in the UK to the 
products it provides in the course of that business, 
wherever those rules, procedures, methods, algorithms, 
assumptions and other processes may be set out. 

NBV Net Book Value. 
Non-USO products entity Has the meaning given to it as defined in Section 4 of 

the RAG 
Ofcom Office of Communications (UK). 
Overheads  Costs belonging to either General Overheads or Pipeline 

Overheads.  
PFW Parcelforce Worldwide is the express parcels subsidiary 
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of Royal Mail Group Limited. 
Pipeline Overheads  Has the meaning given to it by National Costing 

Guideline 9. 
Post Office Limited (‘POL’) A separately financed subsidiary of Royal Mail Group 

Limited. 
Product  A service provided by Royal Mail under a scheme made 

under a scheme made under section 89 of the Postal 
Services Act 2000, or under a contract for the 
conveyance of mail or any service similar, ancillary or 
otherwise related to such a service.  

RAG Regulatory Accounting Guidelines. 
Regulatory financial reports The financial reports produced for Ofcom by Royal Mail 

in relation to the RAG; they include both the regulatory 
financial statements and additional financial reports 
produced by the Royal Mail as per the guidance in the 
RAG. 

Regulatory financial 
statements 

The income statements, balance sheet statements and 
cash flow statements produced by Royal Mail as per the 
guidance in the RAG. 

Reported Business The activities and services the attributable costs of 
which are included in the National Costing Methodology. 

Resource Drivers Drivers which are used to attribute Cost Types to 
Activities and determined in accordance the National 
Costing Rules. 

Royal Mail Royal Mail Group Limited, the Universal Service 
Provider to which the UPS Accounting Condition 
requiring the use of this RAG for regulatory financial 
reporting purposes applies. 

Royal Mail Investments Limited Royal Mail Investments Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Royal Mail 

RME Royal Mail Estates Limited, a subsidiary of Royal Mail 
Group Limited responsible for leasing property to Royal 
Mail Group Limited. 

RMG ex-POL Royal Mail Group Ltd, excluding the subsidiary Post 
Office Limited for the purposes of this document. 

RMH Royal Mail Holdings plc the parent of Royal Mail Group 
Limited. 

SPHCC Sales Product Handling Characteristic Combinations, 
products sub-divided based on the relevant measured 
characteristics (e.g. class, payment type, item size and 
handling method). 

Strategic Business Plan Royal Mail Group’s strategic business plan for 2011-12 
to 2016-17 that sets out its five year vision and which 
should include forecast operating and capital 
expenditure, expectations of changes in the postal 
market, details of business plan initiatives (such as 
projects to improve efficiency) and Royal Mail’s view on 
appropriate quality of service targets. 

Sub-products  Products sub-divided based on the relevant measured 
characteristics.  

USO products entity Has the meaning given to it as defined in Section 4 of 
the RAG 

USP Universal Service Provider. 
Weighting Factors  Factors representing the relative proportions of 
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resources that units of each sub-Product require from 
the related Activity and determined in accordance with 
the National Costing Rules. 

Weighted Volume Drivers Has the meaning given to it by National Costing Rule10. 
Zonal Costing Methodology The rules, procedures, methods, algorithms, 

assumptions and other processes used by Royal Mail 
for the purpose of assigning the costs of the Reported 
Business, which it incurs in the conduct of its business, 
to the products subject to regulation under the Postal 
Services Act 2011where it sets geographically 
differentiated prices, wherever those rules, procedures, 
methods, algorithms, assumptions and other processes 
identify cost differentials between specific zones defined 
by Royal Mail in accordance with its obligations. 

Zonal Costing Rules The requirements of the RAG in relation to the Zonal 
Costing Methodology used for regulatory financial 
reporting.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



The Draft Accounting Condition and Regulatory Guidelines Content 

60 
 

Section 9 

9 Appendix 1 
Product Accounting Separation 

A9.1 This Appendix to the RAG sets out how by applying the definitions of Lines A, B and 
C defined in Paragraphs A4.7 and A4.8 of this document, the products provided by 
Royal Mail in the 2010-11 financial year would be allocated across Lines A, B and 
C, and to the four regulatory financial reporting entities within the Reported 
Business. 

A9.2 The table below (see “Table 4”) sets out the Royal Mail products allocated across 
Lines A, B and C for 2010-11. In order to allocate Royal Mail’s products in 2012-13 
and future financial years, the definitions of Line A, B and C shall be applied to 
allocate Royal Mail’s products in a manner consistent with the allocations as 
defined in Paragraphs A4.7 and A4.8 of this document. In applying these separation 
guidelines, any changes that are material should be notified to Ofcom using the 
definition of materiality in Section 2 of this document and using the proforma for 
notification of material changes to the Accounting Methodology as set out in 
Paragraph  A5.4 of this document. 
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 Table 4: Product Allocations Along Accounting Separation Lines   

 

 

Product allocations along A/C separation lines based on products as at 2010-11 year-end

Line C Line A

Also separated at IMC entry point by Line B Also separated at IMC entry point by Line B

USO products (& Downstream services) Non-USO products (& Downstream services) End to end competitive products RML's non-Mails products and services

Stamp 1c/2c Cleanmail Packetpost (> 2kg) Relay
Meter 1c/2c Cleanmail Plus Packetsort (> 2kg) Sameday
PPI (inc ASTLL ) 1c/2c (Single piece) Cleanmail Advanced Packetsort Plus (> 2kg) Deliver & Build
Special Delivery Next Day (Stamp & Meter) Mailsort 1400 1c/2c Bespoke Packetsort (> 2kg) External Warehousing
Pre paid stationary 1c/2c Mailsort 1400 3c RM Tracked (> 2kg) Internal Warehousing
Recorded Delivery Mailsort 700 RM Heavyweight (> 2kg) Pallets
Proof of Delivery Mailsort 120 Special Delivery (All exc. for products in Box 1) Royal Mail Parts Express (inc Call & collect)
Franking Machine Resetting Mailsort 70 International bulk mail Linehaul
Railway Letter Service Walksort Door-to-Door Address Management Centre Products (AMC)
Perishable Bilogical Substances Presstream (inc. Premium, Walksort, Direct & Residue) British Gas Boxes
Local Collect Packetpost (< 2kg) LS Projects
Certificate of Posting Packetsort (< 2kg) Inward Customs Clearance Fees
Petitions to Queen/Parliament Packetsort Plus (< 2kg) Postbuses
Poste Restante Bespoke Packetsort (< 2kg) Postmark Slogans
RLB Postings (Belfast) Access Consultancy & Agency Work (BPCS)
Special Appeals/Charities DSA Physical to Electronic
Unofficial Redirections RM Tracked (< 2kg) Import Parcels
Surcharges (Social) Tracked Signature High Volume Know How Guide
Aerogrammes (prepaid) Tracked High Volume Sale of Post Boxes
Aircard RM Heavyweight (exc. pkts > 2kg) Rental of Post Boxes
Airmail & Surface (Letters, Postcards, Printed Papers, & 
Small Packets)

Sample Return Services Data Services

Airpacks (Business) Close UserGroup Spring Recharge
Articles for the Blind - Air/Surface Flatsort Simply Drop
Consumer Airpacks Delivery Notification Stamps & Collectibles
International Signed for Big Book All intragroup income
International Signed for Plus Freepost Name Branch Direct
International recorded Response Services Dummy costs
Inward Air & Surface (Letters, Flats, Packets, Bags < 
5kg & > 5kg, Insured/Registered, & PTT Access)

Postal Voting Mailshots online

Inward Air Express Citystream
Inward Air Any Unsorted BT Telemessaging Service
Inward Surface Unsorted Call and Collect
Inward Returns EDIPOST
USO Parcels Electronic Service Postage

Business Collections
Bespokes
Callers Service
Calling for Priority Mail
Franked Paid Surcharge
Keepsafe Social
Ministerial Pouch Services
Newspaper Registration Fee
Floor Fees
Pouch Services
Retention of Mail (Business Retention only)
Rural Carriage of Goods
Rural Newspaper Delivery Service
Rural Roadside Locked Private Letter Boxes
Selectapost
Timed Delivery
Miscellaneous Services
Courier Service (Bespoke)
Start Time Standard Service
Office to Home Service
Safebox      
Pre Sorted Delivery  
Early Extraction   
Early Collect                                                                                    
Business Mail Secure                   
Sales related fees                         
Mailrooms        
Articles for the Blind 
Royal Household Mail
Santa Mail
Election Postings
Surcharges (Business)
Private Boxes
Diversion (Delivery at Another Address)
Redirection
Do Not Redirect
British Forces Mail (Outward & Inward)
Application of Indicia       
Docket Completion       
International Admail      
IBRS Import           
International (All products except bulk mail, Signed for, 
and Signed for Plus)
Swiftair
Swiftpacks
Airsure
Transits
ADEC
IBRS Exports
Direct Entry - Import
Three Islands (including special delivery)
Spring (exc. Recharge)
Miscellaneous Income
Admail
Large Mail Order Returns
MailMedia
POL Collect
COP Extraction
Census - Bespoke
Advertising mail

Require access to Royal Mail's core US network Not require access to Royal Mail's core US network
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Section 10 

10 Appendix 2 
Material Change Pro-forma 

A10.1 As set out in Paragraph A5.4 of this document Royal Mail is required to notify 
Ofcom in advance of any material change to the Accounting Methodology. A 
material change is defined in Section 2 of this document. This appendix sets out the 
information to be provided by the Royal Mail for such a material change. 

A10.2 Royal Mail shall provide information to Ofcom for each separate change that is 
material in a format that is clear and transparent.  

A10.3 The following criteria and proformas should be used as a guide for the provision of 
material changes to Ofcom. If these criteria are not suitable for the material change 
in question then Royal Mail shall use best endeavours to provide the information to 
Ofcom in a clear and transparent manner that is fit for purpose using these criteria 
as a guide to the information required.  

A10.4 The criteria for providing this information are: 

i) The description of the change in a manner easily understood by a reader who 
does not have a detailed technical knowledge of Royal Mail operations or costing 
systems (i.e. avoiding acronyms and technical jargon as far as is reasonable). 
Where relevant diagrammatic and graphical representations of the scope and 
nature of the change should be provided. 

ii) The date the change will be effective from and the next set of regulatory financial 
information sent to Ofcom that will be affected. 

iii) The reasons for the change, making it clear when the new information that lead 
to the change came about, the financial information that it applies to and if it 
affects prior periods. 

iv) Demonstrate how this change is in accordance with the RAG or how the changed 
methodology continues to be in accordance with the RAG 

v) Impact of the change showing all items affected (activity costs, product costs 
and/or regulatory accounts items as provided to Ofcom). For material effects it 
should clearly set out (see “Table 5” below) the characteristics and value of the 
item before the change and the characteristics and value of the item after the 
change using the last set of relevant regulatory information as supplied to Ofcom. 
This should also include the relevant items affected in the separated regulatory 
accounts (income statement, balance sheet statement and Cash Flow Statement) 
and show the impact on these reported items before and after the change (see 
“Table 6” below). 
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Table 5: Proforma to be completed for material changes to the Accounting 
Methodology 
 

Description of change: 

Date change effective from: 
Area of the costing system affected (as relevant – use diagrammatic representation where possible) 
Area of the pipeline affected (as relevant – use diagrammatic representation where possible) 
Reasons for change (including available options considered): 

Compliance with the RAG: 

Costing System: 
  (a) (b) (c) (c) / (a)  
Items affected   Value before 

change 
Value after 
change 

Difference % 
difference 

Comments 

Activity x cost   Total      
 USO product      
 Access product      
 Non-USO (remainder)      
       
Product x cost Total      
 USO product      
 Access product      
 Non-USO (remainder)      
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Table 6: Proforma to be completed for material changes to the separated regulatory 
accounts 
 

Income Statement material changes  
 (a) (b) (c) (c) / (a)  
Reported Item Value before 

change 
Value after 
change 

Difference % difference Comments 

Item 1      
Item 2      
….      
Item x      
 

Balance Sheet  Statement material changes  
 (a) (b) (c) (c) / (a)  
Reported Item Value before 

change 
Value after 
change 

Difference % difference Comments 

Item 1      
Item 2      
….      
Item x      
 

Cash Flow  Statement material changes  
 (a) (b) (c) (c) / (a)  
Reported Item Value before 

change 
Value after 
change 

Difference % difference Comments 

Item 1      
Item 2      
….      
Item x      
 

Notes to the accounts: material changes 
Reported Item Notes 
Item 1  
Item 2  
….  
Item x  

 


